Public Document Pack

Agenda
Contact Officer: Paul Bateman, Democratic Services Officer
Tel: 07895 213740
E-mail: paul.bateman@southandvale.gov.uk
Date: 14 February 2022
Website: www.southoxon.gov.uk

A MEETING OF THE

Planning Committee
WILL BE HELD ON TUESDAY 22 FEBRUARY 2022 AT 6.00 PM
FIRST FLOOR MEETING SPACE, 135 EASTERN AVENUE, MILTON PARK,
OX14 4SB
You can watch this meeting via this weblink:
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCTj2pCic8vzucpzIaSWE3UQ
If you are attending in person you will need to bring a portable device, such as a
laptop or tablet to listen to and watch the meeting. You will also need to bring a
headset/headphones.

Members of the Committee:
David Bretherton (Chair)
Peter Dragonetti (ViceChair)
Ken Arlett
Tim Bearder
Victoria Haval

Elizabeth Gillespie
Lorraine Hillier
Axel Macdonald
Jo Robb

Ian Snowdon
Alan Thompson

Alexandrine Kantor
Mocky Khan
Jane Murphy
Caroline Newton

Sue Roberts
David Turner
Kellie Hinton

Substitutes
vacancy
Celia Wilson
Sam Casey-Rerhaye
Stefan Gawrysiak

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request. These include
large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read. For this or any other special
requirements (such as access facilities) please contact the officer named on
this agenda. Please give as much notice as possible before the meeting.
Patrick Arran
Head of Legal and Democratic
1

1

Chair's announcements

To receive any announcements from the chair and general housekeeping matters.
2

Apologies for absence

To record apologies for absence and the attendance of substitute members.
3

Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 7 - 16)

To adopt and sign as a correct record the Planning Committee minutes of the meeting
held on Wednesday 12 January 2021.
4

Declarations of interest

To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in respect of items on
the agenda for this meeting.
5

Urgent business

To receive notification of any matters which the chair determines should be considered
as urgent business and the special circumstances which have made the matters
urgent and to receive any notification of any applications deferred or withdrawn.
6

Proposals for site visits

7

Public participation

To receive any statements from members of the public that have registered to speak
on planning applications which are being presented to this committee meeting.

Development control applications
Planning applications - background papers and additional
information
All the background papers with the exception of those papers marked
exempt/confidential (eg those held in enforcement files) used in the reports in this
agenda are held in the application file (working file) referenced by the application
number.
Any additional information received following the publication of this agenda will be
reported and summarised at the meeting.

Summary index of applications

2

Site Address

Proposal

8

Kingsley
House,
Crowsley
Road, Lower
Shiplake, RG9
3LU

Outline application for refurbishment, P21/S1389/O
extension and alteration of Kingsley
House from 4 Flats to up to 8 Flats
incorporating access matters with all
other matters reserved (block, site
and site access plans revised on
arboricultural grounds received 21st
May 2021 and corrected by plans
received 7th June 2021 and footprint
of Firs Lodge corrected and details
of parking, bin storage and extension
proposals removed as shown on
amended plans received 24th June
2021 and revised site location plan
showing other land in applicant's
ownership received 6th January
2022).

9

76 High Street,
Wallingford,
OX10 0BX

Removal of condition 5 (building to
be used only for the purposes
specified in the application) on
planning application P75/W0446.
(Internal alterations providing
kitchen, dining areas & new
toilet/bathroom areas. Change of
use to restaurant.)

10

Land East of
Reading Road,
Lower Shiplake

Application for approval of Reserved P21/S4102/RM
Matters (scale, appearance, layout
and landscaping) following consent
granted under reference
P18/S3210/O (approved under
appeal reference
APP/Q3115/W/19/3220425) - extra
care development of up to 65 units
comprising of apartments and
cottages (Use Class C2); associated
communal facilities; provision of
vehicular and cycle parking together
with all necessary internal roads and
footpaths; provision of open space
and associated landscape works;
and ancillary works and structures.
(As amended by revised landscaping
plans received on 3 February 2022)

11

Land at Crowell
Road, Chinnor

Outline application (with all matters
reserved except Layout and
Access), for the erection of up to 54

Application No

P21/S4342/FUL

P21/S0804/O

Page

17 - 26

27 - 36

37 - 82

83 110
3

age restricted dwellings (for people
aged 55 and over), including 40%
affordable housing and communal
facilities, on land to the north of
Crowell Road, Chinnor. New
vehicular access to be created off
Crowell Road, along with the
retention of the existing pedestrian
access to Oakley Road to the North.
(Additional information received 31
March 2021 and 6 June 2021 and 29
October 2021 and 10 December
2021)

4

5

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 3

Minutes
of a meeting of the

Planning Committee
held on Wednesday, 12 January 2022
at 6.00 pm in First Floor Meeting
Space, 135 Eastern Avenue, Milton
Park, OX14 4SB
Open to the public, including the press
Present in the meeting room:
Councillors: David Bretherton (Chair), Peter Dragonetti (Vice-Chair), Ken Arlett, Tim
Bearder, Victoria Haval, Elizabeth Gillespie, Lorraine Hillier, Axel Macdonald, Jo Robb,
Ian Snowdon and Alan Thompson
Officers: Paul Bateman and Paula Fox
Guests: Councillors David Turner and Councillor Ian White

Remote attendance:
Councillors: Kate Gregory, Lynn Lloyd and Caroline Newton
Officers: Nat Bamsey, Paul Bowers, Lilua Iheozor-Ejiofor, Kim Gould and Caitlin
Phillpotts, Susie Royse, Emily Tucker and Tom Wyatt

49

Chair's announcements
The chair welcomed everyone to the meeting, outlined the procedure to be followed in
an in-person meeting which was simultaneously broadcast and advised on emergency
evacuation arrangements.

50

Minutes of the previous meetings
The minutes of the meetings of the committee held on Wednesday 27 October 2021
and Wednesday 3 November 2021 were agreed to be the correct record of the
meetings. It was agreed that the chair sign them as such.

51

Declarations of interest
There were no declarations of interest.

52

Urgent business
There was no urgent business.
Vale of White Horse District Council - Planning Committee - Wednesday, 12 January 2022

Page 7

53

Proposals for site visits
There were no proposals for site visits.

54

Public participation
The list showing members of the public who had registered to speak was tabled at the
meeting. Statements which had been received had been sent to the committee prior to
the meeting.

55

P21/S1638/FUL - Land to the rear of 60-66 High Street, Chalgrove
The committee considered planning application P21/S1638/FUL for the demolition of
garage block, erection of a pair of single storey 2-bed dwellings, as amplified by SAP
information received on 14 June 2021, as amplified by drainage strategy and flood risk
assessment received 10 August 2021 on land to the rear of 60-66 High Street,
Chalgrove.
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history
were detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the
meeting. The planning officer reported that since the publication of the agenda,
Chalgrove Parish Council had withdrawn its objection to the application. A letter from
the parish council dated Friday 7 January 2022 had been sent to the committee on
Monday 10 January 2022 by the democratic services officer.
The planning officer reported that this application related to the demolition of eight
garages behind the parade of shops and the construction of two single storey
dwellings. The planning officer summarised the objections which had been made to
the application, which included issues of overdevelopment, inappropriate access and
lack of parking, proximity to existing gardens, loss of gardens to the flats, and
residential amenity, including garden sizes.
The planning officer also reported that the applicant was advised at pre application
stage that a single storey development would assist in avoiding any direct overlooking
to neighbours. The applicant had acknowledged this and had submitted a scheme
which was single storey in design.
Both properties had garden sizes which exceeded the council’s standard of 50 square
metres for a 2-bed dwelling. House 1 had a rear garden of 51 square metres, whilst
house 2 had a garden of 77 square metres. As such, the proposal provided adequate
private amenity space to accord with the South Oxfordshire design guide’s standards
and policy DES5 of the South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP).
The planning officer advised the committee that the access arrangements to the
proposed development had been carefully examined and that the Oxfordshire County
Council, the highways authority, had no objection. The pre-existing bin collection
arrangements would continue.
The design guide stated that a 10 metre gap should exist between the rear of a
property and the rear boundary. For this proposal, the distance was 4.5 metres. The
proposed dwellings, however, would be limited to a single storey, with a maximum
Vale of White Horse District Council - Planning Committee - Wednesday, 12 January 2022

Page 8

modest ridge height of 4 metres. As such, the proposed dwellings would not appear to
be visually intrusive or overbearing. The planning officer also reported that in the
interests of good neighbourliness, the boundaries of the proposal prior to first
occupation would be carefully considered; a scheme for the provision of boundary
treatment would be included as an additional proposed planning condition.
The planning officer reported on possible flood risk to the development. The site was
situated in flood zones 1, 2 and 3. The council’s drainage engineer had initially lodged
a holding objection to this proposal on the grounds that a flood risk assessment (FRA)
was required, due to the site’s location within flood zones 2 and 3. An FRA was
subsequently submitted, and the council’s drainage engineer had raised no objection
to the proposal on drainage grounds. He had confirmed that the information submitted
demonstrated that an emergency vehicle could access the site into flood zone 1 and
that a feasible surface water drainage strategy had been demonstrated. The drainage
engineer no longer raised an objection to the proposal on flooding grounds.
The planning officer reported on biodiversity aspects of the proposed development.
The agent had submitted a biodiversity statement which demonstrated that there
would be a net gain of 14 square metres of green space as a result of the proposal.
The council’s countryside officer had considered the applicant’s biodiversity statement.
That officer had advised that compliance with council policy ENV3 (biodiversity) could
be secured with the delivery of the two bird boxes, two bat boxes and insect bricks.
Mr. Richard Thomas, the applicant, spoke in support of the application.
Councillor David Turner, the local ward councillor, spoke objecting to the application.
Planning officers considered that the redevelopment of this site by the removal of the
garages and the incorporation of the neglected garden area into functioning rear
gardens would enhance the character and visual amenity of the area and would not
detract from the established character of the area.
A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on
being put to the vote.
RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P21/S1638/FUL subject to
the following conditions:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.
11.

Commencement three years - Full Planning Permission
Approved plans
Materials as on plan
Withdrawal of Permitted Development rights (Part 1 Class A) - no extensions
etc.
Withdrawal of Permitted Development rights (Part 1 Class E) - no buildings etc.
Energy Statement Verification
Parking & Manoeuvring Areas Retained
Cycle Parking (approved plans)
Surface Water Drainage
Electrical vehicles charging point
Compliance condition ecology

Additional condition on boundary treatment;

Vale of White Horse District Council - Planning Committee - Wednesday, 12 January 2022

Page 9

‘Prior to the construction of any development above slab level a scheme for the
provision of boundary treatment shall be submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall be implemented prior to the first
occupation or use of development and thereafter be maintained in accordance with
the approved scheme unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.’

56 P21/S2860/FUL - Land between The Plough House and Frogmore,
Stadhampton Road, Little Milton
The committee considered planning application P21/S2860/FUL for a replacement
access (as amended by updated description on the 20th of October 2021 and
amended plans on the 25th of November 2021) on land between The Plough House
and Frogmore, Stadhampton Road, Little Milton.
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history
were detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the
meeting.
The planning officer reported that the proposal required no additional works apart from
cutting back vegetation by the roadside, including some orchids. The committee was
concerned at the potential loss of the orchids and the planning officer informed
members that the council’s ecology officer had been consulted, who advised that the
landowner was empowered to remove these flowers at any time and that it was not
reasonable of the council to impose a planning condition about this issue. Also, the
loss of the section of hedgerow would result in a loss of biodiversity, as hedgerows
provided a habitat and food that supported a number of species. However, this loss
would be mitigated through requiring a hedge to be planted across the existing
access, which would ensure there was no net loss of biodiversity from the
development.
The committee was informed that the development was considered to cause a low
level of less than substantial harm to the setting of nearby Plough House, and the
character and appearance of the conservation area. In accordance with paragraph
202 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and council policies ENV7 and
ENV8, for the development to accord with these policies, this harm should be
outweighed by public benefits of the development.
The committee noted the extensive planning history to the site, dating back to 1982.
The previous decisions relating to the site were material to the assessment of this
application by officers, but the planning officer advised that these decisions, or the
applicant’s apparent intentions, could not be a factor in the committee’s determination
on this application. An application for a dwelling would have to be the subject of a
separate application.
Councillor Caroline Newton, the local ward councillor, spoke objecting to the
application.
The committee concluded that there were no planning grounds for a refusal of
planning permission, but that steps should be taken to protect the orchids via an
informative.

Vale of White Horse District Council - Planning Committee - Wednesday, 12 January 2022

Page 10

A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on
being put to the vote.
RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P21/S2860/FUL subject to
the following conditions:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.

Commencement three years - Full Planning Permission
Approved plans.
New vehicular access.
New hedge required.
Close existing access.
Access and Vision Splays.
Vision splay protection.

Informative regarding works within the highway.
Additional informative regarding preservation of orchids.

57 P20/S3379/FUL and P21/S2504/LB - Three Horseshoes, Chinnor
Road, Towersey
The committee considered planning applications P20/S3379/FUL and P21/S2504/LB
in respect of Three Horseshoes, Chinnor Road, Towersey, namely;
Application P20/S3379/FUL; conversion of outbuilding to a dwelling utilising existing
access, with associated landscaping and parking (as per amended plans and
supporting information submitted 3 November 2020) (as per additional and amended
drainage details submitted 8 December 2020)
Application P21/S2504/LB; change of use of existing outbuilding (Sui Generis) to
provide one dwelling (Use Class C3) utilising existing access, with associated
landscaping and parking (as per amended plans showing the removal all rooflights
and the relocation of the internal doorway which connects the main barn to the smaller
outbuilding, submitted 9 August 2021), (as per amended plans to include the provision
of two times small domestic outbuildings and patio area, submitted 6 September
2021), (as per flood resilience strategy and updated heritage statement submitted 23
November 2021).
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history
were detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the
meeting.
The planning officer reported that this application had been brought before the
committee at the development manager’s discretion owing the level of public interest
that it had attracted and in consultation with Councillor Ian White, a local ward
member.
The planning officer reported that the application site was located within the built-up
limits of Towersey and inside the Towersey conservation area. The committee noted
that the site did not lie inside any flood zones, but due to the flat topography across
the site and the presence of an existing watercourse, it was at significant risk of
flooding from surface water (fluvial flooding). The committee noted slide photographs
Vale of White Horse District Council - Planning Committee - Wednesday, 12 January 2022

Page 11

of the site under recent flood conditions. The planning officer reported that the risk of
flooding remained low.
The planning officer reported that the application was in keeping with the local plan
and acceptable in principle. The barn had existing and historic uses but in council
planning officers’ considerations this evidence did not justify a listing as a community
asset. The public house was protected under policy CF 1 (safeguarding community
facilities) of the local plan. The development would not affect the ongoing operation of
the public house and planning officers considered that the development would not
result in loss of community facilities, particularly because of the existence of the
nearby well-equipped Towersey Memorial Hall. Two thirds of the existing garden area
would be retained in the development and the green open space to the front of the plot
would be largely retained. Also, the employment use of the site would be retained. The
planning officer also reported that a housing unit would be welcome in this area of
high demand. The vitality and viability of the area would not be affected by the
proposal. The conservation officer considered that all mitigation possible to convert
this barn to residential use had been undertaken and that this scheme represented the
least harmful means of converting the barn to residential use. Additionally, the officer
considered that the removal of the modern non-hydroscopic building materials across
the building and their replacement with appropriate heritage materials, the addition of
appropriate flood resilience measures, which would ensure the protection of the listed
building, were all satisfactory. On balance, the conservation mitigation outweighed the
low level of less than substantial harm to the listed building.
Councillor Mark Davis, a representative of Towersey Parish Council, spoke objecting
to the application.
Mr. Jeremy Clark, a local resident, spoke objecting to the application.
Councillor Ian White, a local ward councillor, spoke objecting to the application.
Mr. Jake Russell, the agent, spoke in support of the application.
A statement by Mr Chris Neale was sent to the committee by the democratic services
officer prior to the meeting.
A statement by Mr. Hugh Riley was sent to the committee by the democratic services
officer prior to the meeting.
A statement by Mr. Tim Shreeve was sent to the committee by the democratic
services officer prior to the meeting.
The committee considered that the local interest in this application was a persuasive
signifier of its importance to residents. In the committee’s view, the proposal would
represent the loss of a valued community asset and would be inappropriate to the
local area. Also, the setting of a residential unit at the centre of public house facilities
was unsuitable. For these reasons the committee was not minded to grant planning
permission or permit listed building consent.
A motion moved and seconded, to refuse planning permission was declared carried
on being put to the vote.

Vale of White Horse District Council - Planning Committee - Wednesday, 12 January 2022

Page 12

RESOLVED: to refuse planning permission for application P20/S3379/FUL for the
following reasons:
1. Loss of a valued community facility.
2. Affect upon the viability and vitality of the public house.
3. Harm upon a local heritage asset is not outweighed by the perceived public
benefit.
4. The development would be detrimental to future residents.
A motion moved and seconded, to refuse listed building consent was declared carried
on being put to the vote.
RESOLVED: to refuse listed building consent for application P21/S2504/LB for the
following reasons:
1. The proposed works would represent harm to a local heritage asset.

58

P21/S4226/HH - 3 King's Road, Thame
The committee considered application P21/S4226/HH for a single storey extension to
rear of property and new wall to part of boundary at 3 King's Road, Thame.
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history
were detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the
meeting.
The planning officer reported that in council officers’ views the proposals was in
keeping with the local character of the site. The application had received comments
from neighbours, but no objections. The planning officer also reported that Thame
Town Council had objected to the application on the basis that the proposed wall on
the south-eastern elevation would represent overdevelopment and would be contrary
to Thame Neighbourhood Plan policies. The committee noted the planning officer’s
advice in paragraph 6.10 of the report, that in taking into account the length of the wall
proposed being approximately one third of the existing boundary fence, officers did not
consider that this wall amounted to overdevelopment. The use of bricks to match the
existing dwelling would further integrate the development into the existing dwelling and
the site and would improve the visual appearance of the dwelling and the wider area.
The planning officer reported that permitted development rights had not been removed
from the site, which could permit the enlargement, improvement or alteration of the
property. It would be possible for the applicant to erect a rear extension of up to 3
metres high and deep along the concerned boundary, without the need for planning
permission. This would be considerably shorter in length than proposed wall, however,
it could be higher than the 2.75 metres proposed.
Councillor Kate Gregory, a local ward councillor, spoke objecting to the application.
The committee considered that the planning application complied with national
guidance and local policy and that the proposed development would not be harmful to
the character and appearance of the site, the surrounding area, or the amenity of
neighbours. Therefore, planning permission should be granted.

Vale of White Horse District Council - Planning Committee - Wednesday, 12 January 2022

Page 13

A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on
being put to the vote.
RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application P21/S4226/HH subject to
the following conditions:
1. Commencement of development within three years.
2. Development in accordance with the approved plans.
3. Materials as on plan.

59

P21/S4280/HH - Yew Tree House, The Street, Ewelme
The committee considered planning application P21/S4280/HH for an extension and
remodelling works at Yew Tree House, the Street, Ewelme.
Consultations, representations, policy and guidance, and the site’s planning history
were detailed in the officer’s report, which formed part of the agenda pack for the
meeting.
The planning officer reported that this application had been referred to the committee
as the property was in the ownership of a district councillor. Since the publication of
the agenda, the Ewelme Parish Council had confirmed that it had no objection to the
application. The planning officer also reported the site was located in the Ewelme
Conservation area and the Chilterns Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB). The
proposal involved the building of a single storey extension, a recladding of the dwelling
in vertical natural timber, the installation of a balcony and the erection of a new
replacement, detached garage. Planning officers considered that the proposed
balcony was modest and not overlooking neighbouring properties. The proposed
garage would replace an existing structure and would be larger than the current
building, but in the planning officer’s view a number of factors would ensure that the
application would not result in a materially harmful overbearing or oppressive impact
to any nearby property, namely its distance from adjoining properties, the extension
being limited to single storey height and the fact that the garage would be located in
the same position.
The council's tree officer had considered the impact of the development, and in
particular the replacement garage structure upon adjacent trees. Given the garage
building would be located in the same position as the existing structure and the
extension of the house would be at a greater distance from the trees, it was confirmed
that there would be no objection to the proposals, subject to a condition that required
the protection of the trees during the construction period.
The committee were of the view that the proposed extension and alterations to the
house were in keeping with the character of the area and would improve the
appearance of the building in the context of the conservation area and the AONB. The
proposed garage was limited in overall height and did not give rise to a significantly
greater impact on the wider area or on nearby trees than the existing garage.
A motion moved and seconded, to grant planning permission was declared carried on
being put to the vote.
RESOLVED: to grant planning permission for application 21/S4280/HH subject to the
following conditions:
Vale of White Horse District Council - Planning Committee - Wednesday, 12 January 2022

Page 14

Standard conditions
1. Commencement three years - Full Planning Permission
2. Approved plans
Pre-commencement conditions
3. Watercourse protection strategy
4. Tree protection
Prior to occupation conditions
5. Parking & Manoeuvring Areas Retained
6. External lighting
Compliance conditions
7. Cladding to be natural in colour
8. Materials as on plan
9. No garage conversion into accommodation

The meeting closed at 8.15 pm

Vale of White Horse District Council - Planning Committee - Wednesday, 12 January 2022

Page 15

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
South Oxfordshire District Council – Plannin Committee – 22 February 2022

APPLICATION NO.
APPLICATION TYPE
REGISTERED
PARISH
WARD MEMBERS
APPLICANT
SITE
PROPOSAL

OFFICER

P21/S1389/O
OUTLINE
22.3.2021
SHIPLAKE
Leigh Rawlins & David Bartholomew
Mr & Mrs Stewart
Kingsley House, Crowsley Road, Lower Shiplake,
RG9 3LU
Outline application for refurbishment, extension and
alteration of Kingsley House from 4 Flats to up to 8
Flats incorporating access matters with all other
matters reserved (block, site and site access plans
revised on arboricultural grounds received 21st May
2021 and corrected by plans received 7th June 2021
and footprint of Firs Lodge corrected and details of
parking, bin storage and extension proposals
removed as shown on amended plans received 24th
June 2021).
Paul Lucas

1.0
1.1

INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL
This report sets out the justification for officers’ recommendation to grant outline
planning permission having regard to the development plan and any other material
planning considerations. The application is referred to the planning committee due to
a difference between officers’ recommendation and the views of Shiplake Parish
Council.

1.2

The application site is shown at Appendix A. It comprises a residential plot at the
southern edge of Lower Shiplake containing a large brick and tile dwelling that has
been converted into four flats. Access is taken from Crowsley Road via a 150-metrelong private driveway. Frontage residential development along Crowsley Road lies to
the north of the site. A detached dwelling, Orchard House, is under construction on
the western side of the driveway. Open countryside adjoins the site to the west and
the gardens of Thornfield House, Lock End House and Highwood to the north, south
and east, respectively. The trees on the site boundary with the driveway and with the
open countryside to the rear are covered by Tree Protection Orders. There are no
other special designations on the site.

1.3

The application seeks outline planning permission for the refurbishment, extension
and alteration of Kingsley House from 4 Flats to up to 8 Flats with detailed consent
sought for access at this stage, as detailed on the current plans. Matters of
appearance, landscaping, layout and scale are reserved for later consideration. The
application includes alterations to the driveway to widen a section of it close to the
junction to 4.5 metres. It also includes the formation of two passing places further up
the driveway.

1.4

The application was amended to remove details of proposed car parking and bin
storage, as these are related to ‘layout’ which is a reserved matter and so cannot be
fixed at this stage. The current plans can be found at Appendix B. Other documents
can be viewed on the Council’s website.

Page 17

South Oxfordshire District Council – Plannin Committee – 22 February 2022

2.0
2.1

SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
Shiplake Parish Council -

Drainage - (South and Vale) – No objection subject to surface water and foul water
drainage conditions
Forestry Officer (South and Vale) – No objection subject to tree protection conditions
Highways Liaison Officer (Oxfordshire County Council) – No objection subject to
conditions
Third Parties – Fifteen representations of objection and one of support, raising similar
issues to Shiplake Parish Council










Over-intensive development in a rural setting;
Increased traffic congestion using driveway and Crowsley Road and parking
overspill presenting risk to highway and pedestrian safety;
Excessive use of driveway and manoeuvring causing disturbance to nearby
residential occupiers;
Loss of green space from driveway widening and passing spaces;
Car parking area out of keeping (reserved matter);
Lack of private amenity space for future occupiers (reserved matter);
Location of bin store harmful to the amenity of Firs Lodge (reserved matter);
Basement flats would have no natural light (reserved matter); and
Will enhance the property and the locality and provide much-needed flats in the
area.

The representations can be viewed in full on the Council’s website.
3.0
3.1

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
P20/S3602/PEM - Advice provided (03/11/2020)
Redevelopment & subdivision of the existing building (currently 4 flats) to create a total
of 8 flats.
P75/S0383 - Approved (22/09/1975)
DIVISION INTO TWO DWELLINGS.
P72/H0247 - Approved (19/04/1972)
Conversion of kitchen wing to two self-contained flats.

Page 18

South Oxfordshire District Council – Plannin Committee – 22 February 2022

Adjacent to the site access at Orchard House:
P20/S2709/FUL - Approved (09/10/2020)
Erection of detached 4-bedroom dwelling and garage.
Adjacent to the east of Kinglsey House:
P21/S3776/FUL – Approved (04/02/2022)
Erection of a new build dwelling (Kingsley Court).
4.0
4.1

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
The proposed development is not Schedule 1 or 2 development as defined by the
Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017 so
an Environmental Impact Assessment is not required.

5.0
5.1

POLICY & GUIDANCE
Development Plan Policies
South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP) Policies:
DES1 - Delivering High Quality Development
DES2 - Enhancing Local Character
DES3 - Design and Access Statements
DES5 - Outdoor Amenity Space
DES6 - Residential Amenity
DES7 - Efficient Use of Resources
DES8 - Promoting Sustainable Design
DES10 - Carbon Reduction
ENV1 - Landscape and Countryside
ENV2 - Biodiversity - Designated sites, Priority Habitats and Species
ENV3 - Biodiversity
EP3 - Waste collection and Recycling
EP4 - Flood Risk
H1 - Delivering New Homes
H11 - Housing Mix
H17 - Sub-division and Conversion to Multiple Occupation
INF4 - Water Resources
STRAT1 - The Overall Strategy
STRAT5 - Residential Densities
TRANS5 - Consideration of Development Proposals

5.2

Draft Shiplake Neighbourhood Plan
Shiplake Parish Council has prepared a submission draft neighbourhood plan, the
publicity period on the draft plan concluded on Tuesday 7 December 2021 and the draft
plan has been submitted for independent examination. At this stage the policies in the
plan can be given limited weight as it has not been examined

5.3

Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents
South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016) – Section 7 Plots & Buildings

5.4

National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance

5.5

Other Relevant Legislation
Human Rights Act 1998
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the
processing of the application and the preparation of this report.

Page 19

South Oxfordshire District Council – Plannin Committee – 22 February 2022

Equality Act 2010
In determining this planning application the Council has regard to its equalities
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.
6.0
6.1

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
The relevant planning considerations are the following:
 Principle of Development
 Visual Impact
 Residential Amenity Impact
 Access
 Other Material Planning Considerations

6.2

Principle of Development
Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires
applications for planning permission be determined in accordance with the
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The development
plan currently comprises the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP 2035).

6.3

Policy STRAT1 of the SOLP 2035 sets out the overall strategy for the District. It seeks
to focus most major new development at the growth point of Didcot and other allocated
sites with Henley, Thame and Wallingford also being a focus for development and
regeneration. The SOLP 2035 Policy H17 states that the subdivision of dwellings will be
permitted provided certain criteria are met. The policy does not contain any restriction
limiting such subdivisions to within settlements. Therefore, the proposal would comply
with the Council’s Housing Distribution Strategy.

6.4

Visual Impact
The SOLP 2035 Policy DES1 seeks to ensure that all new development is of a highquality design subject to a series of criteria. The SOLP 2035 Policy DES2 states that all
new development must be designed to reflect the positive features that make up the
character of the local area and should both physically and visually enhance and
complement the surroundings. The SOLP 2035 Policy ENV1 seeks to ensure that
development will only be permitted where it protects and, where possible enhances,
features that contribute to the nature and quality of South Oxfordshire’s landscapes.

6.5

The application is in outline, with only the matter of access to be considered at this
stage. The proposal incorporates some changes to the existing driveway to widen it to
4.6 metres near the junction with Crowsley Road and to provide two passing spaces
along its length. These changes would be surrounded by residential built form and so
would have no discernible direct impact on the surrounding landscape. The Council’s
Tree Officer has commented that these alterations could be implemented without
causing harm to protected trees along the edge of the driveway and has raised no
objection subject to the inclusion of specific conditions related to tree protection. On this
basis, officers consider that the proposed physical changes to the driveway would not
significantly detract from the sylvan character of the surrounding area and would be
visually acceptable in accordance with the above policies. The visual impact of any
other elements of the subdivision and extension of the building, bearing in mind it is
already in use as flats, would be assessed at the reserved matters stage.

6.6

Residential Amenity Impact
Policy H17 Criterion i) explains that the sub-division of dwellings and conversions to
multiple occupation will be permitted provided that the development would not harm the
amenity of the occupants of nearby properties. The SOLP 2035 Policy DES6 relates to
residential amenity and requires that development proposals should demonstrate that
they will not result in significant adverse impacts on the amenity of neighbouring uses,
Page 20

South Oxfordshire District Council – Plannin Committee – 22 February 2022

when considering both individual and cumulative impacts in relation to loss of privacy,
daylight and sunlight, dominance or visual intrusion, noise or vibration, smell, dust,
heat, odour or other emissions, pollution, and external lighting.
6.7

Third parties have raised concerns about increased noise and disturbance from an
intensification of vehicular use of the driveway by more households, in addition to the
under-construction Orchard House. At this stage, the increase in the number of flats is
not fixed, as an acceptable number of residential units will be determined by an
assessment of layout, scale, appearance and landscaping at the reserved matters
stage. This outline application proposes alterations to the existing driveway to make it
easier for vehicles travelling in opposite directions to pass each other. This would be an
improvement to the existing situation and the OCC Highway Liaison Officer (HLO)
considers that these alterations would be appropriate for the level of vehicular activity
that would be likely to occur in the future. From this it is possible to infer that the
amount of vehicular activity associated with the increased residential use of Kingsley
House would not result in significant additional noise nuisance to adjoining residents
because of excessive manoeuvring on the driveway. The proposal would comply with
the above policies.

6.8

Concerns were also raised about the location of a bin store, previously shown adjacent
to the boundary with Firs Lodge. However, this has been removed from the current
plans and the applicant has confirmed that at the reserved matters stage, bin storage
would be accommodated next to the flats, with the bins being wheeled down on
collection day to a specified collection point at the junction with Crowsley Road, which
is what most residents presently do.

6.9

Access
The SOLP 2035 Policy TRANS5 seeks to ensure that development would not be
prejudicial to highway and pedestrian safety. The applicant has submitted a Transport
Statement that includes the traffic impact of the recently approved dwelling known as
‘Kingsley Court’. As referred to above, the HLO has commented that the site is located
on a private access drive and the adoptable highway is located at the junctions of
Baskerville Lane and Mill Road. The potential maximum increase in the number of
residential units will result in a relatively modest increase in vehicular numbers, this
however in the HLO’s expert opinion, would be unlikely to significantly impact the
highway, given that the driveway is to be improved to provide passing opportunities
along its length. The plans have also demonstrated that fire tender access and egress
is feasible. The HLO is also satisfied that there would be scope for acceptable parking
and turning opportunity for the range of additional units proposed at the reserved
matters stage.

6.10 Other Material Planning Considerations
Concerns raised by third parties about the amount of parking provision, location of bin
stores and basement-only flats are understood, but all of these are related to layout,
which is a reserved matter. The exclusion of some land from the garden area for the
proposed flats has been questioned, however, the site area would allow for a
communal garden area of around 800 square metres, which would provide sufficient
private outdoor amenity space for the eventual number of future occupiers. Matters
related to tree protection, drainage and external lighting can be dealt with through precommencement planning conditions. An appropriate mix of residential units in line with
the latest market housing need data, as required by the SOLP 2035 Policy H11, could
be secured at the reserved matters stage through a planning condition.
6.11 Policy DES8 of SOLP states that all new development must demonstrate how they are
seeking to reduce greenhouse emissions through location, building orientation, design,

Page 21

South Oxfordshire District Council – Plannin Committee – 22 February 2022

landscape and planting. At the reserved matters stage, officers would seek to ensure
that the development would be designed to enable charging of plug-in and other low
emission vehicles in safe, accessible and convenient locations, as required by the
SOLP 2035 Policy TRANS5 criterion (ix).
6.12 Community Infrastructure Levy
Residential sub-divisions are not liable for CIL, however where the creation of additional
floor space (over 100 square metres or more) is involved, then CIL would be liable for
that additional floorspace at a rate of £150/square metre (index-linked) should a
reserved matters or full application be granted in the future.
6.13 Pre-commencement Conditions
Tree Protection
Surface Water Drainage
Foul Water Drainage
7.0
7.1

CONCLUSION
The proposed development would be acceptable in principle and the alterations to the
driveway would safeguard the character and appearance of the site and the
surrounding area, would safeguard important trees, would not detract from the living
conditions of adjoining residents or be prejudicial to highway safety and, subject to the
attached conditions, would be in accordance with Development Plan Policies,
Supplementary Planning Guidance and Government Guidance.

8.0
8.1

RECOMMENDATION
Grant Outline Planning Permission subject to the following conditions:
1 : Commencement - Outline with Reserved Matters
2 : Development in accordance with the approved plans
3 : Market Housing Mix (Outline)
4 : Implementation of private carriageway works
5 : Tree Protection details to be agreed
6 : Implementation of access construction as agreed to protect trees
7 : External Lighting details to be agreed
8 : Surface Water Drainage details to be agreed
9 : Foul Water Drainage details to be agreed

Author: Paul Lucas
Email: Planning@southoxon.gov.uk
Tel:

01235 422600

Page 22

Appendix A

Reference: P21/S1389/O
Printed on 07/04/2021 09:15:57
for BCP

Agenda Item 8

This map is reproduced from Ordance Survey material with the
permission of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the Controller of Her
Majesty's Stationery Office Crown copyright. Unauthorised
reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to
prosecution or civil proceedings
South Oxfordshire District Council / 100018668 / 2021

Page 23

d
W
oo
Ta
ng
le

Appendix B

Woodstock

Mole
End

CROW

SLEY

ROAD

Firs
Lodge

46

The Maples

Berwin

rive
way

House

Exis
ting

Sha
red
D

Orchard
House

Miller
House

Thornfield
House

Kingsley House
Site Area 0.49Ha

Kingsley
Gate
House

Existing
Building

Highwood

Lock End

C

06.01.22

B

22.06.21

Updated Location Plan

A

15.03.21

Outline Planning Applicaiton Submission

date

note

rev

Updated Location Plan

dwg

11.02.21

PA-01

Client

Mr & Mrs Stewart
Project Title

Kingsley House
Location Plan

Crowsley Road
Shiplake
RG9 3LU

PAULSOUTHOUSEARCHITECTS

1:1250 @ A4

Drawing Title

N

0

50m

The Hangar
Stanton St.John
Oxford OX33 1AG

Telephone: 01865 686108
Mobile: 07939 005458
studio@paulsouthouse.co.uk

Page 24

S

S

Miller
House

H

Thornfield
House

Thornfield
House

Orchard
House

Exis

ting

Exis

Sha

ting

red

Sha

Driv

red

ewa

Driv

y

ewa

y

Pas
sing

Pla
ce

1

Orchard
House

Open Field
Plac

Garage

Pas

sing

Garage

e2

Open Field

Existing
Access

Existing
Access

S

S
S

S

Car Port
S

S

Garage

Garage
S

S

S

S

S

Workshop

S

S

Parking Layout
TBC in future
Reserved Matters
Application

S

S

Workshop

S

Kingsley House

Kingsley House
S

Site Area 0.49Ha

S

Outbuilding

Outbuilding

Highwood

Summer
House

Highwood

Summer
House

S

S

Swimming Pool

Swimming Pool

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

S

Lock End

Lock End

S

S

S

S

S

S

LEGEND
Existing Site Plan

Proposed Site Plan

1:500

1:500

BOUNDARY LINE
EXISTING TREE
NEW TREE

E

24.06.21

Amended site plan to remove further layout information

D

22.06.21

Layout Information Omitted

C

07.06.21

Amended Car EV Charging Point Position

B

17.05.21

Passing Place 2 Amended

A

15.03.21

Outline Planning Applicaiton Submission

date

note

rev
dwg

11.02.21

PA-02

Project Title

EXISTING HEDGE

Page 25

Kingsley House
Existing and Proposed Block Plans

Crowsley Road
Shiplake
RG9 3LU

PAULSOUTHOUSEARCHITECTS

1:500 @ A2

Drawing Title

N

0

25m

Client

Mr & Mrs Stewart

The Hangar
Stanton St.John
Oxford OX33 1AG

Telephone: 01865 686108
Mobile: 07939 005458
studio@paulsouthouse.co.uk

T21

New
Replacement Tree

T19

Passing
Place 1

C
H1

T22

ro

w

sl

e

d

Dr
iv

e w
ay

T2

Sh
ar
e

T23

Ex
ist
in
g

Orchard House

New Metal
Edging

Existing Cobble Edging
to be Removed

T25

y

R

o

a

Refuse Collection
Point

d

4500

00

0

T24

10

New Metal
Edging

Access
Widened
to 4.5m

H1

A

H1
Garage

4500

A

H1

Passing
Place 2

T3

A

A

T5

T26

Sh
are
d D
ri v
e w
ay

Firs
Lodge

T27

T28
H1

T6

Existing
Access
T32

G3

T42

G2

T43

T33

G3

S

G2

T7

Ex
i s ti
n

G3

New
Replacement Tree

g

T31

S

T41

Grass
T44
T40

G3

Gravel

T8

G3
G3

G3

T45
T34

G3
G3
T47

Parking Layout
TBC in future
Reserved Matters
Application

S

H3

T46

T48

G4

H1
T49

Grass

T35

Gravel
S

Grass

S

T9

S

S

Workshop
S

T51
H4

FLAT
7-8

S

Location of Refuse
Container Storage.
Details TBC

T52

T11

9

FLAT
2-6

T53

Kingsley House

T10

T54

Outbuilding
S

H5

FLAT 1

H1

T55

Summer
House

T12

Proposed Site Access
0

1:100

Additional Compacted
Sub-Base

Swimming
Pool

Existing Grass to
be Removed (50mm Depth)

Existing Cobble to be
Removed and Backfilled with
Good Quality Topsoil

ProtectaWeb Cells
Everedge Titan Metal Edging

New Ground
Finish Level

100 50

Existing Ground
Level

S

S
S
S

24.06.21

Amended site plan to remove further layout information

D

22.06.21

Layout Information Omitted

C

07.06.21

Amended Car EV Charging Point Position

B

17.05.21

Amended Site Entry and Section A-A added

A

15.03.21

Outline Planning Applicaiton Submission

date

note

dwg

11.02.21

PA-03

NEW TREE

Client

Mr & Mrs Stewart
Project Title

Kingsley House

EXISTING HEDGE

50
10m

E

rev

EXISTING TREE

Page 26
0

BOUNDARY LINE
ROOT PROTECTION AREA
(ONLY T1 TO T28 INDICATED
TO ACCORD WITH
ARBORICULTURAL REPORT)

C

Proposed Site Plan
1:200

LEGEND

Root-Tex 30 Geotextile

Line of
Existing Driveway
Existing
Sub-Base

5m

Section A-A
1:10

0

0.5m

CAR EV CHARGING POINT

N

Proposed Site Plan and Site Access

Crowsley Road
Shiplake
RG9 3LU

PAULSOUTHOUSEARCHITECTS

1:200 1:100 1:10 @ A1

Drawing Title

The Hangar
Stanton St.John
Oxford OX33 1AG

Telephone: 01865 686108
Mobile: 07939 005458
studio@paulsouthouse.co.uk

Agenda Item 9
South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 February 2022

APPLICATION NO.
APPLICATION TYPE
REGISTERED
PARISH
WARD MEMBER(S)
APPLICANT
SITE
PROPOSAL

OFFICER

P21/S4342/FUL
FULL APPLICATION
19.10.2021
WALLINGFORD
Sue Roberts
George Levy
Mrs Mavis Somarakis
76 High Street Wallingford Oxon, OX10 0BX
Removal of condition 5 (building to be used only for
the purposes specified in the application) on
planning application P75/W0446.
(Internal alterations providing kitchen, dining areas &
new toilet/bathroom areas. Change of use to
restaurant.)
Nathaniel Bamsey

1.0
1.1

INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL
This application is referred to planning committee at the request of Councillor Sue
Roberts, the local member.

1.2

The application location plan is attached as appendix 1. The application site is no 76
High Street in the centre of the town of Wallingford. The building is currently vacant
but was formerly in use as a restaurant on the ground floor level with residential
accommodation above. Neighbouring buildings are to the east and west. Vehicular
access is gained to a small parking area through a car park to the north. The building
is in the Wallingford Conservation Area and within a primary shopping area
designated by the development plan.

1.3

This application seeks to remove condition 5 of the permission P75/W0446. This
application allowed the change of use of the former Beehive pub to a restaurant.
Condition 5 reads as follows:
‘That notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning Use Classes
Order 1972 the building shall be used only for the purposes specified in the
application and for no other purposes whatsoever.’

1.4

Reduced copies of the plans accompanying the application are attached at Appendix
2. Full copies of the plans and consultation responses are available for inspection on
the Council’s website at www.southoxon.gov.uk.

2.0
2.1

SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
Full responses can be found on the Council’s website

2.2

Wallingford Town Council
‘It was proposed by Councillor Lester, seconded by Councillor Newcombe and
RESOLVED THAT Wallingford Town Council supports this application’

Page 27

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 February 2022

3.0
3.1

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
P21/S3469/FUL - Approved (01/12/2021)
Demolition of poor quality outbuildings and canopy roof, and external alterations.
P21/S3468/N5B - Refused (27/09/2021)
Change of use from class E to residential under the new permitted development class
MA. the proposed change of use does not involve extensive alterations & building work,
see design statement for further details.
P75/W0446 - Approved (20/01/1976)
INTERNAL ALTERATIONS PROVIDING KITCHEN, DINING AREAS AND NEW
TOILET/BATHROOM AREAS. CHANGE OF USE TO RESTAURANT

4.0
4.1

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
The proposed development is not Schedule 1 or 2 development as defined by the
Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017,
so an Environmental Impact Assessment is not required.

5.0
5.1

POLICY & GUIDANCE
Development Plan Policies
South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP) Policies:
DES1 - Delivering High Quality Development
DES2 - Enhancing Local Character
DES6 - Residential Amenity
ENV6 - Historic Environment
ENV8 - Conservation Areas
TC5 - Primary Shopping Areas
TRANS5 - Consideration of Development Proposals

5.2

Wallingford Neighbourhood Plan
HD1
HA1
HA2
TC1
TC2
MC4
MC5

5.3

-

Design
The Historic Environment
Effects of Development on Historic and Heritage Assets
Primary Shopping Area
New Uses for Buildings within the Primary Shopping Area
Safe Travel
Vehicle Parking

Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents
South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016)

5.4

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and Planning Practice Guidance
(PPG)

5.5

Other Relevant Legislation
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as amended)
(P(LBCA)A)
In determining this application, the council has regard to its obligation to preserve the
listed building or its setting or any features of special architectural and historic interest
and/or to preserve or enhance the character and appearance of the conservation area

Page 28

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 February 2022

as required by the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as
amended).
Human Rights Act 1998
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the
processing of the application and the preparation of this report.
Equality Act 2010
In determining this planning application the Council has regard to its equalities
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.
6.0
6.1

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
The relevant planning considerations are the following:






6.2

Principle/impact on town centre
Design and character
Residential amenity
Access and parking
Other material planning considerations

Principle/impact on town centre
When assessing an application made under S.73 of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990 (as amended), consideration can only be given to the impact of the proposed
variation. Annexe A of the PPG chapter ‘Flexible options for planning permissions’
states that, in reference to S.73 applications:
‘Local planning authorities should, in making their decisions, focus their
attention on national and development plan policies, and other material
considerations which may have changed significantly since the original grant of
permission.’
The decision notice on file appears to be incomplete as no reason is given for the
restrictive condition being imposed so it is impossible to assess whether the original
reason for imposing the condition still holds.
Since the permission was granted for the use of the building as a restaurant there have
been significant changes to national policy through the introduction of the NPPF, and
changes to the Use Classes Order (UCO) and the General Permitted Development
Order (GPDO). The changes to the UCO and GPDO have greatly liberalised ‘town
centre’ uses such that express planning permission is no longer required for most
changes of use.
Class E is a new use class that came into force in 2020. This largely replaced the
previous use classes A1/2/3, B1, D1(a-b) and ‘indoor sport’ from D2(e). Therefore, if it
were not for this restrictive condition the building could be used for a wide range of
purposes without requiring planning permission. These uses include shops, cafes,
restaurants, offices and gyms. Whilst there is great variation in the uses, they are all
capable of contributing to the vitality and vibrancy of town centres and meeting local
needs, so removing the condition is not considered to harm the primary shopping area.
Moreover, the NPPF states that local planning authorities should allow ‘town centres to
grow and diversify in a way that can respond to rapid changes in the retail and leisure
industries’ with ‘a suitable mix of uses (including housing)’. Requiring the building to be
used solely as a restaurant would be contrary to this aim as it would prevent a rapid
Page 29

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 February 2022

response to changes in demand and prevent the wide range of uses allowed by Class
E which contribute to the suitable mixture of uses advocated by the NPPF.
Policies TC5 from SOLP and TC1 of the Neighbourhood Plan both seek to protect
these Class E uses in the primary shopping areas. The removal of this condition would
not lead to the loss of a Class E use so the variation would accord with these policies.
To sum up, considering the liberalisation of the UCO since the permission was granted
and the fact the Class E uses that would be allowed would still contribute to the vitality
and viability of the centre and meet the needs of local residents, officers hold that it
would not be reasonable to insist that the condition remain. Therefore, the removal of
the condition is acceptable in principle, subject to compliance with the other policies of
the development plan.
6.3

Design, character and heritage impacts
Policy
Policy DES1 requires new development to be of high-quality design. The policy gives a
wide range of measures against which development will be assessed, including efficient
use of land, net gains and no net loss of biodiversity, sustainability and respect for local
character and context. This respect for local character is echoed by policy DES2 which
requires new development to be designed to reflect the positive features that make up
the character of the local area and it should both physically and visually enhance and
complement the surroundings.
This requirement for high quality design is echoed by the Neighbourhood Plan policy
HD1 which states that new development should be of a high quality and sustainable
design that conserves and enhances local character, especially in relation to distinctive
building materials, and it should respond positively to local surroundings. Development
is also required to have regard to the SODG.
Policy ENV8 requires development within a conservation area (CA) or its setting to
preserve or enhance the CA’s special interest, character, setting and appearance.
Development is expected to: contribute to the CA’s special interest and its relationship
within its setting; take into account important views within, into or out of the CA and
show that these would be retained and unharmed; respect the local character and
distinctiveness of the CA; and be sympathetic to the original curtilage of buildings and
pattern of development and important open spaces.
The Wallingford Neighbourhood Plan policy HA1 states that development proposals
should protect, conserve or enhance the town’s historic environment. Policy HA2 states
that development that would lead to harm to or loss of a designated or non-designated
heritage asset would require clear and convincing justification. It goes on to state that
proposals for new development should be sensitively designed and should not cause
harm to the historic environment. This should include conserving or enhancing heritage
assets and the contribution of their setting, and the development making a positive
contribution to local character and distinctiveness.
Discussion
There is no operational development proposed so the assessment of the impact on
character and heritage assets is limited to the impact of the uses that would be allowed
should be the variation be approved.

Page 30

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 February 2022

The uses allowed within Class E have broadly similar characteristics in that people
come and go and activity takes place within the building. This ensures that a level of
activity will be maintained which contributes to local character and the heritage as a
market town.
None of the uses that would be allowed are likely to result in harm to local character.
The greatest potential harm would come from storage of materials etc. to support light
industrial uses but this storage would likely take place to the rear of the building, well
screened by boundary treatments and surrounding buildings, preventing harm. Any
external alterations to support different uses would require planning permission so their
impacts can be suitably controlled.
As the application does not propose any operational development and the uses that
would be allowed should the restrictive condition be removed will not be visually
harmful and the character and appearance of the conservation area will be preserved,
officers consider that the application complies with the requirements of the P(LBCA)A
and policies DES1, 2, ENV8, of SOLP and HD1, HA1 & 2 of the WNP.
6.4

Residential amenity
Policy
Policy DES6 requires development proposals to demonstrate that they will not
significantly impact the amenity of neighbouring uses in relation to loss of privacy,
daylight or sunlight, dominance or visual intrusion, noise or vibration, smell, dust, heat,
odour, gases or other emissions, pollution, contamination or the use of / or storage of
hazardous substances and external lighting.
Discussion
The proposed variation would mean the building could be used for any of the uses
within Class E without planning permission. The existing restaurant use is likely to
generate similar impacts in terms of neighbour amenity as the other uses that would be
allowed. Officers consider that removing condition 5 would not harm neighbours
through undue disturbance, noise, smells nor other emissions and the application
accords with policy DES6.

6.5

Access and parking
Policy
Policy TRANS5 requires develop proposals to provide for a safe and convenient access
for all users to the highway network, provide cycle parking where relevant, be served by
an adequate road network which can accommodate traffic without creating traffic
hazards or damage to the environment, be designed to enable charging of plug-in and
other lower emission vehicles, provide for loading, unloading, circulation and turning
space and provide for the parking of vehicles in accordance with Oxfordshire County
Council parking standards, unless specific evidence is provided to justify otherwise.
Many of these requirements are echoed by policy MC4 of the Neighbourhood Plan
which seeks to achieve safe travel in the plan area.
The Neighbourhood Plan policy MC5 states that development proposals should meet
Oxfordshire County Council’s minimum parking standards. Where feasible and
appropriate, proposals for residential development should also meet parking standards
given by the table at paragraph 8.3.13 of the plan. Within the defined town centre,

Page 31

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 February 2022

parking provision should take account of, and respond positively to, its historic
environment. A reduced level of parking will be supported where it directly relates to the
site concerned, the proposed use and to evidence of the way in which the proposed car
parking provision can be satisfactorily accommodated in the local highway network.
Discussion
The building has no customer car parking, and the proposed variation would not
change this. The building would continue to be accessed on foot with visitors using
local car parks, public transport or walking and cycling. None of the uses that would be
permitted by allowing unrestricted Class E use would lead to a significant intensification
of the use of the building such that there would be a material impact on the local
highway network nor a harm to highway safety. Officers therefore consider that the
application complies with policies TRANS5 of SOLP and MC4 & 5 of the WNP.
6.6

Other material planning considerations
Conditions
S.73 of the Act allows local planning authorities to grant permission unconditionally or
subject to different conditions to those originally imposed. The original permission was
subject to the following conditions:

The time limit condition cannot be re-imposed as it has long since passed and the
development was implemented.
The second condition is a compliance condition that defines the permission and
ensures that no development is permitted beyond the details on the submitted plans
and description. Officers recommend that a new approved plans condition is imposed to
similarly define the permission and ensure that it’s clear that no other development is
permitted.
The display of advertisements is controlled by the Advertisements Regulations and as
such it is not reasonable nor necessary to re-impose this condition.
Planning permission is required for alterations to the building as it is in a conservation
area which excludes it from permitted development rights given by Class A of Part 7 of
the GPDO for alterations. Under this Class extensions are only allowed in conservation
areas if they are more than 2m from the boundary. The narrowness of the plot means
this prevents all practical extensions. Therefore, officers consider this condition is

Page 32

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 February 2022

unreasonable and unnecessary to re-impose as planning permission would be required
for all alterations in any case, and for any practical extension.
As outlined above, officers consider the removal of condition 5 will not harm visual
amenity, heritage assets, neighbours nor highway safety and in light of the changes to
national policy in the form of the UCO, GPDO and NPPF it would not be reasonable to
insist on the retention of the condition. Officers are consequently of the opinion that the
removal of condition 5 would accord with the policies of the development plan.
6.7

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
The proposed variation has no impact in terms of CIL liability.

6.8

Pre-commencement conditions
The development to which the original permission relates has already been
implemented so it is not possible to impose pre-commencement conditions.

7.0
7.1

CONCLUSION
The removal of condition 5 of application P75/W0446 will not harm the vitality and
viability of the primary shopping area, visual amenity, heritage assets, neighbours nor
highway safety and in light of changes to national policy since the grant of permission it
would not be reasonable to require the retention of the condition. Officers are
consequently of the opinion that the removal of condition 5 would accord with the
requirements of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as
amened) policies of the development plan and the application should be approved,
subject to the recommended condition.

8.0
8.1

RECOMMENDATION
Planning Permission
1 : Approved plans

Author:
Nathaniel Bamsey
Contact No: 01235 422600
Email:
planning@southoxon.gov.uk

Page 33

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9

Page 35

Appendix 1

Appendix 2

Page 36

Agenda Item 10
South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 February 2022

APPLICATION NO.
APPLICATION TYPE
REGISTERED
PARISH
WARD MEMBER(S)
APPLICANT
SITE
PROPOSAL

OFFICER

P21/S4102/RM
RESERVED MATTERS
23.9.2021
SHIPLAKE
Leigh Rawlins
David Bartholomew
GHL (Coolsilk) Ltd
Land East of Reading Road Lower Shiplake
Application for approval of Reserved Matters (scale,
appearance, layout and landscaping) following
consent granted under reference P18/S3210/O
(approved under appeal reference
APP/Q3115/W/19/3220425) - extra care
development of up to 65 units comprising of
apartments and cottages (Use Class C2);
associated communal facilities; provision of
vehicular and cycle parking together with all
necessary internal roads and footpaths; provision of
open space and associated landscape works; and
ancillary works and structures (As amended by
revised landscaping plans received on 3 February
2022)
Nicola Smith

1.0
1.1

INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL
This application is referred to the Planning Committee at the discretion of the Planning
Manager and as the officer’s recommendation conflicts with the views of Shiplake
Parish Council.

1.2

The application site (which is shown on the OS extract attached as Appendix A) is
located on the south western side of Lower Shiplake and currently comprises a single
field bounded on three sides by vegetation of varying species, height and quality. The
land immediately to the north of the site has planning permission for two houses,
however, the land on the remaining three sides of the site remains open.

1.3

This application seeks approval of reserved matters following the grant of outline
planning permission for an extra care development of up to 65 dwellings together with
associated communal facilities, under application no. P18/S3210/O, which was
granted on appeal. The reserved matters applied for in this application are
appearance, landscaping, layout and scale. It was confirmed at outline stage that the
proposal is not EIA development.

1.4

Access to the site was approved by the outline permission by way of a bell mouth
junction onto the A4155 Reading Road.

1.5

The approval of the outline permission included parameter plans covering site
parameters, site levels and building parameters. The Building Parameter plans
approved under the outline planning permission are attached as Appendix B. The
detailed layout proposed under this reserved matters application is attached as
Appendix C. At Appendix D is a comparison between the approved parameter plans

Page 37

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 February 2022

and the submitted reserved matters layout. For information, the Inspector’s report is
also included at Appendix E.
1.6

This reserved matters application proposes 65 units of older persons accommodation
with associated infrastructure, landscaping, parking, open space and communal
facilities (the clubhouse). The accommodation is provided in four apartment blocks
and fifteen cottages - all units have two bedrooms, some apartments are provided
over one floor and some over two floors, the cottages are all over two floors. The club
house in the centre of the site provides communal space including a gym and studio,
communal lounge and dining area. The design of the scheme is contemporary in
appearance including design details and materials.

1.7

The application has been amended during the application process to address
concerns raised by consultees, particularly in terms of landscape. Changes include
increasing structural planting in the buffer zone, reducing the gap in the buffer zone on
the eastern boundary and changing tree species in the centre of the site to increase
the green canopy within the built area.

2.0

SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
A summary of the latest responses received to the proposal is below. A full copy
of all the comments made including those in respect of previous iterations of the
proposals can be seen online at
https://data.southoxon.gov.uk/ccm/support/Main.jsp?MODULE=ApplicationDetails
&REF=P21/S4102/RM

2.1

Shiplake Parish
Council

Objection
 The lighting plan is still unclear to us and we are
concerned will lead to a degradation of Shiplake’s
dark skies approach
 The revised boundary treatment fails to deliver
sufficient changes. The 10m landscape buffer was
intended to comprise a zone of structural planting
There should be no development of any kind,
including the proposed bins stores and car parking,
in this area.
 We are concerned that the ecological impact of
development on this site is insufficiently taken
account of.
 Measures to be taken to ensure that the impact of
the clubhouse lighting is minimised.
 The applicant fails to address the footpath access
along Reading Road and fails to provide clarity on
pedestrian access to the site.
 The applicant fails to take account of Shiplake’s
design approach and should be significantly
redesigned.
 The black clad buildings would be out of keeping
with its Shiplake setting.
 The 3 and 4 storey buildings are out of keeping
with the rural location.
 The significant overlooking issue to neighbours on
Baskerville Road and New Road have not been
sufficiently answered or rectified in amendments.

Page 38

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 February 2022



The Visual Impact of this application is out of
keeping with its setting

Councillor David
Bartholomew

Objection
 The urban-style entrance with flint and brick walls,
estate-style automated gates with railings, and
signage are totally inappropriate for a rural location.
 The three and four-storey apartment buildings are
completely out of scale with anything else in the
village, both in terms of height and mass. These
buildings would overlook properties on Baskerville
Lane and dominate the previously very rural view
from New Road
 Officers should evaluate in depth the potential for
light pollution arising from internal and external
lighting on the site.
 The landscape masterplan shows a break in the
woodland planting on the eastern boundary. The
whole site should be screened from view on all
sides as far as is practicably possible.
 Car parking on this scale is not only contrary to
sustainability objectives but also deeply
unattractive in a rural setting. In is unnecessary for
a retirement village.
 Eight cycle parking spaces will be provided
throughout the site. This would appear to be totally
inadequate and no mention is made of cycling
provision for staff.

Landscape Officer

Comments
 The
landscape
proposals
require
further
strengthening on the south eastern boundary, in the
vicinity of the bin store, and in the north eastern
corner of the site.
 Further consideration of structural planting mixes is
also required together with amendments to the
Management and Maintenance Plan
 These outstanding matters could be covered by
landscape conditions.

Drainage Officer

No objection
 Based on the preliminary modelling information
provided we are satisfied that the site levels can be
designed to accommodate the surface water risk
route without increasing flood risk to proposed
buildings or elsewhere.
 We are satisfied that outstanding modelling can be
dealt with as part of the drainage condition
discharge application.

Forestry Officer

No objection
 The tree protection information for this site has
already been approved under a DIS application.

Page 39

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 February 2022



2.2

The amended Arb Method Statement included in
this RM application is acceptable

Countryside Officer

No objection
 Subject to a condition requiring the biodiversity net
loss to be offset

Oxfordshire County
Council Transport

Holding Objection
 Cycle Parking provision is inadequate
 Access to the site is from A4155 Reading Road.
The form of access has been previously agreed
under the appeal decision
 The applicant has confirmed that the site will be
subject to a Private Road Agreement and will
therefore not be adopted.
 I find the proposed number of car parking spaces
acceptable.

Oxfordshire County
Council
Archaeology

No objection
 Consent P18/S3210/O has been granted with
conditions attached that require a staged
programme of archaeological evaluation and
mitigation in advance of development.
 As such there is no necessity to attach further
requirements at this reserved matter stage.

Sustainability
Consultant

No objection
 The use of SAP 10 shows the required
improvement, this alternative approach meets the
requirements of DES10.

Air Quality Officer

No objection
 After reviewing the supporting AQ Assessment,
providing the mitigation measures outlined in the
AQA are adhered to.

Contaminated Land

No comments

Environmental
Protection Team
Thames Water
Development
Control

No comments

Waste Management
Officer

No objection
 The submitted waste strategy is acceptable

No comments
 As there are no changes proposed to the foul/
surface drainage for the site

Neighbours
A total of 59 letters of objection have been received from surrounding residents,
their concerns and objections relevant to this reserved matters application are
summarised as follows:
- Impact on the amenity of the surrounding neighbours, including the
houses permitted on the adjoining site to the north.

Page 40

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 February 2022

-

-

-

-

3.0
3.1

The height of the apartments is out of character with every other building
in Lower Shiplake.
The development will cause lighting pollution which goes against the
Parish of Shiplake Neighbourhood Plan.
The scale of the car parking seems disproportionate for a 'retirement
village'.
The manoeuvring of vehicles will have an unacceptable impact on the
amenity of Baskerville Lane and New Road residents, both in terms of
noise and headlights
The Reserved Matters application does not adequately address the
Inspector’s Report
This proposed development is out of character with the rural location.
There has been no respect shown to try to blend into the location.
Before building commences dense mature trees should be planted along
the boundaries of this site.
The vehicle parking spaces are surely inadequate for the number of
residents and consequent visitors
The designs submitted for approval look 'commercial', unlike the
surrounding houses and farms. The design looks more like an urban site.
The application is significantly different, detrimentally so, in so many ways
to that approved by the Planning Inspector.
The site has no pedestrian access.
There is currently a lack of detail from the reserved matters application on
the lighting scheme and also how light pollution will be limited
The scale, massing and height of the proposals go some considerable
way beyond the parameters identified.
The adequacy and robustness of the ground exploration data should be
checked given that this site is within or adjacent to a former gravel pit, and
is close to the Thames Farm site where major sinkholes/underground
dissolution features exist.
The urban-style entrance with flint and brick walls, estate-style automated
gates with railings, and signage are inappropriate for a rural location.
The whole site should be screened from view on all sides as far as visibly
possible.
The staff transport plan is based on achieving a 10% saving on an
assumed two-thirds of staff travelling by car/van. This would seem to be
unambitious.
Insufficient cycle parking spaces will be provided throughout the site
The materials & appearance chosen appear to have ignored the Shiplake
palette.
The landscaping plan is a material deterioration of the scheme approved
at outline.

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
P21/S2423/PEJ – Pre application provided (21/09/2021)
Proposed reserved matters application pursuant to outline planning permission
P18/S3210/O, approved at appeal under ref. APP/Q3115/W/19/3220425.
P18/S3210/O - Refused (21/12/2018) - Appeal allowed (14/10/2019)
Outline application for the development of land to the East of Reading Road to
consist of an extra care development of up to 65 units comprising of apartments
and cottages (Use Class C2); associated communal facilities; provision of
vehicular and cycle parking together with all necessary internal roads and
footpaths; provision of open space and associated landscape works; and ancillary
works and structures.

Page 41

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 February 2022

P18/S2771/PEJ - Advice provided (20/09/2018)
Outline application for up to 66 units of extra care housing with associated
communal facilities, landscaping and infrastructure to include means of access
and internal roads.
P16/S3438/O - Refused (31/10/2017) - Appeal Withdrawn (24/07/2018)
Outline application for the development of land to the East of Reading Road to
consist of the development of a residential care home facility (up to 40 beds)
together with an extra care development (up to 66 units comprising of apartments
and cottages) all within Use Class C2; associated communal facilities; provision
of vehicular and cycle parking together with all necessary internal roads and
footpaths; provision of open space and associated landscape works; and ancillary
works and structures. (As amended by plans received 5 May 2017, additional
information received 19 June 2017, 4 August 2017 and 25 August 2017).
4.0
4.1

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
This proposal does not exceed 150 dwellings, the site area is under 5ha and is not
within a ‘sensitive area’ as defined by the EIA regulations. Consequently, the proposal
is beneath the thresholds set in Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning
(Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017. An Environmental Impact
Assessment is not required as the majority of issues are considered to be of local
significance only and can be examined through the normal planning process.

5.0
5.1

POLICY & GUIDANCE
Development Plan Policies
South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP) Policies:
STRAT1 – The Overall Strategy
STRAT5 – Residential Densities
H1 – Delivering New Homes
H13 - Specialist Housing for Older People
INF1 – Infrastructure Provision
TRANS5 – Consideration of Development Proposals
ENV1 – Landscape & Countryside
ENV3 – Biodiversity
ENV5 – Green Infrastructure in New Developments
ENV12 - Pollution
EP3 – Waste Collection and Recycling
DES1 – Delivering High Quality Development
DES2 – Enhancing Local Character
DES3 - Design & Access Statement
DES5 – Outdoor Amenity Space
DES6 – Residential Amenity
DES7 - Efficient Use of Resources
DES8 – Promoting Sustainable Design
DES10 – Carbon Reduction
CF5 – Open Space, Sport and Recreation in New Residential Developments

5.2

Neighbourhood Plan
Shiplake Parish Council has prepared a submission draft neighbourhood plan, the
publicity period on the draft plan concluded on Tuesday 7 December 2021 and the draft
plan has been submitted for independent examination. At this stage the policies in the
plan can be given limited weight as it has not been examined.

Page 42

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 February 2022

Relevant policies from the draft plan are:
SV8 - Settlement Character
SV9 - Valued Landscapes
SV11 - Important Views
SV12 - Dark Skies and Lighting
SV13 - Biodiversity Net Gain
SV14 - Landscaping and Greening of the Environment
SV15 - Preservation and Replacement of Trees
SV19 - New Development and Highway Safety
SV22 - Design and Access Statements
SV25 - Building Materials/Design/Density/Layout
5.3

Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents
South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016)

5.4

National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance

5.5

Other Relevant Legislation
Human Rights Act 1998
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the
processing of the application and the preparation of this report.
Equality Act 2010
In determining this planning application the Council has regard to its equalities
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.

6.0
6.1

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
The principle of up to 65 dwellings and communal facilities on this site is established
through outline planning permission P18/S3210/O. Through the outline permission
access onto the A4155 Reading Road is also approved. The main planning
considerations for this reserved matters application are therefore:
The relevant planning considerations are the following:







6.2

6.3

Compliance with the parameter plans
Design and character
Landscaping
Residential amenity
Highway matters and Parking
Other material planning considerations

Compliance with the parameter plans
Parameter plans approved through the outline permission included information such as
layout and building heights. The Site Levels Parameter Plan provided a detailed layout
of the arrangement of the blocks of development.
Whilst ‘Layout’ was a matter not approved by the outline permission this parameter plan
gives a clear steer as to how the development blocks should be laid out. The reserved
matters submission differs in only very minor ways from this parameter plan. A plan
showing the Site Levels Parameter Plan in comparison with the reserved matters layout
can be found at Appendix D. This plan shows the footprint of the buildings differs only
in a reduction in size of the Clubhouse (block A) and a re-orientation of block E. The
remainder of the differences are limited to a less engineered road layout and reorganisation of the car parking layout. These minor differences have been made in
order to achieve a better, less engineered and more welcoming scheme than the

Page 43

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 February 2022

approved parameter plan suggests. Officers consider this acceptable in planning terms
as the overall parameters set out on the approved plan are being adhered to, whilst
also considering that layout was not expressly approved through the outline permission.
6.4

The Site Parameters Plan identified two buffer zones around the edge of the
development, a 10 metre landscaping buffer zone comprising existing and proposed
structural planting, and a further 5 metre buffer zone, which excludes built form, and is
designed to offset the buildings from the structural planting. The acceptability of the
proposed planting within the outer buffer zone is examined in detail at paragraphs 6.136.15 below. It should be noted that the layout shown on the approved Site Levels
Parameter Plan indicates a number of locations where parking areas encroach into the
inner 5 metre buffer zone, together with the bin storage area encroaching into the outer
10 metre buffer zone as well. These locations are clearly highlighted on the
Comparison plan at Appendix D. The reserved matters layout proposes a total of 195
sqm of parking space, and 54.1 sqm of built form (bin store) within the 5 metre buffer
zone as compared to 177 sqm of parking and 55.3 sqm of built form approved by the
outline parameter plan. The increase of 18 sqm of hardstanding and a decrease of 1.2
sqm of built form is considered acceptable and within the tolerances of the parameter
plans approved.

6.5

The Building Parameters Plan indicates clear zoning of the site with footprint, use and
height parameters. Zone 1, in the centre of the site is identified as the location of the
communal facilities, zone 2 at the western side of the site is identified as the location of
apartments, with zone 2d further subdivided to take account of the site level changes,
and zone 3, at the south eastern and north eastern edges are identified as the location
of the proposed cottages. Each zone has detailed parameters including maximum ridge
height, and maximum block size. The below plan, taken from the Design and Access
Statement shows the proposal overlaid onto the parameters plan:

6.6

The plans submitted with this reserved matters application indicate that the proposed
building heights and block sizes comply with the maximums set out on the approved
parameters plan. None of the buildings proposed exceed the maximum ridge height set

Page 44

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 February 2022

out in the Parameters Plan. The proposed buildings, however, have made use of the
higher pitched roofs (the design of which is discussed in paragraph 6.9 below) and
utilised the roof space in the centre of blocks B, C, L and K to create two and a half
storey units, the following section showing block K indicates how this is achieved:

Within each of blocks B, L and K two units are created with accommodation over two
floors in this manner.
6.7

Within block C the arrangement is different as the central zone on the Parameters plan
allows for the change in levels existing on the site. Here, the use of a lower ground floor
together with the roof space results in a section of three and a half storey as shown on
the section below:

It is important to note, however, that the maximum height and block size parameters
are not exceeded by this design. Concerns are raised by the Parish Council and the
local residents in respect of height and size, however, whilst the number of floors in
parts of each apartment building are more than was anticipated at the outline stage, the
parameters of height and building size remain as per the approved parameter plans
and the proposed buildings are no higher than those indicated through the outline
application. The impacts of utilising the roof space on appearance and the amenity of
surrounding neighbours are examined at paragraphs 6.9 and 6.18 respectively.

6.8

Design and character
Objections to the scheme at the outline stage included concerns over a potential
institutional appearance of the development and the Inspector directly addressed that in
his report suggesting at paragraph 28 that a more domestic appearance could be
achieved. The scheme proposed in this reserved matters application is very different to
that which was indicated at outline stage. The Design and Access Statement sets out
the design evolution that the scheme has undergone and the influences that have
informed the design and material choices.

Page 45

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 February 2022

6.9

Significantly, the architect has sought to reduce the massing of the apartment blocks by
breaking up the long roof lines and long lines of regular widows and introduced a gable
fronted design which has a contemporary appearance, but takes cues from gable
fronted designs both in the villages of Shiplake and Lower Shiplake as well as
distinctively designed buildings in nearby Henley on Thames. Together with varying the
frontage of the different elements of the blocks this design approach creates a much
less ‘institutional’ appearance of the buildings and breaks up what otherwise could be
very large blocks. The design approach considers the appearance of the local area and
the advice contained in the South Oxfordshire Design Guide as well as the Chilterns
Design Guide (although the site is not located in the Chilterns AONB, the boundary is
some 650 metres to the west) and is supported by Officers.

6.10 The design of the proposal has been criticised locally as being out of character with the
surrounding properties and not in accordance with design aspirations as set out in the
emerging Shiplake Neighbourhood Plan. The architecture of Lower Shiplake is largely
traditional in nature, with the nearest properties on Baskerville Lane exhibiting a range
of bespoke designs set in large plots. It is acknowledged that the design of the site is of
a different and more contemporary nature than many of the surrounding properties,
(with some notable exceptions). However, this site is located on the very edge of the
settlement, as described by the appeal decision, and is of a very different character,
being a retirement village rather than single residential properties, and this gives an
opportunity to create a bespoke architectural character that gives the site its own
identity, whilst using design cues to tie it back to the surrounding area.
6.11 The emerging Shiplake Neighbourhood Plan contains a Character Appraisal and
Design Guide. The site is identified as being contained within he Shiplake SemiEnclosed Dipslope character area but is not assigned to a particular area for design
requirements. The Design Guide element of this appendix focuses on traditional
design, however also includes the requirement that “Contemporary design must be
informed by a contextual analysis. Designers should create proposals which will
complement and enhance Shiplake with designs which are positively distinctive and
rooted in an understanding of their context.” It is Officer’s opinion that this contextual
analysis has taken place and that the contemporary approach to design is fully justified
and acceptable in this case. The Shiplake Design Guide sets out those materials and
design elements appropriate to the Parish, including timber cladding (particularly
boathouses) and prominent gables, which have been used in this scheme.
6.12 In addition to the design of the buildings themselves, the design of the entrance feature
has also been criticised by the Parish and local people for being institutional in nature
and out of keeping with the rural location, however, Officers consider the use of brick
and flint to tie in with the boundaries in other parts of the village, as shown in the
Shiplake Design Guide, and is sufficiently modest in scale and design to avoid
introducing unacceptable urbanising elements into the rural street scene.
Landscaping
6.13 The Inspector’s decision at paragraph 26 states that “The strong degree of containment
resultant from topography and vegetation would significantly reduce the impact of the
development of the site on the character of the area. An impact that would be further
reduced with structural landscaping, maturing planting and the management and
maintenance of the existing tree and hedge screening.” It is therefore a crucial part of
the acceptability of this Reserved Matters application that an appropriate landscaping
scheme is included.
6.14 During the application process, changes have been made to the scheme to increase
the structural landscaping proposed, particularly on the eastern boundary. A small gap

Page 46

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 February 2022

is left open in the centre of this boundary to allow residents a view out, however the
open area is minimised in order to screen the development as much as possible. The
structural planting consists of large native species including oak, field maple and silver
birch planted as standard and heavy standard sizes. The buffer area will be
underplanted with a native shrub mix which will thicken the structural planting at the
understorey level. For the majority of the eastern boundary, this 10 metre buffer is met,
however the Landscape Officer has identified two locations where the proposed
planting requires further thickening. These are in the north eastern corner of the site,
and an area around the bin storage area. A condition is recommended requiring further
details of planting in these areas.
6.15 Within the site, larger tree species have been located in key positions to add to the
green canopy and further mitigate the landscape impact of the proposal. Officers
consider that the level of landscaping proposed, and required by condition, is sufficient
to mitigate the impact of the proposal on the landscape and is consistent with the
expectations set out by the Inspector in his decision. The condition requiring further
landscaping details also includes clauses requiring the implementation of the
landscaping scheme prior to occupation of the development and the replacement of
any specimen that dies within 5 years, which was not a condition on the outline
permission. This will ensure that the landscaping is implemented in a timely manner
and given the best chance to mature.
Residential amenity
6.16 A number of surrounding residents have expressed concerns that the proposed
buildings would overlook their properties, particularly properties on Baskerville Lane
and the approved new dwellings on the site immediately to the north of the application
site (Land at Tower House). The plan below shows the proposal in context with the
surrounding residential properties to the north (Land at Tower House) and north east
(Baskerville Lane). This plan indicates that there is a distance of 40.40 metres between
block C and the adjacent property, and 45 metres between Block D and the closest
property in Baskerville Lane.

Page 47

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 February 2022

To put this into context, the South Oxfordshire Design Guide sets out the expected
back to back distances for new residential development at a minimum of 25 metres
between habitable rooms, and back to side distances at a minimum of 12 metres.
Clearly the distances proposed in this case far exceed that minimum.
6.17 Whilst it is recognised that the rear gardens of these properties currently form the edge
of the settlement and the area is characterised by large detached buildings in large
plots, it is important to note that the general form of development, and the position of
buildings, was approved through the parameter plans as discussed above. In addition,
as noted by the Inspector in his decision at paragraph 29, the land on which the
existing properties is set is higher than the application site, thereby reducing the
potential for overlooking further. In relation to the potential for overlooking of the
properties on Baskerville Lane, it should be noted that the proposed cottages in block D
are 1.5 storey, set behind a significant planting buffer and are at an oblique angle to the
rear elevations of the existing properties on Baskerville Lane. It is your Officer’s opinion
that no material harm would arise from overlooking of these properties.
6.18 The proposed apartment block C differs from the original parameter plans as described
in paragraph 6.7 above, as the roof space is also utilised for habitable rooms. However,
this does not materially increase the harm from overlooking to this neighbouring
property as the only window to a habitable room on the side elevation is located behind
the garage. There is potential to overlook the garden of this property, however, that is
mitigated to a significant degree by the existing and proposed landscaping on this
boundary. The most private areas of the garden are considered to be closest to the
house, and, as this is over 40 metres from the proposed property it is your Officer’s
opinion that no material harm would arise from overlooking of this property.
6.19 It is acknowledged that the proposal will alter the appearance of this edge of settlement
site and this was noted by the appeal Inspector at paragraph 29 where he said:
“Although there is no entitlement to a view the appearance of the area would change
and would be adversely affected for a number of receptors in the immediate vicinity of
the site, albeit this would reduce as landscaping matured.”
6.20 The maturing of the structural landscaping would reduce the impact of the proposal on
the surrounding residents, and the proposals are considered to be acceptable in this
regard as described in paragraphs 6.13 - 6.15 above. Further reference to the
importance of the structural planting is made in the appal decision at paragraph 52 of
the appeal decision which indicates that the structural planting further mitigates any
impact on the nearby properties.
6.21 The amenity of the future residents of the site must also be considered. The site has
been designed to comply with the back to back and front to front distances set out in
the South Oxfordshire Design Guide. For the cottages some private outdoor amenity
space is provided and for the apartments, the use of large overhanging eaves to the
gable ends adds useable outside space. Within the site the design complies with the
amenity policies in the SOLP, DES5 and DES6.
Highways matters and Parking
6.22 As explained in the introductory paragraphs, the access to the site has been approved
through the outline permission, the details of the site access arrangement, including the
necessary retaining wall, have been found to be acceptable as part of the application to
discharge Condition 6 of the outline permission and are not matters for consideration in
this reserved matters application.

Page 48

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 February 2022

6.23 The applicant has confirmed that the site will be subject to a Private Road Agreement
and will therefore not be adopted. The road layout has been designed to minimise the
engineering required and uses a gravel finish surface to the roads in order to soften the
appearance of the site.
6.24 The applicant proposes a total of 86 car parking spaces (65 allocated and 21
unallocated) as follows:
-

1 car parking space allocated to each residential unit (65 spaces);
1 car parking space for each guest suite (2 spaces);
4 accessible parking bays;
7 staff car parking spaces;
7 visitor car parking spaces; and
1 delivery car parking space.

There is no specific requirement for parking to serve retirement villages, however the
ratio of one space per unit is considered acceptable and reasonable for such a
development. The provision of parking has been justified in a technical note produced
by the application and this approach is found to be acceptable by the County Council’s
Highways Officer. The applicant proposes a total of 15 single and 15 twin electric
vehicle charging points throughout the site, allowing for a total of 45 electric cars to be
charged at any time. This is considered to be acceptable and in accordance with policy
TRANS5.
6.25 With regard to cycle parking, the original submission included a total of 23 cycle parking
spaces and 2 electric cycle spaces. There is no specific guidance on the provision of
cycle spaces for retirement housing, the Oxfordshire Cycle Design Standards (2017) for
new residential developments, require resident cycle parking at a ratio of 1 space for a
1 bed unit and 2 spaces per unit for larger properties, whereas the National Guidance
Local Transport Note on Cycle Infrastructure Design (2020) requires sheltered/elderly
housing and nursing homes to provide just 0.05 spaces per unit, resulting in the need
for only 3.25 spaces in this case. Comments from the Senior Transport Planner at the
County Council indicate that the number of proposed spaces is inadequate and more
should be provided.
6.26 Revisions to the scheme have included the provision of 35 cycle spaces overall for the
development, the Cottages (blocks D, E and F) would include one space for each
property in their private amenity area, and the apartment blocks would each have
access to a covered cycle storage area, providing 20 spaces overall for the 50
apartments. Whilst no formal comments from the County Council have been provided
on this revision, the Officer has indicated that this provision would still not meet their
expectations for cycle provision. However, after careful consideration it is your Officer’s
opinion that a total of 35 spaces overall for the site would be sufficient, given the nature
of the scheme and its location. The applicant, Probitas, has experience of running older
person’s housing developments and advises that the average age of residents is
approximately 75. The site is located on the edge of the village and access into Lower
Shiplake itself is via a busy road with no cycle infrastructure. Given the location and
type of development, officers consider that provision of 35 spaces for this development
is likely to be sufficient. The detailed information as to how those spaces are provided
(e.g. within a shed or covered stand) is required by a recommended condition.

Page 49

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 February 2022

Other material planning considerations
6.27 Lighting
Concerns have been raised that the site does not comply with the policy in the
emerging Neighbourhood Plan regarding dark skies. This is a key concern of the Parish
Council and is reflected in the work they have done to inform the Neighbourhood Plan.
In this case, the principle of development here has been accepted by the granting of
outline permission, and it would be unacceptable and inappropriate to exclude all
outside lighting from the scheme.
6.28 The applicants have sought to minimise the impact of the lighting scheme by using
bollard lighting throughout, as per the discussions at the appeal, and mentioned in
paragraph 53 of the Inspector’s report. The applicants have produced a lighting
statement technical note to assess the potential impacts of the proposals. The following
measures are used to minimise light spill:
-

-

-

Low level (1m tall) bollards covering car parks, paths and communal spaces
Facade lighting mounted at 2.8m to highlight building entrances and pedestrian
routes.
All lighting will be controlled via photocells complete with a timeclock override to
reduce energy consumption in summer months and provide the facility to switch
the lighting off between set times.
Low output downlights will be installed within terrace canopies which will be
controlled manually by the resident as and when they require lighting to their
terrace.
The internal lighting shall be designed in accordance with BS12464-1 whereby
the internal lighting shall be controlled to minimise energy consumption and use
when the space is unoccupied.

The only remaining area of concern with regard to lighting is the potential light spill from
the Clubhouse, particularly the ground floor rooms facing east, identified on the
submitted plans as a gym and studio. As these are communal facilities a condition is
recommended to set the hours of use of these rooms to ensure lighting is not used late
at night.
Whilst relevant to this Reserved Matters application, it is also important to note that
lighting is also controlled by condition 16 on the outline permission.
6.29 Size of the units
Paragraph 60 of the Inspector’s report refers to the size and mix of the units proposed
at outline stage, which was focused on two bed units, concluding that this was a matter
that could reasonably be explored in the reserved matters application. This application
for reserved matters also includes all 2-bed dwellings as this meets the market need for
retirement living properties. People moving into the development are likely to be
downsizing from other properties and the Section 106 requires the primary resident to
be aged 65 and over. Notwithstanding, this, some of the units do have additional rooms
to use as a study, these spaces are of a size that would meet space standards to be a
bedroom allowing a degree of flexibility in how the spaces are used.
6.30 Biodiversity
It was established at outline stage that the site would result in a net loss of biodiversity.
At that time the Council considered this acceptable, subject to a suitable condition
requiring the loss to be offset. However, the requested offsetting condition was not
applied by the Inspector. This reserved matters application also shows a net loss of
biodiversity. Officers therefore consider it is necessary to impose a condition on this

Page 50

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 February 2022

reserved matters requiring the loss of biodiversity to be offset. Subject to the condition,
it is considered that the proposal meets the requirements of policy ENV3.
6.31 Carbon Reduction
As required by policy DES10 of the SOLP the application is accompanied by an Energy
and Sustainability Statement setting out how the required carbon reduction would be
achieved. The calculation of carbon reduction has been carried out using a more up to
date method, that has not yet been adopted into policy. The minimum requirement of a
40% reduction in CO2 emissions has not been achieved when assessed under current
method. However, the use of SAP 10 calculations does show the required
improvement, this alternative approach is acceptable and meets the requirements of
DES10. It is understood that the use of SAP10 emission factors would future proof the
development to ensure that energy efficiency measures are maximised via a fabric first
approach, and that the development is designed in line with the Future Homes
Standard and upcoming changes to AD Part L (expected June 2022). The compliance
of the construction with the carbon reduction targets will be monitored post completion
and this is secured by condition.
6.32 Community Infrastructure Levy
The development is not CIL liable under the Council’s current CIL Charging Schedule
as it is for a C2 use. The S106 legal agreement that is linked to the outline planning
permission secured the following contributions:
-

Bin provision
Street naming
Contribution towards public transport

7.0
7.1

CONCLUSION
The submitted reserved matters application conforms to the parameters of the outline
planning permission granted at appeal and provides 65 units of older persons
accommodation, for which there is a high need in the District. The delivery of this site
which has already been approved in principle would make a small contribution to the
District’s five year supply of housing, by providing specialist housing for older people
and freeing up family accommodation in the wider market.

7.2

The design is of a high quality, complying with the requirements of the South
Oxfordshire Design Guide, and will create a well-designed living environment and
public realm for the residents. Significantly, the proposal indicates a better quality
design than was envisaged at the outline stage, with a less ‘institutional’ appearance
and a less engineered public realm.

7.3

Whilst not all the concerns of the Landscape Officer have been overcome, the
landscaping of the scheme is well-designed, with the key mitigation of the structural
planting around the edge of the site, particularly the eastern boundary being designed
satisfactorily to enable the scheme to assimilate into the landscape, as discussed in the
Inspector’s decision.

7.4

The details in respect of layout, scale, appearance and landscaping are acceptable in
relation to the policies of the Development Plan.

Page 51

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 February 2022

8.0
8.1

RECOMMENDATION
To grant reserved matters approval subject to the following conditions:
1.
2.
3.
4.

Development in accordance with approved plans
Biodiversity offsetting
Landscape implementation
Restricted hours of operation (clubhouse) for lighting and use of internal
blinds
5. Cycle Parking
6. Energy Statement Verification

Author:
Nicola Smith
Contact No: 01235 422600
Email:
planning@southoxon.gov.uk

Page 52

CRO

FOR PLANNING

A NE
L
E
L
L
ER V I
K
S
A
B
1

0

1

2

3

OA
D(

A41
5 5)

O AD
EY R
WS L

Notes
1. Contents of this drawing are the copyright of Nick Baker Architects.
2. No dimensions to be scaled from this drawing.
3. All dimensions to be verified on site prior to commencement of works. Any
discrepancies shall be notified.
4. All dimensions are in millimetres unless noted otherwise.
5. All drawings to be read in conjunction with all specs scope of works and
schedules.
6. All levels to relate to OSBM.
7. All drawings to be read in conjunction with structural + M&E engineers
drawings and schedules.

4

5

N

RE
AD
ING
R

Unit Value : Metres

Key
Site Boundary

W
NE

AD
O
R

R1
R0

17/09/21
10/09/21
Rev.

Reserved Matters Submission
Reserved Matters submission Draft

Date

Description

Lower Shiplake
Project number: 2018

Existing Site Location Plan

Appendix A

Scale @A1:

1 : 1250

First Issue Date: 10/09/21

2018-NBA-Z-PA-A-000100
Agenda Item 10

Page 53

Appendix B
Page 54

Page 55

Page 56

Haileywood Farm Cottages

Notes
1. Contents of this drawing are the copyright of Nick Baker Architects.
2. No dimensions to be scaled from this drawing.
3. All dimensions to be verified on site prior to commencement of works. Any
discrepancies shall be notified.
4. All dimensions are in millimetres unless noted otherwise.
5. All drawings to be read in conjunction with all specs scope of works and
schedules.
6. All levels to relate to OSBM.
7. All drawings to be read in conjunction with structural + M&E engineers
drawings and schedules.

MAIN ENTRANCE

(A4155)
READING ROAD

FOR PLANNING
5

0

5

10

15

20

25

N

Unit Value : Metres

Key
Site Boundary

14

R1
R0

16

17/09/21
10/09/21
Rev.

Reserved Matters Submission
Reserved Matters submission Draft

Date

Description

Lower Shiplake
Project number: 2018

Solva

Proposed Site Block Plan
Scale @A1:

1 : 500

First Issue Date: 10/09/21

Little
Trentham

Page 57

Appendix C

2018-NBA-Z-PA-A-000202

Appendix D
Page 58

Appendix E

Appeal Decision
Inquiry Held on 10-14 September and 17 & 18 September 2019
Site visit made on 18 September 2019
by Kenneth Stone

BSC Hons DipTP MRTPI

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government
Decision date: 14th October 2019

Appeal Ref: APP/Q3115/W/19/3220425
Land to the east of Reading Road, Lower Shiplake
•
•
•
•

The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
against a refusal to grant outline planning permission.
The appeal is made by Retirement Villages Developments Ltd, Vortal Properties Ltd &
Dr Harjot Bal against the decision of South Oxfordshire District Council.
The application Ref P18/S3210/O, dated 21 September 2018, was refused by notice
dated 21 December 2018.
The development proposed is described as ‘the development of land to the east of
Reading Road to consist of an extra care development of up to 65 units comprising of
apartments and cottages (Use Class C2); associated communal facilities; provision of
vehicular and cycle parking together with all necessary internal roads and footpaths;
provision of open space and associated landscape works; and ancillary works and
structures’.

Decision
1. The appeal is allowed and planning permission is granted for the development
of land to the east of Reading Road to consist of an extra care development of
up to 65 units comprising of apartments and cottages (Use Class C2);
associated communal facilities; provision of vehicular and cycle parking
together with all necessary internal roads and footpaths; provision of open
space and associated landscape works; and ancillary works and structures at
Land to the east of Reading Road, Lower Shiplake in accordance with the terms
of the application, Ref P18/S3210/O, dated 21 September 2018, subject to the
conditions contained in the schedule at the end of this decision.
Procedural matters
2. The application seeks outline planning permission with all matters, except for
access, reserved for future consideration. The plans on which the Council took
its decision, and which are the subject of this appeal, were identified in the
Planning and Landscape Statement of Common Ground (PLSoCG) and
confirmed at the start of the Inquiry as Site Location Plan No. 4602-LP01A, Site
Parameters Plan 4602-PL110G, Building Parameters Plan 4602-PL111J and Site
Levels Parameters Plan 4602-PL113. The parameters plans confirm the
limitations on development and on which the landscape and various
assessments have been undertaken. The proposed access is shown on plan
1606-30 SK24 and a footway link to the north is detailed on plan 1606-30
SK19A. I have had regard to these plans in my decision.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 59

Appeal Decision APP/Q3115/W/19/3220425

3. The application was supported by an Illustrative Site layout 4602-PL112H. This
is an illustrative plan identifying one way in which the scheme could come
forward but does not form part of the formal details for which approval is
sought.
4. Two Statements of Common Ground had been produced in advance of the
Inquiry; the first related to Planning and Landscape matters and the second on
Highways matters. An Addendum to the Statement of Common Ground on
Highway Matters was submitted during the Inquiry (APP3). This confirmed that
it was agreed that South Oxfordshire District Council and Oxfordshire County
Council, as local planning authority and as highway authority respectively, no
longer sought to pursue any highway or transport related reasons for refusal.
This was on the basis of further speed surveys and additional plans identifying
that the visibility splays included on drawing SK24 were to be maintained and
that the details of the footway on drawing SK19 A could provide for a footway,
with a minimum width of 1.5m, within the highway boundary and that the
structure must be maintainable within the highway boundary or via
easement/land dedication. The structural details would be provided as part of a
section 278 agreement prior to implementation. As such the first part of reason
for refusal 1, related to accessibility by sustainable modes of transport, and the
entirety of reason for refusal 2, related to visibility and geometry of the
proposed access, had been satisfactorily addressed. These matters however
remained issues for third parties.
5. A completed planning obligation, dated 18 September 2019, in the form of an
agreement under section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as
amended (106 Agreement) was submitted on the final day of the Inquiry and I
deal with its provisions in my reasoning below.
6. Closing submissions were provided in writing at the close of the Inquiry but
were not read out. The appellant provided a brief response to the closing
submissions of the LPA in writing by the close of play on that day (APP15). The
LPA confirmed there were no additional matters raised on which they wished to
comment.
7. A completed planning obligation, dated 20 September 2019, in the form of a
Unilateral Undertaking under section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990 as amended (UU) was submitted, on 23 September 2019, (APP16) in line
with the timetable agreed at the Inquiry. I deal with its provisions in my
reasoning below.
8. It is agreed in the PLSoCG that a completed section 106 agreement would
partially address reason for refusal 4 in respect of the infrastructure needs of
the development. The Council confirmed in closing that it accepted that with
the Community Levy Infrastructure contributions and planning obligations
submitted by the appellant the development would make adequate provision
for its infrastructure needs therefore satisfactorily addressing reason for refusal
4 in respect of infrastructure matters, other than affordable housing.
Main Issues
9. On the basis of the above the main issues are:
•

Whether the proposed development is in accordance with the spatial
strategy;

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

2

Page 60

Appeal Decision APP/Q3115/W/19/3220425

•

The effect of the proposed development on the landscape character and
appearance of the surrounding area;

•

The effect of the use of the proposed access on highway safety of users
of Reading Road; and

•

Whether the proposal makes adequate provision for affordable housing.

Reasons
10. The development plan for the area comprises the South Oxfordshire District
Council Core Strategy (adopted December 2012) (CS) and the saved policies of
the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 (adopted January 2006) (LP).
11. The PLSoCG sets out the policies that the Council and appellant consider are
the most relevant to the appeal proposal at 3.4 (for the CS) and 3.6 (for the
LP).
12. The CS policies identified are: CSS1 which sets out the overall strategy for
development in the district. CSR1 which sets out the scale and nature of
housing in villages and also states that local character and distinctiveness will
be protected. CSM1 and CSM2 which seek to support improvements to
transport infrastructure, enable modal shift, encourage sustainable modes of
transport and ensure development proposals are supported by appropriate
transport assessments and travel plans amongst other matters. CSEN1 which
seeks to protect the landscape character and key features of the district
against inappropriate development. Policy CSQ3 seeks to ensure that new
development is of a high quality and inclusive design, while CSH3 requires 40%
affordable housing provision on all sites where there is a net gain of three or
more dwellings and CSH4 requires a mix of dwelling types and sizes to meet
the needs of current and future households (including specialist
accommodation for older people). CSI1 requires new development to be
supported by appropriate infrastructure.
13. In terms of the LP the policies identified are: G3 which seeks to resist
development that would give rise to development that would increase traffic in
relatively inaccessible or isolated rural locations. Policies G2, G4 and C4 which
seek to protect the environment, the countryside and the landscape setting of
settlements and which are generally carried forward into the CS by CSEN1. T1
which identifies transport requirements for new developments in respect of
access and convenience. Policy D1 which requires the principles of good design
and the protection and reinforcement of local distinctiveness to be taken into
account and D12 which requires a contribution to public art, although the
Council conceded that public art would not be appropriate given the nature of
the development.
14. The appellant also draws attention to policy CSH1, which sets the amount and
distribution of housing in the plan period, primarily on the basis of seeking to
justify that the plan is out of date as the requirement within the policy is based
on the revoked South East Regional Strategy and not set on the basis of an
objectively assessed need, amongst other matters.
15. The aforementioned policies include the policies referred to in the reasons for
refusal and given the main issues I have identified I am satisfied that they are
the policies most important for determining this appeal.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

3

Page 61

Appeal Decision APP/Q3115/W/19/3220425

16. The South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2033 is in preparation. It has been
submitted for examination with two sets of initial questions and comments
provided noting that a further set will be produced. I was also informed that
newly elected members are taking the opportunity to consider the plan and
how to proceed. Given the current position, stage of plan preparation and the
remaining steps required before adoption the plan and its policies can be given
no more than limited weight. This is a matter agreed by the parties in the
PLSoCG.
17. There is also a Neighbourhood Plan area designated for Shiplake and Lower
Shiplake. However as yet no draft plan has been published.
18. Housing Land Supply in Oxfordshire: Written Statement HCWS955 (WMS) was
a Written Ministerial Statement by the Secretary of State for Ministry of
Housing Communities and Local Government. As part of its commitment to the
Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal the government introduced planning
freedoms and flexibilities to support the ambitious plan-led approach for
housing in Oxfordshire. For the purposes of decision taking authorities in
Oxfordshire need only demonstrate a 3 year supply of deliverable housing sites
in the context of paragraph 11(d) in the National Planning Policy Framework
(the Framework).
Spatial Strategy
19. The overall strategy for the CS is set out in CSS1 and seeks to focuses major
development at Didcot, while supporting the regeneration of the town centres
of the main towns and enhancing the larger villages. Other villages in the rest
of the district, which would include Lower Shiplake, will be supported by
allowing for limited amounts of housing and employment. Outside the towns
and villages any change will need to relate to a specific need. Policy CSR1 then
provides the policy framework for dealing with housing in villages and states
housing will be allowed where the scale and nature of development is as set
out in the table. The table entries for smaller villages, which Lower Shiplake is
identified as, provides for infill development on sites of up to 0.2 ha (equivalent
to 5-6 houses) and rural exceptions if need shown.
20. The proposal seeks consent for the development of a field on the edge of a
smaller village, Lower Shiplake. The plan does not, through policy, identify
countryside, but in the context of this appeal and on the basis of my site visit I
am satisfied that the site is beyond the built up part of lower Shiplake and
more appropriately considered to be countryside, not within the village, albeit it
is adjacent to the settlement edge, I address this matter in greater detail
below. Given the definition of infill development in the CS the scheme would
not constitute infill and the site is not a rural exception or would not relate to
the specific needs of agricultural industry or enhancement of the environment.
These are matters accepted in the PLSoCG. On this basis the proposal is in
direct conflict with policies CSS1 and CSR1.
21. In the context of the specific development type, an extra care development,
Policy CSH4, which seeks a mix of dwelling types and sizes to meet the needs
of current and future households, at bullet point 4, states specialist
accommodation for older people should be provided in the new greenfield
neighbourhoods and will be permitted in other suitable locations. Advice on
suitable locations can be seen at paragraph 7.42 following the policy which
advises such accommodation should be located on sites in or adjacent to the
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

4

Page 62

Appeal Decision APP/Q3115/W/19/3220425

towns or within the larger villages. The site does not meet the requirements of
policy CSH4 with which it conflicts in this regard.
22. On this issue I conclude that the proposed development conflicts with the
spatial strategy and in particular policies CSS1, CSR1 and CSH4 in so far as it
directs specialist accommodation for older people.
Character and appearance
23. The site is located in the National Character Area 110: Chilterns but the parties
agree that given the scale of development it would have little influence on the
overall character of the NCA. Of more relevance is the Landscape Character
Assessment for the Local Plan 2033 dated November 2017. This identifies the
site as lying within the Thames Valley and Fringes Character Area and within
that within the semi enclosed dip slope landscape type. The key characteristics
of this landscape type highlight the sloping ground around the foot of the
Chilterns dip slope next to the valley floor around Lower Shiplake. Bullet points
two and four draw attention to the mixture of medium scale fields and smaller
scale field pattern and the predominantly rural character with ribbon
development on minor roads and localised influences from roads and built-up
areas around settlement edges. Importantly they, in particular, draw attention
to a differentiation between land to the west of the A4155 which has medium
scaled fields and a predominantly rural character and by inference less urban
influences. The key characteristics of the area also include a strong structure of
hedgerows, trees and small blocks of woodland providing visual containment
and moderate intervisibility.
24. The appeal site is an unmanaged field, including encroaching scrub, with a
shallow dry valley and is enclosed on three sides with mature tree and hedge
vegetation. The fourth side has an open fence demarking the boundary. The
site is reasonably representative of the character area and the landscape type
east of the A4155. The existing boundary vegetation in association with the
general land form and topography in the area results in the site being visually
contained with limited intervisibility from medium and longer views from all
surrounding directions. The site is heavily influenced by the settlement edge of
Lower Shiplake, particularly to the north east where the properties in
Baskerville Lane do not have any significant vegetation on the boundaries.
25. The settlement edge around Lower Shiplake is not well defined. There are
areas where there is an evident strong urban edge such as at Baskerville Lane.
However, there are large detached properties dispersed along New Road to the
east of the site, along Mill Lane to the south east and at the junction of Mill
Lane, New Road and the A4155 to the South. Similarly, although on the west
side of the A4155 Woodlands Road incorporates large detached properties.
Characteristics similar to these lead the Inspector in respect of an appeal at
Thames Farm (APP/Q3115/W/16/3161733), a short distance to the north west,
to describe the area, in terms, as ‘developed countryside’. This resulted from a
recognition that the site was outside the settlement, within the countryside, as
here, but also recognising the distinction between the more rural larger field
patterns to the west of the A4155 with areas which although within the
countryside were strongly affected by urban influences including the urban
edge of the settlement and development along minor roads in the surrounding
area which were not within the built up area of the settlement but still had an
important influence on the character of the locality. Whilst a somewhat unusual

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

5

Page 63

Appeal Decision APP/Q3115/W/19/3220425

phrase it is a reasonable characterisation of the area surrounding this appeal
site also.
26. The strong degree of containment resultant from topography and vegetation
would significantly reduce the impact of the development of the site on the
character of the area. An impact that would be further reduced with structural
landscaping, maturing planting and the management and maintenance of the
existing tree and hedge screening. The replacement of the field with built
development would have a negative effect but given the level of containment
and the urban influences close by this would not significantly detract from the
wider character of the landscape and the negative effects would be localised
and limited.
27. In terms of the visual effect and the appearance of the area again the strong
containment created by vegetative cover on the principal site frontage of the
A4155 would ensure that there would be limited views into the site. These
features would be further strengthened with landscaping and managed,
following development, ensuring any residual effect would be reduced. There
would, self-evidently, be the loss of some trees on this frontage to facilitate the
access which would provide for an opening up of views into the development at
the access point but this would be limited in width and not dissimilar to other
accesses and junctions in the vicinity of the site. The opening of views into the
development would result in a negative effect that would be harmful however
with no footways on the A4155 past or opposite the site the views would be
from motorists or passengers in passing vehicles and would be for a limited
duration.
28. The proposals are in outline although parameters plans form part of the
proposals and identify areas where built development would occur, buffer zones
where built development would not be provided, but include landscaping, and
structural landscaping zones. The parameters plans also identify building
heights. Reserved matters details in respect of the development would give the
Council control over building footprints, detailed design, articulation in the built
form, elevational treatment etc. In this regard concerns over a potential
institutional appearance of the development could be addressed and a more
domestic appearance of development secured. Even so there are examples of
institutional buildings in the area, Shiplake College, and larger detached
domestic buildings such that the scale and nature of buildings could reasonably
be controlled to ensure the buildings did not appear significantly out of
keeping.
29. To the east of the site the properties in New Road sit on higher ground and
would have views down into the site, there would also be glimpsed views for
walkers along New Road, albeit such views would be limited in number given
the screening of hedges along the boundaries of the road. Similarly, there
would be views of the development from properties in Baskerville Lane given
the open eastern boundary and the open boundaries to these properties. The
proposals parameters plans identify a strong landscape buffer around the north
eastern corner of the site which would assist in mitigating the effect of the
development when matured. Although there is no entitlement to a view the
appearance of the area would change and would be adversely affected for a
number of receptors in the immediate vicinity of the site, albeit this would
reduce as landscaping matured.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

6

Page 64

Appeal Decision APP/Q3115/W/19/3220425

30. Further afield, in views from the west, the dipping topography and tree screen
would ensure that there was limited if any views of the development once
completed and landscaping had matured. If limited views are obtained this
would be of roof tops amongst a well treed landscape and would be reasonably
integrated with the existing character and appearance of the area. Similarly
views from the south would be restricted and limited due to topography and
tree cover and structural landscaping would reduce any residual effects.
31. Insofar as the development would have an effect on the separation of
settlements and in particular Shiplake and Lower Shiplake an undeveloped field
would be developed on the edge of Lower Shiplake that is closer to Shiplake.
However, this is at a low point in the surrounding topography and well
screened. There is limited intervisibility between the settlements. There is
dispersed development at the Cross Roads of the A4155 and Mill Lane and
development along Mill Lane and New Road, these areas already provide
development in the intervening area between Shiplake and Lower Shiplake. On
that basis I am satisfied that there would not be harm to the separation of
settlements resultant from the proposed development.
32. Given the above I conclude that the proposed development would conflict with
LP policies G2, G4 and C4 which seek to protect the countryside and landscape
setting of settlements in the district, albeit this harm would be localised and
limited. Similarly, there would be conflict with CS policy CSEN1 which brings
these policy protections forward into the CS to protect the countryside and
where possible enhance it.
Highway safety
33. In the HSoCG, as supplemented by the addendum to the HSoCG (APP3), it was
confirmed that Oxfordshire County Council, as local highway authority, SODC,
as local planning authority and the appellant agreed that the proposed access
junction and previously agreed visibility splays would be acceptable (at both 30
mph and 40 mph speed limits) as illustrated on SK24. It is also agreed that a
footway of a minimum width of 1.5m and associated structures could be
provided within the highway boundary. In the light of these points it is
accepted by the main parties that the first part of reason for refusal 1, related
to accessibility, and the whole of reason for refusal 2, related to visibility at and
geometry of the access, had been satisfactorily addressed.
34. Safety and accessibility concerns however have been raised by local residents
the parish council and the Oxfordshire County Councillor.
35. Although Inquiry time was spent debating the recent change to the increased
speed limit the additional evidence in terms of speed surveys and overtaking
surveys demonstrate that the average speeds had not increased and where of
a similar order during the operation of the 30 mph speed limit and the 40 mph
speed limit. The technical highway experts accept that the evidence
demonstrated that the visibility splays where adequate. There was no robust or
credible evidence to justify departing from the position agreed in the
Statements of Common Ground. Similarly there was no challenge to the
geometry of the access.
36. In terms of the footway the proposal shows a new footway from the north
western corner of the site along the eastern boundary of the A4155 to join with
the footway further to the north. This footway would be a minimum of 1.5m in
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

7

Page 65

Appeal Decision APP/Q3115/W/19/3220425

width and include a retaining structure. Although concerns were raised that
there would be insufficient space to accommodate a footway, retaining
structure and space to maintain such, the evidence provided demonstrates that
a footpath and retaining structure could be erected within the space. The
structures would have a long lifespan and given the nature of the detail could
be inspected from within the highway boundary. The detail of the footway and
maintenance would be further secured through the UU for works in the
highway. The details of the design of the footway link can be secured by
condition. On this basis I am satisfied that the footway link can be achieved
and would facilitate pedestrian access to Lower Shiplake.
37. Whilst there were concerns raised that given the nature of future residents the
gradients within the site and the distance would make this unattractive.
However, although for elderly occupants these are not necessarily infirm and
the detail of the gradients could be designed to accommodate resting locations.
Moreover, the pedestrian access would also enable access by foot for visitors
and employees etc. The footway link would therefore improve the accessibility
of the site for modes of transport other than the private car.
38. Concern was also expressed that although the footway link may provide access
to nearby bus stops given the nature of the residents the bus stops,
particularly that on the west side of the A4155, would remain unattractive for
residents due to the volume and speed of traffic. Again these stops would be
reasonably attractive for visitors and employees and given the evidence from
the Highways witness regarding interval spacing particularly outside the rush
hours I am satisfied that the bus stops would be a viable method of transport
for those who chose to use them.
39. The application was supported by a transport assessment and an outline travel
plan and a detailed travel plan can be secured by condition.
40. The nature of the development includes the provision of facilities for future
residents, which can include an onsite shop for day to day needs, library, and
community facilities. A mini bus service is secured through the section 106
planning obligation to facilitate planned trips for future residents this would
further add to the ability for future residents to access surrounding facilities by
means of transport other than the private car. The nature of the residents,
given the age restriction for occupation of the development, would reduce the
need for access to employment, schools, sports facilities etc. Overall given the
combination of services and facilities, the existing access arrangements and
proposals and the nature of the future residents I am satisfied that the
proposed development would be reasonably accessible for this form of
development.
41. On the basis of the above I am satisfied that the proposed development would
not result in an adverse effect in terms of highway safety for users of Reading
Road (A4155). There would therefore be no conflict with policies CSM1 of the
CS or policies T1 and G3 of the LP and that it would be in accordance with
CSM2 of the CS.
Affordable housing
42. Policy CSH3 in the CS states 40% affordable housing will be sought on all sites
where there is a net gain of three or more dwellings subject to viability. The
main parties challenge the interpretation of the policy as contended by the
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

8

Page 66

Appeal Decision APP/Q3115/W/19/3220425

other party. As Mr Green points out the meaning of development plan policy is
a matter of legal interpretation. To that end I have been provided with various
opinions from each side setting out the legal basis of their interpretation and
why it should be followed. There is no clear and unequivocal legal position that
emerges from those opinions. What is clear is that the policy is not
unambiguous or clear hence the differing opinions. A point further confirmed
by the fact SODC had not applied policy CSH3 affordable housing requirement
in respect of C2 development until relatively recently.
43. The proposed development is agreed to be C2. That is a residential institution
in the context of the Use Classes Order. The policy as read states that the
required level of affordable housing will be sought on sites where there is a net
gain of three or more dwellings. The issue revolves around, in part, whether
the accommodation provided would result in the provision of dwellings. As
individual elements it is not unreasonable to consider each of the separate
units of accommodation as dwellings. They have the form, function and
facilities one would associate with a dwelling. However the development
proposed is more than the provision of individual units it is the collection of a
number of units the occupation of which is restricted and which the occupants
have access to communal facilities and which require occupants to have a level
of care need; hence the C2 classification. It would be inappropriate to dissect
the development into its constituent parts and conclude that one element
triggered the affordable housing threshold. The policy refers to the site. The
site in this case incorporates the whole development. The development
consists of an extra care development of up to 65 units comprising of
apartments and cottages (Use Class C2) and associated communal facilities.
Parts of the development could not be implemented independently, the
communal facilities and extra care is an integral component of the
development. In this regard I am of the view that the development does not
result in a net gain of three or more dwellings but results in the provision of an
extra care development of up to 65 units comprising of apartments and
cottages (Use Class C2) and associated communal facilities, as the description
of development confirms.
44. I was also referred to policy CSH4 by the Council to support its contention and
in particular the reasoned justification at paragraph 7.42 where it states ‘where
any scheme providing specialist accommodation for the elderly (with or without
care) includes an affordable housing component, this can count towards the
overall 40% affordable housing requirement if part of a wider development’. I
draw two points from this paragraph; firstly, the first sentence refers to ‘where
appropriate, specialist accommodation should be provided on a mixed tenure
basis…’ this would suggest that it is only in appropriate circumstances meaning
there are circumstances where it would not be appropriate. I would suggest
that that could very well be in the context of a retirement village where the
service charge and model requires a different approach as discussed above.
Secondly, the very fact there is a need in the paragraph to confirm that any
affordable provision made within schemes for specialist accommodation can
count towards the 40% affordable housing provision suggests, or appears to
treat, the two as different elements.
45. The Council do not seek on site provision which the third bullet point of the
paragraph requires. In this context the Council recognise the very different
nature and model of the proposed development and therefore seek a payment
in lieu. The calculation of the payment is not set out in policy or guidance and
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

9

Page 67

Appeal Decision APP/Q3115/W/19/3220425

even if I concluded it was appropriate to make such provision I am not satisfied
that the level of contribution sought has been fully justified.
46. The final element I have had regard to is the basis on which the policy was
justified. I accept that it is not appropriate to seek meaning for the
interpretation of policy in background documents outside the plan. However,
there is some strength in the argument that the justification for the 40%
threshold and viability assessment related to the core strategy sought to justify
the threshold based on market housing and did not consider extra care housing
and whether this would be a viable threshold for that form of development. It
would appear the Council acknowledge that position in that such work has been
undertaken in the context of the emerging development plan. It is not for me
to go into the detail of that in this appeal, however the fact such work is being
undertaken acknowledges that there is potentially different consequences of a
threshold for affordable housing for different types of development. When
added to how the Council originally interpreted the policy for a number of years
after its adoption, such that it did not require affordable housing on C2
developments, this in my view reflected its understanding of the policy as
originally conceived and drafted and implemented.
47. On the basis of the above I conclude that there is not a requirement for the
provision of affordable housing from the proposed development through policy
CSH3 with which the proposals do not therefore conflict.
Other matters
48. South Oxfordshire District Council is one of the authorities that has signed up
to the Oxfordshire Housing and Growth Deal. As a consequence the WMS
referred to above confirms that for the purposes of decision taking authorities
in Oxfordshire need only demonstrate a 3 year supply of deliverable housing
sites in the context of paragraph 11(d) in the National Planning Policy
Framework (the Framework). The PLSoCG confirms that the Council has been
able to demonstrate a three year supply of housing land since 2018. The CS is
more than 5 years old and therefore the standard method for the calculation of
the 5 year housing supply position should be used. In APP2 the appellant sets
out its position on the 5 year housing supply position. Whilst it seeks to
discount a number of supply sites from the Council’s supply position, from its
statement dated June 2019 (9.75 using the standard method or 5.17 based on
the Local Plan), based on the definitions in the Framework the appellant still
concludes that based on the standard method the Council could demonstrate a
6.26 years supply, whilst measured against the Local Plan it would be 3.22
years. Given the WMS flexibility the Council need only demonstrate a 3 year
supply for decision taking purposes and therefore which ever way it is
calculated paragraph 11(d) of the Framework is not engaged due to a failure to
make an adequate housing land supply provision. I note the Council dispute the
appellant’s supply side figures however there is little value in conducting a
forensic examination of the position given the overall conclusions.
49. The Appellant does not seek to make the case that paragraph 11(d) is engaged
due to a shortfall in the housing land supply position or in respect of the
Housing Delivery Test, which the Authority meets.
50. Concerns have been expressed with regard to the additional noise and
disturbance that would be introduced as a result of the development. The site
is not a tranquil location. The main road A4155 runs past the site, the
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

10

Page 68

Appeal Decision APP/Q3115/W/19/3220425

settlement edge of Lower Shiplake is in close proximity to the northern
boundary. There are residential properties to the east on New Road. The
proposed development would provide for accommodation for elderly people.
There would be some consequent increase in activity given the site is presently
an open field and would be developed such that attendant noise associate with
comings and goings and general movements would be introduced. However,
these are not significantly different from the residential accommodation of
Lower Shiplake and the surrounding development. It would not lead to a
significant increase in noise and disturbance.
51. Property values, per se, are not material. The factors that may lead to such
changes such as changes to the character and appearance of the area or
proximity to development and the consequences of it are matters that I have
had regard to in considering this appeal.
52. The living conditions of the occupants of nearby properties through a loss of
outlook would not result in a material effect. There is adequate separation
between the existing properties and the site. The site proposals also include
additional structural landscaping and planting which would further mitigate any
impact.
53. Lighting of the site was discussed and it was suggested that this would
primarily be through bollard lighting. The appellant’s landscape witness
confirmed that he had reviewed the sky on a site visit and did not consider that
there was an issue in terms of additional lighting. Lighting can be more fully
addressed through condition or the reserved matters and I have no evidence
before this inquiry to demonstrate that there is an in principle objection on this
ground and there is no reason why an acceptable lighting scheme could not be
designed.
Benefits
54. The PLSoCG recognises and agrees that there is a high level of need for
housing for older people in the Oxfordshire Housing Market Area and within
South Oxfordshire. Indeed, in closing the Council accepts that, and continues to
accept, that whatever the estimate of need that is used there is a need for
extra care housing and that the appeal scheme would help to meet that need.
The Council however do question the extent and nature of that need.
55. It is not disputed that there is an ageing population in South Oxfordshire, with
significant increases projected for the over 75 age range. It is also not disputed
that South Oxfordshire has a significant owner occupation rate, above the
national average, and that this is more so for older people. The need to
address the needs of this section of the population is therefore likely to
increase. A position that the Oxfordshire Market Position Statement 2019-2022
(OMPS) draws attention to.
56. The Council introduced the OMPS to the inquiry to support its position
regarding the nature and extent of that need but accepted that it did not have
the expertise or evidence to robustly defend or explain the conclusions or
evidence upon which that document was based. The document seeks to
address the position of the County Council and NHS Oxfordshire Clinical
Commissioning Group to enable engagement with care providers across all
services to ensure the population has access to a wide range of good value,
high quality and innovative services. However, in respect of Extra Care
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

11

Page 69

Appeal Decision APP/Q3115/W/19/3220425

housing it specifically excludes retirement villages from its definition of Extra
Care housing. It does however also encourage the development of retirement
villages as it recognises that these will suit the needs of many Oxfordshire
residents.
57. The assessment of need in the OMPS is based on an estimate of need of 25
‘extra care units’ for every 1000 people aged over 75 derived from the Housing
Learning & Improvement Network fact sheet 1. The appellant has undertaken
its own assessment of need and identified a need based on 45 units per 1000
people, split two thirds for leasehold and one third rented based on the tenure
profile in the area. The OMPS also projects provision based on assumed
provision up to 2026 and 2031. There is little clarity on the degree of certainty
of this assumed provision. The parties accept that the appropriate forum for a
detailed analysis of the level of need would be more appropriately at a Local
Plan examination and given the lack of robust analysis of the derivation of
much of the OMPS figures there are legitimate reservations around, what the
statement actually seeks to cover, whether this represents an assessment of
the minimum need in the district or a reasonably achievable target. When
added to the specific exclusion of retirement villages from consideration in the
document this undermines the weight that I put on this document in this
appeal.
58. On the basis of the above, in broad terms, I am satisfied that there is a need
for the provision of extra care housing, that that need is high, and given the
population profile that the need is likely to increase. There is currently under
provision to meet that need and the evidence I have before this Inquiry to
suggest that that need would be met in the medium to longer term is not
robust. I am therefore satisfied that this is a factor which should weigh
positively in the planning balance and given the evidence before me my
judgement would be that that should attract significant weight.
59. In terms of the benefits that derive from the provision of extra care housing
these are not significantly challenged. There would be an advantage to the
future residents of the development as the specialist housing would provide for
a range of lifestyle facilities for social, cultural, educational and recreational
activity. There is access to a range of services and care that can respond
flexibly to the needs of the residents. There are advantages to health providers
as the care needs of residents can be changed dependant on circumstances
which can facilitate earlier discharge from hospitals as support in the home can
be easily organised, this has obvious cost advantages. Care provision at this
point can also reduce the need for admissions to hospital and other pressures
on GP and A&E services. There is evidence that demonstrates the provision of
specialist housing would have a role in freeing up under occupied family
housing, facilitating downsizing, bringing this housing back onto the market.
There is with significant proportions of households over 65 under occupying
properties in South Oxfordshire. Given the reasonable scale of this
development I give these benefits derived from the occupation of this
development significant weight.
60. Concern was expressed regarding the mix of the size of units provided as this
was focused on two bed units. There is the opportunity to address this at
reserved matters and a number of the units could have a third bedroom
identified within the models currently operated by the developer. There was
evidence to suggest that two bedrooms are more appropriate for this type of
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

12

Page 70

Appeal Decision APP/Q3115/W/19/3220425

development but that is a matter that can reasonably be explored in the
reserved matters application and would not change my conclusion on the
principle of the proposal or the benefits derived from it.
61. The proposal would also result in wider economic benefits through construction
jobs and local investment during construction, expenditure in the local
economy following occupation, and employment at the facility. I give these
benefits moderate weight given the nature and scale of development.
Conditions and Planning Obligations
62. A list of suggested conditions was discussed at the Inquiry, APP6. In
considering the conditions to impose in the event that the appeal is allowed I
had regard to the advice in the relevant section of the Planning Practice
Guidance. The conditions that are imposed are set out in the schedule at the
end of this decision, the following references to condition numbers are in
relation to the conditions there. Minor textual changes to those in the schedule
have been made to ensure the conditions are precise and enforceable. A
number of suggested conditions have not been imposed as they covered
matters more properly addressed through the reserved matters or to avoid
duplication of effect.
63. Conditions 1-3 are standard time limit conditions for outline permissions while
conditions 4-6 detail the development approved and the plans on which the
decision is based to ensure clarity. Conditions 7 and 8 require additional details
of highway and transport matters to ensure the safe and efficient operation of
the highway and ensure the development would be reasonably served with
modes of transport other than the private car.
64. Conditions 9 and 10 require details of mitigation for biodiversity and ecological
matters to address the impacts of the development. Condition 11 requires
necessary details to be included in the landscaping reserved matter to protect
and retain trees to ensure the development is undertaken in accordance with
the proposals as assessed.
65. Condition 12 is required to protect the living conditions of occupants of the
surrounding properties and in the interests of Highway safety. Conditions 13 –
15 are required to ensure the development incorporates suitable drainage.
Condition 16 is required in the interest of the character and appearance of the
area and in the interests of ecology. Conditions 17 and 18 are required to
ensure that the development would be safeguarded from any contamination
and to safeguard any buried archaeological remains, respectively, that may
exist.
66. Two planning obligations, a 106 agreement and a UU, have been completed as
referred to above. I deal with the provisions of each of these separately.
67. The 106 agreement secures obligations between the Owner, developer, district
Council and County Council. Schedule 1 provides for contributions towards
street naming and numbering and where necessary refuse collection (in the
event a private refuse collection operator is not procured). These are
necessary infrastructure requirements resultant from the development.
Schedule 2 controls the nature of development and its occupation. Including
restrictions on age, requirement for care, necessity for health assessment and
provision of personal care. The provisions also include the requirement to

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

13

Page 71

Appeal Decision APP/Q3115/W/19/3220425

secure the services of a care agency, require a basic care package, the
provision of communal facilities, details of the operation of the management
company and the provision of a mini bus. These matters are required to
ensure the development provides extra care accommodation in line with the
description of development and on the basis of the level of care and facilities
that have supported the assessment of the impact of the development.
68. Schedule 3 of the 106 agreement secures financial contributions to the County
Council to improve the availability of bus services following the Reading-Henley
route and towards monitoring the implementation of the travel plan. The
contributions are required to ensure the development is adequately served by
means of transport other than the private car.
69. Schedule 4 are reciprocal obligations on the District and County Councils to use
the contributions towards their intended purpose and to repay any unused
moneys after an appropriate period. These are required to ensure the proper
implementation and use of the referenced obligations.
70. The UU is made by the owner and developer to Oxfordshire County Council and
in which they covenant to enter into the Highways agreement and carry out
highway works to provide for a footway along the eastern side of Reading
Road. The obligations also require provision of a traffic calming scheme. The
works should all include necessary preparatory and ancillary works and
amenity and accommodation works.
71. In so far as the footway requirements these are necessary to ensure the site is
reasonably connected to Reading Road and Lower Shiplake and to ensure the
development is adequately served by means of transport other than the private
car.
72. The traffic calming measures have been offered by the appellant as an
additional method of improving road safety and controlling vehicle speeds.
Both parties accept that the scheme is acceptable without the traffic calming
providing adequate visibility and a safe means of access and egress to the site,
as I have found above. Whilst the UU includes provisions to secure these traffic
calming measures, given that they are not necessary to make the development
acceptable, I cannot have regard to them as a reason for granting permission.
Planning Balance
73. Planning law requires that applications for planning permission are to be
determined in accordance with the development plan unless material
considerations indicate otherwise. The Framework is a significant material
consideration.
74. Paragraph 11(d) of the Framework advises that where there are no relevant
development plan policies, or the policies which are most important for
determining the application are out-of-date planning permission should be
granted unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and
demonstrably out weigh the benefits when assessed against the policies in the
Framework taken as a whole, the tilted balance as it has become known. It is
not part of any parties’ case that there are no relevant development plan
policies in this case. There are not policies in the Framework that protect areas
or assets of particular importance. The operation of the tilted balance is
therefore down to whether policies are out-of-date. Footnote 7 identifies that

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

14

Page 72

Appeal Decision APP/Q3115/W/19/3220425

policies would be out of date where the Council could not demonstrate a five
year housing land supply, or where the Housing Delivery Test fell below a
certain threshold. The five year housing land supply test in this appeal is
adjusted to three years in this area, given the WMS. Neither of these
circumstances persist here. However these are not the only circumstances that
could lead to a conclusion policies were out of date. The appellant’s contention
is that the development plan’s housing requirement is out of date and therefore
the housing policies that flow from that are out of date, as are other policies
which constrain housing in the district, and indeed the plan is out-of-date as
the provision of an adequate and up-to-date housing requirement is a
necessary element of the development plan and without it the plan is not
consistent with the Framework and is therefore out-of-date. It is also
contended that specific policies are not consistent with the Framework.
75. Policy CSH1 sets the housing requirement for the district and distributes it to
Didcot and the rest of the district. The requirement although adopted following
the publication of the 2012 Framework was based on a requirement derived
from the revoked South East Regional Strategy and was not based on an
objectively assessed need. On this basis it is not consistent with the
Framework and is out-of-date. The overall strategy set in CSS1, that for
housing in villages set in CSR1 and for housing mix (including for the elderly)
in CSH4 are set in the context of CSH1 and therefore must logically have had
regard to that overall requirement in seeking to set the strategy. In that regard
I reduce the weight that I afford to them because they will constrain housing
development in the context of the overall requirement. However, the
strategies do identify locations where development should and should not take
place by directing development within an overall settlement hierarchy and this
is not inconsistent with the Framework. The Council is able to demonstrate a 3
year housing supply, as required by the WMS, albeit this may be through
permitting development in spite of the policies rather than in accordance with
them. Overall, I therefore attach significant weight to these policies.
76. I have concluded above that the development would conflict with the spatial
strategy including policies CSS1, CSR1 and CSH4. The general thrust of the
spatial strategy is to protect the character of the district and ensure
development is directed towards the most accessible locations in the
settlement hierarchy. It is appropriate to ensure that development is directed
towards the most suitable locations in the hierarchy for the type of
development and that higher order settlements are self-evidently more
accessible and sustainable. However, I have concluded that the effect on the
character and appearance of the area would be localised and limited and that
the development, given its nature, would be reasonably accessible. The weight
I therefore attach to the conflict with the spatial strategy, the weight of which I
have judged as moderate, is therefore also moderate.
77. The site is not a valued landscape but there are a number of policies in the
development plan that seek to protect the countryside, landscape and require
that the development should be of a high quality in keeping with the character
of the area. These include policies G2, G4 and C4 from the LP and policy CSEN1
in the CS. These policies engage with the Framework’s advice to contribute to
and enhance the natural and local environment by recognising the intrinsic
character and beauty of the countryside. However, they were formulated at a
time where the advice provided the greater degree of ‘protection’ rather than
‘recognition’ as now. In that regard whilst they seek to address a matter
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

15

Page 73

Appeal Decision APP/Q3115/W/19/3220425

identified in the Framework there is a more onerous burden placed on the
development. Whilst there is still a requirement that these matters are
material and should weigh in the balance they seek to protect the countryside
and landscape setting of settlements in the district. In this regard because of
this inconsistency I reduce the weight afforded to these policies, a point
emphasised by the fact that if applied in a strict reading they would further
constrain housing and given the overall requirement on which the plan is
predicated is out of date would potentially frustrate much needed housing
development. I therefore give these policies moderate weight. I have
concluded that the harm occasioned would be localised and limited and I
therefore conclude that the overall weight afforded to the conflict with these
policies would be moderate.
78. The proposals do not conflict with the affordable housing policies, the highway/
transport policies, policies specifically in respect of design or policies with
regard to the provision of infrastructure in the development plan given my
conclusions above. There is therefore no conflict with CS policies CSM1, CSM2,
CSQ3, CSH3, or CSI1 or LP policies T1, G3 or D1.
79. On the basis of the above conclusions I am of the view that taken as a whole
and given the conflict with the spatial strategy and landscape policies the
development would not be in accordance with the development plan. However,
on the basis of the information before this Inquiry, and taking the policies
together those that are most important for the determination of this appeal are
out of date and therefore the tilted balance at paragraph 11 (d) of the
Framework is engaged.
80. The benefits associated with the scheme are substantial, including addressing
the need for extra care accommodation, in part, with the consequent benefits
of freeing up under occupied properties, benefits to health care providers and
the social, cultural, recreational and educational benefits for future occupiers.
Added to which there would be the moderate positive economic benefits
associated with the development. These benefits would not be substantially
and demonstrably outweighed by the limited and localised adverse impacts to
the landscape, to which I have given moderate weight, or the harm to the
overall spatial strategy, to which I have also given moderate weight. This harm
to the spatial strategy is also somewhat tempered by the specialist nature of
the development, for elderly residents, such that it is not for a standard
housing development. The proposal would therefore benefit from the
presumption in favour of sustainable development in the Framework, a
significant material consideration that would justify granting planning
permission not in accordance with the development.
81. Even if the tilted balance were not engaged I am satisfied that the benefits
associated with the development would outweigh the harm and would still
provide for the material considerations that would be required to grant
permission for the development not in accordance with the development plan.
Overall conclusions
82. For the reasons given above I conclude that the appeal should be allowed.

Kenneth Stone
INSPECTOR
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

16

Page 74

Appeal Decision APP/Q3115/W/19/3220425

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

17

Page 75

Appeal Decision APP/Q3115/W/19/3220425

APPEARANCES
FOR THE LOCAL PLANNING AUTHORITY:
Robin Green, Barrister

Instructed by Solicitor to South Oxfordshire
District Council

He called
Peter Radmall MA,
B.Phil, CMLI

Peter Radmall Associates

Tracey Smith, BA (Hons) Principal Appeals Officer, South Oxfordshire and
MRTPI
Vale of White Horse District Councils
FOR THE APPELLANT:
Christopher Young QC
Assisted by
Howard Leithead

Instructed by Iain Warner Director Tetlow King
Planning

He called
James Donagh BA
(Hons) MCD, MIED

Director Barton Wilmore

Nigel Appleton

Executive Chairman Contact Consulting (Oxford)
Ltd

Richard Garside BSc
(Hons) MRICS

Director and Head of Development Consultancy
at GL Hearn at time of submission of Proof. At
the Inquiry he confirmed he had left that
company and set up a new firm.

Guy Flintoff BA (Hons),
DipTP, DipUD, MRTPI
James Darrall BSc
(Hons), MSc, CMILT,
MCIHT
Nick Ireland BA (Hons)
MTPI, MRTPI

Planning Director Retirement Villages Ltd
Associate Director, Transport Planning Associates

Director, Strategic Planning Team, Iceni Projects
Limited

Patrick Clark BA, MA
Lsc. Arch., CMLI

Associate Landscape Planner Barton Wilmore LLP

Iain Warner BSc (Hons),
DipTP, MRTPI.

Director, Tetlow King Planning

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

18

Page 76

Appeal Decision APP/Q3115/W/19/3220425

INTERESTED PERSONS:
Tina Dalzell
Fred Maroudas
Leigh Rawlins
David Bartholomew
D Smith

Local Resident
Chair Shiplake Parish Council
District Councillor South Oxfordshire District
Council
County Councillor Oxfordshire County Council
Local Resident Lower Shiplake

DOCUMENTS submitted by Appellant
APP1
Appellant’s opening statement
APP2
Paper on five year housing land supply by Tetlow King Planning on
behalf of the Appellant
APP3
Addendum to Statement of Common Ground on Highways Matters
APP4
Draft Unilateral Deed of Planning Obligation pursuant to section
106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended)
APP5
Draft updated Deed of Agreement under section 106 of the Town
and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended)
APP6
Draft list of suggested conditions
APP7
Statutory Instrument 2013 No. 427 – The Regional Strategy for
the South East (Partial Revocation) Order 2013
APP8
Extract of Inspectors report on the examination of the South
Oxfordshire Core Strategy
APP9
Amendments to Tables 19, 20 and 21 in Mr Appleton’s Proof of
Evidence
APP10 Technical Note 7 – Supplementary Proof of Evidence of James
Darrall
APP11 Draft proposed route for accompanied site visit
APP12 Appeal decision APP/G1630/W/14/3001706
APP13 Certified copy of completed Deed of Agreement under section 106
of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended)
APP14 Closing submissions on behalf of the appellant
APP15 Written response to the Council’s closing submissions on behalf of
the appellant
APP16 Certified copy of completed Unilateral Deed of Planning Obligation
pursuant to section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990 (as amended)
DOCUMENTS submitted by South Oxfordshire District Council
SODC1
Appeal Statement on behalf of the local highway authority –
Oxfordshire County Council
SODC2
Opening statement on behalf of the South Oxfordshire District
Council
SODC3
a) Oxfordshire Market Position Statement 2019-2022
b) Email correspondence between District Council and County
Council providing SODC with its district Council position
c) Housing LIN Fact Sheet 1 – Extra Care Housing – What is it
in 2015?
SODC4
Letter from Solicitor to the Council regarding its position on the

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

19

Page 77

Appeal Decision APP/Q3115/W/19/3220425

SODC5
SODC6

section 106 Agreement undated but signed and sealed
documents.
South Oxfordshire District Council statement on Compliance with
Community Infrastructure Levy (Amendment)(England)(No.2)
Regulations 2019
Closing submissions on behalf of the Council

DOCUMENTS submitted by Third Parties
TP1
Statement made to the Inquiry by Leigh Rawlins
TP2
Statement made to the Inquiry by Fred Maroudas
TP3
Speaking note of statement made to Inquiry by David
Bartholomew
TP4
Statement made to the Inquiry by Tina Dalzell

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

20

Page 78

Appeal Decision APP/Q3115/W/19/3220425

Schedule of conditions for Appeal reference APP/Q3115/W/19/3220425
1)

Details of the appearance, landscaping, layout, and scale, (hereinafter
called "the reserved matters") shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority before any development takes place
and the development shall be carried out as approved.

2)

Application for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the local
planning authority not later than three years from the date of this
permission.

3)

The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the
expiration of 3 years from the date of this permission, or before the
expiration of 2 years from the date of approval of the last of the reserved
matters to be approved, whichever is the later.

4)

No more than 65 units of extra care accommodation shall be erected on the
site.

5)

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out within the site
defined by the red line on the Site Location Plan ref: 4602 LP01 A and in
accordance with the following parameter plans 4602-PL 110G, 4602PL 111J, and 4602-PL 113, the Proposed Footway Link to the North from
the Site and Cellweb Construction Drawing 1606-30 SK19A and the Agreed
Site Access Visibility Splays Drawing 1606-30 SK24.

6)

Details of the site access to the development hereby approved shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by thy the local planning authority
before development commences, designed in accordance with the outline
design (including location and geometry) shown on drawing 1606-30 SK24,
and shall be provided in accordance with the approved design before first
occupation of the development hereby approved.

7)

At or before the time of the first submission of Reserved Matters pursuant
to Condition 1, details relating to the following shall be submitted for
approval in writing by the Local Planning Authority:
a) Provision of a pedestrian link between the site and Reading Road;
b) Internal swept path analyses demonstrating refuse collection, servicing
and emergency access;
c) The location of underground services/service strips suitable for
maintenance to avoid disruption to the access; and
d) Provision of surface water drainage from the access road to avoid
discharge onto the Reading Road.

8)

Prior to first occupation of the development a Travel Plan, that shall include
the provision of Travel Information Packs, shall be submitted to and
approved by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the approved plan
shall be implemented and maintained as approved.

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

21

Page 79

Appeal Decision APP/Q3115/W/19/3220425

9)

Concurrent with the submission of a reserved matters application, a
Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy based on the recommendations
contained in chapter 6.76 of the Ecological Impact Assessment (ACD
Environmental September 2018 Ref: RVD 20604) shall be submitted and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The BES should include
details of all species enhancements including relevant scale plans and
drawings showing the location, elevation and type of features such as bat
and bird boxes etc. as appropriate. All enhancements should be delivered
prior to occupation of the last unit and retained thereafter in accordance
with the approved details.

10) At or before the time of the first submission of Reserved Matters pursuant
to Condition 1, a revised ecological impact assessment report shall be
submitted for the written approval of the Local Planning Authority. The
report shall include updated dormice, reptile and badger surveys and a
detailed mitigation strategy, including measures to protect badgers from
being trapped in open excavations and /or pipe culverts, to safeguard
protected species, their habitats and local biodiversity. The development
shall be undertaken in strict accordance with the recommendations,
mitigation and enhancement features detailed in the approved updated
ecological report, which should include details of implementation.
11) The landscaping details of the reserved matters submission shall include an
Arboricultural Method Statement and accompanying Tree Protection Plan to
be submitted for the written approval of the Local Planning Authority that:
a) identifies the trees and shrubs to be retained;
b) provides a comprehensive assessment of the impact of the development
on the existing trees on the site and on adjoining land; and
c) includes measures to protect the retained trees and shrubs during the
construction of the development in accordance with BS5837:2012.
The existing trees and shrubs shown to be retained, shall not be lopped,
topped, felled, uprooted or wilfully destroyed other than where indicated in
the approved arboricultural report, without the prior written consent of the
Local Planning Authority, and any planting removed with or without such
consent shall be replaced within 12 months with suitable stock, adequately
staked and tied and shall thereafter be maintained for a period of 5 years.
12) No development hereby permitted shall commence until a Construction
Traffic Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by
the local planning authority, to include details of:
a) parking for vehicles of site personnel, operatives and visitors
b) loading and unloading of plant and materials
c) storage of plant and materials
d) programme of works (including measures for traffic management)
e) measures to prevent the deposit of materials on the highway
f) on-site turning for construction vehicles
g) measures to ensure protection of protected species and habitats during
construction access
h) hours of construction
i) details of the implementation of the various measures

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

22

Page 80

Appeal Decision APP/Q3115/W/19/3220425

The development hereby approved shall be undertaken in accordance with
the details approved in accordance with this condition.
13) Details of foul drainage provision shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority prior to development commencing
and no unit shall be occupied until the drainage provision as approved has
been implemented.
14) Details of a Sustainable Drainage Scheme based on Quad Consult Flood
Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy reference 18253 dated 5th
September 2018, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority prior to development commencing. These should
include:
a) Further information on the groundwater regime at the site;
b) Detailed proposals for the interception, suitable conveyance and storage
of surface water that is at higher risk of flowing through the site; c) Full
details of a sustainable surface water drainage system based on ground
permeability tests to BRE 365 and groundwater monitoring;
d) Design calculations with appropriate climate change allowance and
storage areas sizing;
e) Full Suds construction details and proposals based on the above;
f) Detailed proposed site and floor levels;
g) Exceedance flood flow routing;
h) Timescale for the works including phasing;
i) A full future management and maintenance plan for the Suds features to
ensure the efficient functioning of the on-site Suds.
15) Development shall not begin until details of the implementation,
maintenance and management of the Sustainable Drainage Scheme have
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
The scheme shall be implemented and thereafter managed and maintained
in accordance with the approved details. Those details shall include:
a) a timetable for its implementation, and
b) a management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the
development which shall include the arrangements for adoption by any
public body or statutory undertaker, or any other arrangements to secure
the operation of the sustainable drainage system throughout its lifetime.
16) No development above the ground shall take place until details of a lighting
scheme has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance
with the approved lighting scheme.
17) Prior to the commencement of the development a phased risk assessment
shall be carried out by a competent person in accordance with current
government and Environment Agency Guidance and Approved Codes of
Practice. Each phase shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. Phase 2 shall include a comprehensive intrusive
investigation in order to characterise the type, nature and extent of
contamination present, the risks to receptors and if significant
contamination is identified to inform the remediation strategy. A
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

23

Page 81

Appeal Decision APP/Q3115/W/19/3220425

remediation strategy shall be submitted to and approved by the LPA to
ensure the site will be rendered suitable for its proposed use and the
development shall not be occupied until the approved remediation strategy
has been carried out in full and a validation report confirming completion of
these works has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.
18) a)
Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved an
Archaeological Written Scheme of Investigation, relating to the application
site area, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.
b)
Following the approval of the Written Scheme of Investigation and the
commencement of the development (other than in accordance with the
agreed Written Scheme of Investigation), a staged programme of
archaeological evaluation and mitigation shall be carried out by the
commissioned archaeological organisation in accordance with the approved
Written Scheme of Investigation. The programme of work shall include all
processing, research and analysis necessary to produce an accessible and
useable archive and a full report for publication which shall be submitted to
the Local Planning Authority.
END

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

24

Page 82

Agenda Item 11
South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 February 2022

F
APPLICATION NO.
APPLICATION TYPE
REGISTERED
PARISH
WARD MEMBER(S)
APPLICANT
SITE
PROPOSAL

OFFICER

P21/S0804/O
OUTLINE
17.3.2021
CHINNOR
Lynn Lloyd
Ian White
Beechcroft Development Ltd
Land at Crowell Road Chinnor
Outline application (with all matters reserved except
Layout and Access), for the erection of up to 54 age
restricted dwellings (for people aged 55 and over),
including 40% affordable housing and communal
facilities, on land to the north of Crowell Road,
Chinnor. New vehicular access to be created off
Crowell Road, along with the retention of the
existing pedestrian access to Oakley Road to the
North (additional information received 31 March
2021 and 6 June 2021 and 29 October 2021).
William Sparling

1.0
1.1

INTRODUCTION AND PROPOSAL
This application is referred to the Planning Committee at the Development Manager’s
discretion for a resolution on how council would have been determined the application
had the applicant not submitted an appeal under Section 78 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 for non-determination. At the current time, the application would
have been recommended for refusal on matters which are considered in the report
below.

1.2

The proposal is an outline planning application for up to 54 age restricted dwellings,
including layout and access with 40% affordable housing and communal facilities. The
reserved matters are appearance (design, materials, decoration, lighting, colour and
texture), landscaping (walls, fences, trees, hedges banks/terraces, lying out of
gardens and amenity features) and scale (height, width and length of each building in
relation to its surroundings). If the current application had been approved these
matters would be considered through separate reserved matters applications. The
current proposal can be seen in Appendix 1 (Site Location Plan) and Appendix 2
(Conceptual Schematic Layout) and Appendix 3 (Site Plan).

1.3

The site is located to the west of Chinnor, off Crowell Road. It is on land currently
used as for grazing or as a paddock. To the north west there is a loose-knit boundary
comprising some planting. To the south and west there is a hedgerow boundary to the
open fields to the south-west and Crowell Road to the south-east. A combination of
hedgerow, trees, buildings and fences form the boundary to adjacent residential
gardens to the north east of the site. Aerial images and a site visit indicate there are
some semi-mature and young trees and plants within the site which are of limited
merit. There are two listed buildings nearby; The Poplars and Lower Farm are Grade
II Listed. The site is adjacent to the Oakley Conservation Area.

1.4

During discussions with officers on the current proposal (which included several
rounds of new or updated information being submitted), the applicant has submitted a

Page 83

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 February 2022

planning appeal for non-determination. The applicant (appellant in the appeal) has
requested a public inquiry and officers have confirmed this is appropriate having
regard to the complexity of the site, material planning considerations and level of
public interest. The representations from the parish council, neighbours and key
stakeholders on the planning application have carefully considered. The appeal start
date was 24 January 2022 and the inquiry is planned for four days from Tuesday 26
April 2022.
1.5

As the applicant has submitted an appeal against non-determination, the purpose of
this report is to seek the views of Planning Committee on how the proposal would
have been determined. If the proposal would have been refused, planning committee
will be asked to confirm its putative reasons, which will then be used to inform the
main issues to be considered through the appeal process. The council will use the
reasons to set out its case in more detail in the various appeal documents, as will the
appellant.

1.6

In addition, the applicant has submitted a second planning application for the same
development proposal on the same site (ref: P21/S5321/O). The applicant has
indicated this application has been submitted, following discussions on the current
application, with the aim of receiving a decision on the duplicate application before the
appeal is heard. Officers are currently assessing the submitted information in respect
of this application.
The location of the proposal to the west of Chinnor, off Crowell Road, is shown in
Appendix 1 and on the site location plan below:

Page 84

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 February 2022

2.0
2.1

SUMMARY OF CONSULTATIONS & REPRESENTATIONS
A summary of the consultations and representations is provided in the table below.
Consultee

Comment

Chinnor Parish
Council

Objection to the proposed development, as it is considered
to be contrary to the development plan and neighbourhood
plan, including being outside of the settlement boundary,
ribbon development and not a suitable location for elderly
residents due to the distances to shops and services.

Crowell Parish
Meeting

Objection to the proposed development as it is considered
outside of the proposed development area, is unnecessary
and is not the most suitable location for elderly residential
properties.

Aston Rowant
Parish Council

Objection to the proposed development. This is not the most
suitable location for elderly residential properties. The
proposal will lead to sprawl towards other parishes. There will
be an increase in traffic where virtually no-one respects the
speed limits. There are problems with sewerage issues.
There is an indifferent attitude towards the AONB.

SODC Landscape
Architect

Comments that issues remain with the application, including
the lack of planting and mitigation on the north-western
boundary and the appearance and usability of the attenuation
basins/open space areas. Furthermore, the information
submitted with the application is limited with an absence of
photomontages from viewpoint 5, lack of proposed building
heights in metres, further details of landscaping layout and
species being required, and extent of hedgerow removal
required. The attenuation basin sides are too steep for
planting and an alternative will be required.

SODC Conservation
Officer

No objection to the latest iteration of the current application.
The proposal would result in ‘less than substantial’ harm to
the nearby designated heritage assets (Poplars – Grade II,
Lower Farm – Grade II, Oakley Conservation Area), which
sits at the low-mid range of this scale of harm, in accordance
with NPPF paragraph 202. Officers would need to be satisfied
the public benefits clearly outweigh the harm to heritage
assets. Issues remain with the proposal, including a lack of
information on proposed building heights, lack of detail on
intervisibility between the site and conservation area and lack
of information provided on what lighting would be required, all
of which may have different impacts on the area. The harm
has been marginally reduced from previous conservation
assessment and could be further reduced with further
amendments to the scheme.

Page 85

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 February 2022

SODC Countryside
Officer

No objection, subject to conditions, to the latest iteration of
the current application. The outline proposal is within scope to
comply with the requirements of Policy ENV2 (Biodiversity,
Habitats and Species) and Policy ENV3 (Biodiversity). A small
net gain for biodiversity is possible, dependent on the
landscaping details to come at a later stage. It is likely that a
small population of reptiles is present on site – the boundary
landscaping being retained is likely sufficient to support these
species in future. Badger setts have been located on or close
to the site and these can be retained. A construction
environmental management plan, reptile mitigation strategy,
badger survey and biodiversity enhancement plan can be
required by condition. A revised biodiversity metric may be
sought at reserved matters stage if necessary.

SODC Forestry
Officer

No objection subject to conditions for General Tree
Protection and a Landscaping Scheme.

SODC Drainage
Engineer

No objection subject to conditions for a suitable surface
water drainage scheme and for a ‘Grampian’ condition to
secure suitable foul water upgrades in the area in agreement
with Thames Water. A discharge of conditions application
would be handled by SODC.

Thames Water
Development
Control

No objection subject to conditions, including for foul water
upgrades in the area. Network upgrades are likely required to
accommodate the proposed development which are
necessary to avoid sewage flooding and/or potential pollution
incidents. All wastewater upgrades will be required prior to
occupation of the development.

SODC Air Quality

No objection provided that the best practice measures
outline in section 7.8 of the applicant’s Air Quality Report are
adhered to. This can be secured by condition.

SODC
Contaminated Land

No objection subject to a condition for the submission of a
preliminary phased risk assessment. Previous investigations
on the site confirmed there were no issues at the time,
however, as these investigations were 5 years ago it is
recommended a further assessment is made prior to the
development commencing. In addition, standard
contamination conditions will be applied to deal with any
measures or unsuspected contamination.

SODC
Environmental
Protection

No objection although details of the noise climate should be
provided so that appropriate mitigation from road noise can
be secured. This can be secured by a suitably worded
planning condition – the planning history indicates acoustic
glazing and mitigation would be acceptable on this site.
Page 86

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 February 2022

SODC Housing
Development

No objection subject to suitable planning conditions to
secure a policy compliant affordable housing mix and tenure,
supported by a contribution of £90,167 for a 0.6 part unit, as
per the table overleaf:
Tenure

Type

Oxfordshire County
Council Highways

Objection, subject to further clarifying information for
further consideration. The key issues are as follows:







Any new footpath which would connect with the
existing footway at the junction between Oakley Road
and Oakley Lane is required to be a minimum of 2.0m
wide.
All new footway within the site will be required to be a
minimum of 2.0m wide.
More visitor cycle parking spaces should be provided
in accordance with Oxfordshire County Council
standards to encourage travel by this form of
transport. This is required to be shown on the plans.
A new Stage 1 Road Safety Audit for both the
proposed site access arrangement and internal site
layout will be required as part of any future highway
adoption and technical approval process.

In addition, a legal agreement is required to secure public
transport services and public transport infrastructure for a bus
stop on Oakley Lane. A Section 278 agreement will be
required, and a Section 38 agreement will be required for
adoption of roads in the site.

Oxfordshire County
Council Local Lead
Flood Authority

No objection subject to conditions as required by the South
Oxfordshire drainage engineer.

Page 87

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 February 2022

Oxfordshire County
Council Archaeology

No objection subject to conditions to secure a written
scheme of investigation and investigation works.

SODC Urban Design No objection subject to alterations to the proposed layout of
the scheme, including additional landscaping.

Berkshire Clinical
Commissioning
Group [Officer note:
Berkshire CCG
cover this part of
Oxfordshire].

No objection to the proposal. Local healthcare should have
sufficient capacity to deal with any additional needs.

SODC Energy
Consultant

Comments. The energy statement should demonstrate how
either each individual dwelling or how the average for each
individual whole building will achieve at least a 40% reduction
in carbon emissions compared with a 2013 Building
Regulations compliant base case. Supporting SAP
Calculations should be provided accordingly. This can be
secured by planning condition as it is an outline application.

CPRE

Objection to the proposal. The delivery of new homes for
older people in Chinnor should be carried out through a
revision of the neighbourhood plan supported by a housing
needs assessment and consideration of other more
appropriate positioned sites.

Historic England

No comments to make on this application.

Neighbours and
Local Residents

There are 49 objections to the proposal including due to the
following points:









Increase in traffic would make it dangerous.
Damaging impact on the local environment and
wildlife.
Over development of the village due to previous
developments.
Limited space for children to attend local primary
schools. The school is full.
The village doctors are full, the local chemist is
struggling to serve the local community.
The supermarket is only small and very busy.
The proposal is on the opposite side of the village to
local shops and facilities.
Loss of privacy for existing residents.

Page 88

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 February 2022
























Dangerous to pedestrians on surrounding access
routes due to shared usage of track and lack of
visibility.
New development outside the settlement boundary will
erode the rural village setting.
There will be noise and disturbance.
Chinnor has exceeded its capacity for taking new
residential development.
If someone is infirm at the age of 55 they would be
located in the wrong place.
Beechcroft would not be committed to selling these
properties to over 55s. There should be enforcement
that this is the case.
The proposal discriminates against young people.
Previous applications have been refused and so
should this one because nothing in Chinnor has
changed.
There would be an increase in flood risk from surface
and foul drainage. The sewer system is already
overloaded.
The site will become part of the AONB in the future.
Alternative sites for this type of housing are available
in the village.
The information submitted by the developer is false.
Its time to stop ad hoc building in Chinnor.
The village is served by bus routes as follows 40 –
hourly, 275 – 4 times a day west and three east, rail
station – once in the AM and once in the PM.
The field and hedgerow are essential for reducing the
impact of road noise for existing residents.
There is little demand for the houses and green land
should not be used for them.
This encroaches onto Green Belt which should be
protected.
The development site is not identified for development
in the local plan or neighbourhood plan.
The development is not needed due to previous
growth and it is blatant opportunism from the
developer.
Nature spots once held in high esteem are being
abused and trashed by all the new influx of different
people with different values to the ones Chinnor holds
dear.
The proposed access will make it an accident
blackspot and potential death trap. Crossing the road
here should not be encouraged, especially by the
elderly.

Following the submission of revised plans, 9 objections were
received, mostly reiterating points of principle raised in
previous comments. However, there were additional points
raised. In summary, the additional key points can be
summarised as follows:

Page 89

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 February 2022









3.0
3.1

The revised plans make no improvements to the
proposed access.
Crossing the road here will not be suitable for elderly
and infirm people.
The proposed public access is a shared access track.
The site is too far from amenities.
The affordable housing is clustered together.
The district council has the required 5 years land
supply for housing.
Chinnor has fulfilled its obligation for new housing,
including a proportion which is affordable or suitable
for the elderly.

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
The relevant planning history is summarised below and considered in detail in this
report further below.
P20/S3848/PEJ – Pre application advice provided (15/12/2020)
Development of 55 units (including 22 affordable units) for people aged 55 and over.
P17/S1867/FUL - Appeal dismissed (24/12/2018)
Full planning application for residential development comprising 54 dwellings, new
vehicular and pedestrian access, internal roads and footpaths, car parking, public open
space, landscaping, drainage and other associated infrastructure.

4.0
4.1

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT
The proposed development is for 54 age restricted dwellings. The total site area is
1.74 hectares. The site is not located within an AONB or other sensitive area for the
purposes of EIA. In accordance with guidance on Schedule 2 of the Town and
Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017, the proposal
is for fewer than 150 dwellings and the overall area of the development does not
exceed 5 hectares. As such the proposal does not require Environmental Impact
Assessment (EIA).

5.0
5.1

POLICY & GUIDANCE
Development Plan Policies
South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 (SOLP) Policies:
STRAT1 - The Overall Strategy
STRAT2 - South Oxfordshire Housing and Employment Requirements
STRAT5 - Residential Densities
H1 - Delivering New Homes
H4 - Housing in the Larger Village
H9 - Affordable Housing
H11 - Housing Mix
H13 - Specialist Housing for Older People
TRANS2 - Promoting Sustainable Transport and Accessibility
TRANS4 - Transport Assessments, Transport Statements and Travel Plans
TRANS5 - Consideration of Development Proposals
ENV1 - Landscape and Countryside
ENV2 - Biodiversity - Designated sites, Priority Habitats and Species
ENV3 - Biodiversity
ENV4 - Watercourses
ENV5 - Green Infrastructure in New Developments

Page 90

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 February 2022

ENV6 - Historic Environment
ENV7 - Listed Buildings
ENV8 - Conservation Areas
ENV9 - Archaeology and Scheduled Monuments
ENV10 - Historic Battlefields, Registered Park and Gardens and Historic Landscapes
ENV11 - Pollution - Impact from existing and/ or Previous Land uses on new
Development and the Natural Environment (Potential receptors of Pollution)
ENV12 - Pollution - Impact of Development on Human Health, the Natural
Environment and/or Local Amenity (Potential Sources of Pollution)
DES1 - Delivering High Quality Development
DES2 - Enhancing Local Character
DES3 - Design and Access Statements
DES4 - Masterplans for Allocated Sites and Major Development
DES5 - Outdoor Amenity Space
DES6 - Residential Amenity
DES7 - Efficient Use of Resources
DES8 - Promoting Sustainable Design
DES9 - Renewable Energy
DES10 - Carbon Reduction
EP2 - Hazardous Substances
EP3 - Waste collection and Recycling
EP4 - Flood Risk
INF1 - Infrastructure Provision
INF2 - Electronic Communications
INF3 - Telecommunications Technology
INF4 - Water Resources
CF5 - Open Space, Sport and Recreation in New Residential Development
5.2

Chinnor Neighbourhood Plan (Review Version Made May 2021)
The neighbourhood plan policies have been considered in the assessment of the
planning application.
Policy CH H2 (Affordable Housing)
Policy CH H3 (Tenancy Mix)
Policy CH H4 (Allocation of Affordable Housing for Local People)
Policy CH H5 (Retirement Housing)
Policy CH H6 (Site Allocations)
Policy CH H7 (Settlement Boundary)
Policy CH H8 (Sustainable Homes)
Policy CH C1 (Design)
Policy CH C2 (Conservation Areas)
Policy CH C3 (Heritage Assets)
Policy CH GP2 (Protection of Habitats of Significance)
Policy CH GP3 (Public Rights of Way (PROW))
Policy CH CF1 (Protection of Community Facilities)

5.3

Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents
South Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (SODG 2016)
South Oxfordshire Developer Contributions SPD

5.4

National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance

Page 91

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 February 2022

5.5

Other Relevant Legislation
Human Rights Act 1998
The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been taken into account in the
processing of the application and the preparation of this report.
Equality Act 2010
In determining this planning application, the Council has regard to its equality
obligations including its obligations under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.

6.0
6.1

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
The relevant planning considerations are the following:















Principle of age restricted housing for older people in this location
Design, layout and impact on character
Impact on heritage
Impact on the landscape
Highways, access and parking
Housing mix and tenure
Carbon reduction and environmental sustainability
Residential amenity
Ecology
Trees
Surface and foul water drainage
Archaeology
Contaminated land
Noise

Principle of age restricted housing for older people in this location
6.2

The South Oxfordshire Local Plan (SOLP) was adopted in December 2020 and
provides planning policies for the district. The new policies supersede those in previous
local plans, including any saved policies. In addition, an updated Neighbourhood Plan
for the area was made in May 2021 – the supporting text of which identifies the
expansion of the Chinnor through new development in recent times. The planning
history indicates a previous appeal on the site for market housing was considered and
dismissed prior to the adoption of the new Local Plan. Moreover, it is worth noting that
the recent appeal for a similar type of development in Sonning Common identified a
need for housing for older people in the district which should be provided in more
sustainable locations.

6.3

SOLP Policy STRAT1 (Overall Strategy) provides the spatial planning framework for
the district, which includes supporting and enhancing the role of the Larger Villages in
the district as local service centres, including Chinnor, whilst recognising a need to
protect and enhance the countryside. The overall strategy seeks to ensure that all
communities thrive, and everyone has access to services within the short distance. As
such, the locational policies of the local plan direct new development to the most
sustainable locations in the district, which includes directing it towards the larger
villages. Indeed, Chinnor is identified as a “Larger Village” with a wide range of services
and facilities in sustainable locations in the settlement hierarchy. Policy STRAT 2
(Housing Requirement) provides the housing requirement for the district in the plan
period. Policy H4 (Housing in Larger Villages) is also of some relevance in supporting
the role of larger villages.

Page 92

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 February 2022

6.4

More specifically related to the current development proposal, SOLP Policy H1
(Delivering New Homes) point 2) ii and Policy H13 (Specialist Housing for Older
People) are clear in setting out considerations for specialist housing for older people.
These policies provide encouragement to developments in locations across the district
with good access to public transport and local facilities. In addition, NDP Policy CH H5
(Retirement Housing) provides broad support for retirement housing or care provision to
meet the needs of the village that are summarised in the plan. These policies do
include sites which are not allocated in the development plan. Furthermore, in
supporting text, the SOLP plan identifies that being able to continue living
independently for as long as possible may require specialist retirement accommodation.

6.5

Moreover, Policy CH H7 (Development Boundary) defines a settlement boundary for
the settlement. Proposals for development outside the boundary “will only be supported
where they are necessary or suitable for a countryside location, or are infill, and they
are consistent with development plan policies”. The Neighbourhood Plan was
independently examined and found to meet the ‘basic conditions’ including general
conformity with the local plan.

6.6

When referring to development outside settlement boundaries, neighbourhood plans in
the district have been consistent in setting out that development would be supported if
necessary or suitable (or appropriate in some cases) for a countryside location. The
examiner of the CRNP noted in his report, in paragraph 4.17: “The purpose of the policy
[CH H7] is to support appropriate development that is proposed within the boundary,
whilst land outside the boundary will be considered to be countryside where planning
policies for the countryside, contained in both national policy guidance and the adopted
Local Plan, will apply.”. This flexibility in the policy allows for appropriate forms of
development to be supported where they are in accordance with other development
plan policies. Therefore, development proposals which are in accordance with Policy
H1 and Policy H13 from the local plan, would also be in accordance with Policy CH H7
(Development Boundary) of the Chinnor Review Neighbourhood Plan.

6.7

Having regard to an identified need for the type of development proposed, Chinnor has
good access to services and facilities and the site is located in a more sustainable
location. This is especially the case when considered in the wider context of the district
– Chinnor retains a range of village shops, services and amenities. The site will have
good access to public transport through the provision of a bus stop and access. In
summary, there are a range of shops and services at the following approximate
distances from the site:












6.8

Co-op Convenient Store – approximately 400m
Village pub – approximately 100m
Alternative convenience store 600m
Village Hall – approximately 800m
Post Office and a shopping parade – approximately 1km
Pharmacy – approximately 1km
Hairdressers – approximately 1km
Opticians – approximately 1km
Village Centre Community Centre – approximately 1km
Two Health Centres – both approximately 1km
Additional shops and pubs – approximately 1.2km – 1.6 km

Most of these shops and facilities are along a bus route which can be accessed from
the site (noting a request for the provision of a new bus stop). Existing nearby bus stops
are served by four services (40, 275, 320 and T1). These services provide access to

Page 93

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 February 2022

the local areas surrounding Chinnor including Stokenchurch, Wheatley, Princes
Risborough and Studley Green. The services also provide access to the centre of
Oxford and High Wycombe. The bus services include a dedicated rail link (Bus No.
320) to Princes Risborough Station.
6.9

In that context, the South Oxfordshire Local Plan 2035 Policies H1 and H13 and Policy
CH H5 of the Review Chinnor Neighbourhood Plan are supportive of the proposal in
terms of it providing specialist accommodation for older people, particularly given the
site is located on the edge of Chinnor, a larger village. Chinnor is a more sustainable
location in the district and would provide a good range of shops, services and facilities
within reasonable distances.

6.10 On balance, officers consider the proposed development would represent sustainable
development, having regard to the policies of the development plan, including Policy
STRAT1 (Overall Strategy), Policy STRAT 2 (Housing Requirement), Policy H1
(Delivering New Homes), Policy H2 (Housing Requirement), Policy H4 (Housing in
Larger Villages), Policy H13 (Specialist Housing for Older People), and NDP Policy CH
H5 (Retirement Housing), Policy CH H7 (Development Boundary).
6.11 For additional context, it is worth noting the previous appeal decision on the site was
made for an alternative form of development, having regard to the previous local plan
policies. These policies have been superseded by the up-to-date local plan that now
distinguishes housing for older people as a separate type of development (in Policy
H13).
Design, Layout and Overall Character
6.12 The design and layout of the proposal can be seen in Appendix 2 (Conceptual
Schematic Layout Drawing), Appendix 3 (Proposed Site Plan), and Appendix 4
(Conceptual Site Sections).
6.13 The development proposal is located to the south and west of Chinnor. Immediately to
the south of the site is the B4009 and further south and east is recent new built
development. The settlement pattern is of a large, nucleated village, comprising some
historic areas (with Listed buildings and Conservation Areas) with more modern and
contemporary built form – particularly to the west side. On the edge of the settlement, it
has a very linear build line. More historic buildings in Oakley are also nearby. To the
west are open fields, north are residential gardens and to the east are gardens and the
main settlement of Oakley and Chinnor. There are no public rights of way within the
site. A pipeline easement is within the site.
6.14 Policy DES1 (Delivering High Quality Development) requires proposals to use land
efficiently, whilst respecting the existing landscape character. Proposals should take
into account landform, layout, building orientation, massing and landscaping. The
design should respect the local context, working with and complementing the scale,
height, density, type and details of the surrounding areas.
6.15 As such, the overall design of the development is to incorporate the accommodation in
modest buildings which are laid out across the site. These take the form of a selfcontained layout, with 2 storey buildings reasonably dispersed to provide courtyards,
gardens, walkways and other servicing facilities. Proposed building heights are within
keeping of the adjacent buildings – although officers require further information on
building heights in metres – the density is similar to that of the existing settlement and
the overall character of the settlement has been respected.

Page 94

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 February 2022

6.16 However, there are several issues that officers consider need to be addressed with the
proposal which can be summarised as follows:











Additional photomontages are required (including for viewpoint 5 – which is a
main approach to Chinnor) to allow a full assessment of the impact on the
landscape and Conservation Area.
Actual building heights in metres for the building heights parameters plan have
been requested and are required to control the impact on the landscape, listed
buildings and the Conservation Area and ensure the character of the existing
settlement is respected.
Continuous and linked footpaths through the development site are required to
ensure appropriate access and the usability of public open space.
Boundary planting on the north western boundary would form a new rural edge.
Additional space in the layout for planting mitigation would be required and the
proposed species should be mixed with the planting proposed for the north-side
boundary (and vice versa) to provide a robust, native hedge and maximise
biodiversity value.
A 1 in 3 slope to the sides of the attenuation basins will not create an attractive
feature and will not allow access to these areas for elderly residents. These
features are overlooked by buildings, forming the focal point of courtyard areas,
and are shown as open space on the green infrastructure parameter plan. They
will fulfil neither of these functions.
Appropriate lighting details will be required to avoid harmful impacts on heritage
and landscape.
Further information is required to demonstrate refuse vehicles can adequately
access the proposed bin stores within acceptable distances for the SODC waste
team.

The applicant has not demonstrated the proposal provides sufficient usable public open
6.17 space in accordance with Policy CF5 (Open Space, Sport and Recreation in New
Residential Development). The proposal does not fully meet the requirements of the
development plan and is not in accordance with Policy DES1, which requires a layout
that would provide a clear and permeable hierarchy of streets, routes and spaces. The
layout should also provide a high-quality public realm helping to support an active
lifestyle, whilst ensuring a sufficient level of well-integrated solutions for car and cycle
parking as well as bin storage. Whilst the development of the site could be considered
to be a logical complement to the existing built-form and character of the area, the
remaining issues with the proposed layout mean the proposal is not in accordance with
Policy DES2 (Enhancing Local Character) and Policy EP3 (Waste Collection and
Recycling).
Impact on Heritage
The proposed development site is adjacent to the Oakley Conservation Area and two
6.18 listed buildings; The Poplars and Lower Farm are Grade II Listed. When considering
the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage
asset, great weight should be given by decision takers to the asset’s conservation,
irrespective of the level of harm, in accordance with NPPF paragraph 199. This
includes the setting of those assets. The local planning authority also has statutory
duties in Sections 66 and 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas)
Act 1990.
Having regard to the development plan, SOLP Policy ENV6 (Historic Environment)
6.19 requires proposals to take account of the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the

Page 95

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 February 2022

significance of heritage assets. Proposals should be sensitively designed, to conserve
and where possible enhance those assets and designated areas. Proposals should
make a positive contribution to local character and distinctiveness, through high
standards of design and use of appropriate materials.
6.20 In accordance with Policy ENV7 (Listed Buildings), proposals resulting in less than
substantial harm to the significance of a Listed building will be expected to minimise
harm, provide justification for harms remaining and identify public benefits. Having
regard to Policy ENV8 (Conservation Areas), proposals affecting the setting of a
Conservation Area should conserve or enhance its special interest. Chinnor
Neighbourhood Plan Policy CH C2 (Conservation Areas) and Policy CH C3 (Heritage
Assets) provide similar protections to heritage in the village.
6.21 Officers have been in dialogue with the applicant in seeking to amend the layout to
address the constraints of these designations more effectively. Some amendments
have been made which results in a slightly altered layout leading to a marginally
reduced level of harm. This was achieved through additional open space, improved
landscape buffers and an orchard area to the west of the site. Further amendments
could be made to take account of view corridors and softening through landscape
planting. However, even with these changes it is considered the changes to the level of
harm would be marginal. Great weight has been given to conserving the nearby
heritage assets.
6.22 In conclusion, irrespective of any layout changes being required, the proposal would
result in a degree of harm which is ‘less than substantial’ at the low-mid range of this
scale of harm, in accordance with NPPF paragraph 202. However, in your officer’s
opinion, there are clear public benefits to the proposal which would outweigh the level
of harm identified, including the urgent need to provide additional housing in the district
in more sustainable locations, an identified need for housing for older people (having
regard to a recent appeal decision) and the opportunity to further support the role of
Chinnor as a sustainable settlement. There would also be economic benefits during
construction. As such, the proposal is in accordance with Policy ENV6 (Historic
Environment), Policy ENV7 (Listed Buildings), Policy ENV8 (Conservation Areas), and
the NPPF.
Impact on the Landscape
6.23 The proposed landscape masterplan can be seen in Appendix 5 (Landscape
Masterplan).
Having regard to the site context, the site is not within the AONB. Whilst the site is near
to the AONB designation (the edge of which is approximately 800m to the south east),
at the previous appeal the inspector concluded it is “an undesignated field with nothing
extraordinary to make it a valued landscape, despite the presence of pasture. It makes
little contribution to the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside”. The Inspector
of the previous scheme at the site stated that the scheme would not materially affect
the setting of the AONB and concluded that the development would cause little
landscape harm and not conflict with the relevant policies of the core strategy (the
adopted local plan at the time).
6.24 Moreover, on sites outside the settlement boundary, Neighbourhood Plan Policy CH H7
(Development Boundary) identifies proposals or sites to be developed outside the
boundary will be less sustainable and where proposals will affect the character of the
countryside. For the current site, the previous appeal inspector described the site as:

Page 96

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 February 2022

“an undesignated field with nothing extraordinary to make it a valued landscape,
despite the presence of pasture. It makes little contribution to the intrinsic
character and beauty of the countryside”.
6.25 However, it is noted there are visual receptors and views meaning the site has some
degree of landscape sensitivity. As such, officers consider the current proposal should
be amended to further reduce the impact on the surrounding area. This has been
considered in more detail under the layout section of this report. In conclusion, the
proposal is not considered to be in accordance with Policy ENV1 (Landscape and
Countryside) or Policy DES1 (Delivering High Quality Development).
Highways, Access and Parking
6.26 Policy TRANS 5 (Transport – Consideration of Development Proposals) requires
development to provide adequate and safe for all highway users, including pedestrians
and cyclists. Any new footpath which would connect with the existing footway at the
junction between Oakley Road and Oakley Lane is required to be a minimum of 2.0m
wide.
6.27 The proposal is largely acceptable, except for the following:





All new footway within the site will be required to be a minimum of 2.0m wide.
The proposed footway is currently 1.8m.
More visitor cycle parking spaces should be provided in accordance with
Oxfordshire County Council standards to encourage travel by this form of
transport. This is required to be shown on the plans.
A new Stage 1 Road Safety Audit for both the proposed site access
arrangement and internal site layout will be required as part of any future
highway adoption and technical approval process.
In addition, a legal agreement is required to secure public transport services and
public transport infrastructure for a bus stop on Oakley Lane. A Section 278
agreement will be required, and a Section 38 agreement will be required for
adoption of roads in the site.

6.28 As such, the proposal is not considered to be in accordance with Policy TRANS4
(Transport Assessments and Travel Plans) and Policy TRANS5 (Consideration of
Development Proposals).
Housing Mix and Tenure
6.29 The proposed housing mix of 1 and 2 bed homes for older people is considered to be in
accordance with Policy H13 (Housing for Older People). It is the applicant’s intention
that all affordable housing and any 1 and 2 bed market dwellings will comply with the
National Described Space Standards. Subject to securing this the proposals would
comply with Policy H11 (Space Standards).
6.30 Policy H9 (Affordable Housing) requires proposals to deliver 40% affordable housing.
Through the planning application, the applicant demonstrates an intention to provide
40% affordable housing on site, which is shown on the proposed layout plan. The exact
mix has not yet been confirmed by the applicant and secured through a Section 106
agreement. All affordable housing would have to be in accordance with Part M (4)
Category 2: Accessible and Adaptable Dwellings and at least 5% would meet the
standards of Part M (4) Category 2: Wheelchair Accessible Dwellings.

Page 97

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 February 2022

6.31 The applicant has proposed that the mix will provide a range of dwelling types and
sizes that meet current and future household needs. However, in the absence of
confirmation from the applicant that the proposal will provide the required affordable
housing mix, and in the absence of a suitable S106 agreement to secure the affordable
housing, the proposal is contrary to Policy H9 (Affordable Housing).
Carbon Reduction and Environmental Sustainability
6.32 Policy DES8 (Promoting Sustainable Design) and Policy DES9 (Renewable and Low
Carbon Energy) encourage the use of environmental sustainability measures and
renewable energy at all scales. Furthermore, Policy DES10 (Carbon Reduction)
requires a 40% reduction in carbon emissions over a code 2013 Building Regulations
base case. As the application is in outline, a fabric first approach to environmental
sustainability can be secured through a planning condition requiring an energy
statement and associated measures. The proposal would be in accordance with the
relevant policies.
Residential Amenity
6.33 The closest buildings will be more than 10m away from the boundary line to the north
east, with a significant landscaped buffer between. Of the closest proposed new
buildings, the layout indicates two buildings (plots 34-37 and 46-54) will be oriented so
the gable wall is closest, avoiding issues of overlooking. Plots 42-45 will be more than
10m from the boundary, with a landscape buffer between and more than 40 metres
from the closest properties. As such, there will be only 1 building closer than 40m
(plots 34-37) to the properties to the north-east, which is oriented to avoid overlooking
issues.
6.34 Furthermore, Plots 46-54 will be approximately 30m from the front of a residential
building, although this is separated by proposed landscaping and the adjacent B4009.
All other buildings will be more than 40 metres from existing dwellings. A substantial
10m landscaping buffer is proposed between the existing properties and proposed new
buildings. As such, the proposal provides a sufficient amount of space between
buildings, which is greater than that required in the South Oxfordshire Design Guide
2016 and as such avoids any issues of overlooking for existing and future residents.
6.35 In conclusion the proposal, will not lead to significant adverse impacts on the amenity of
neighbouring uses when considering individual and cumulative impacts. Having regard
to building heights and separation distances, there is unlikely to be a loss of privacy,
daylight or sunlight, it will avoid dominance or visual intrusion. Furthermore, external
lighting can be controlled by condition, which will ensure impacts on residential amenity
are avoided. In these respects, the proposal is in accordance with Policy DES6
(Residential Amenity).
6.36 With regard to amenity space, Policy CF5 (Open Space, Sport and Recreation in New
Residential Development), requires development proposals to provide suitable outdoor
amenity space for residents. The applicant has indicated the proposal will provide 0.4ha
of shared public open space including multifunctional space and corridors, swales and
strategic planting. However, swales are not considered to be usable public open space,
especially as the sides are indicated as being very steep at 1 in 3. They are unsuitable
for planting and would not be accessible by residents.
6.37 Therefore, the total area of usable public open space would be less than the suggested
0.4 hectares of space. Having regard to the landscape officer comments, the proposed
new swales should be amended to allow adequate planting and as such the total area

Page 98

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 February 2022

of drainage swales is not yet known and more information is required. Once this is
known, the total area of public open space to be provided will be known. As such, the
applicant has not demonstrated the proposal provides sufficient usable public open
space in accordance with Policy CF5 (Open Space, Sport and Recreation in New
Residential Development).
6.38 Noise from the development will be limited, having regard to the residential type of
proposal and will be further reduced by additional planting – including road noise. There
will not be issues with residential amenity of neighbouring properties.
Ecology
6.39 Policy ENV1 (Landscape and Countryside), protects the district from harmful
development. Policy ENV2 (Biodiversity – Sites, Habitats and Species) and Policy
ENV3 (Biodiversity) require proposals to protect the biodiversity of the district. Having
regard to the information submitted, the proposal will meet the requirements of these
policies, with a small net gain for biodiversity being possible. This is subject to
appropriate provision for biodiversity being included in a detailed landscaping and
planting scheme at a later date.
6.40 As the proposal is in outline, it would be subject to planning conditions for a
construction environment management plan for biodiversity, including updated
ecological surveys supported by a biodiversity metric. In addition, a planning condition
would be used to secure a suitable biodiversity enhancement plan including habitat
create, species enhancements, and methods for establishing vegetation. The proposal
is in accordance with Policies ENV1, ENV2, and ENV3.
Trees
6.41 Policy ENV1 (Landscape and Countryside) ensures important trees in the district are
not harmed by development, including from encroachment into root protection areas.
6.42 Having regard to the information submitted with the planning application, at the current
time, the indications are that 4 semi-mature ash trees – all category B2 trees - would be
removed from the south-east boundary of the site to facilitate the proposed new access.
Hedgerow would also be removed.
6.43 In addition, two trees both category U would be removed. These are a Hawthorn (T1) in
the centre of the site and a Willow T(2) in the north corner of the site. Please refer to
Tree Survey Ref K_112_B. Mitigation tree planting would be provided through the site,
including a 10m wide buffer on the south-east boundary of the site adjacent to the road.
The buffer would comprise native woodlands trees and shrubs of various varieties.
Detailed planting plans would be required based on the submitted landscape
masterplan.
6.44 However, the extent to which any other trees or hedgerow would need to be removed
to facilitate the access is currently unknown, noting the comments of Oxfordshire
County Council and the landscape officer comments. Therefore, the proposal is not in
accordance with Policy ENV1 (Landscape and Countryside).
Surface and Foul Water Drainage
6.45 Representations on the planning application indicate a range of issues in the village,
particularly arising from an inability of the foul drainage to accommodate requirements.
This has been raised in neighbour comments, by the SODC Drainage Engineer and by

Page 99

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 February 2022

Thames Water. It is noted that Thames Water have a statutory duty to provide sufficient
capacity for new developments.
6.46 The flood risk assessment identifies the site as being in Flood Zone 1, with a low
probability of fluvial flooding. Surface water flood risk can be mitigated through a
suitable drainage scheme. This can be secured by a suitably worded planning
condition, to include groundwater assessment and infiltration testing, landscape plans
with sustainable drainage features integrated and a maintenance and management
plan. With respect to foul water drainage, suitable upgrades could be secured by a
‘Grampian’ condition to secure foul water upgrades to avoid sewage flooding and/or
potential pollution incidents.
6.47 Policy EP4 (Flood Risk) requires proposals to be directed to areas with the lowest
probability of flooding, ensures new development addresses the effective management
of all sources of flood risk and does not increase the risk of flooding elsewhere. On the
layout plan, space has been provided in the land budget for swales, which are to be
provided as part of a sustainable drainage scheme. Subject to suitable conditions, the
proposal is in accordance with Policy EP4 (Flood Risk).
Archaeology
6.48 The application site is in an area of archaeological interest. Subject to planning
conditions for an Archaeological Written Scheme of Investigation and a programme of
archaeological investigation, the proposal would be in accordance with Policy ENV6
(Historic Environment), Policy ENV9 (Archaeology) and the NPPF.
Contaminated Land
6.49 Policy ENV11 and Policy ENV12 (Pollution) requires proposals to ensure adequate
protection against existing and future sources of pollution. Subject to suitable conditions
for updated surveys, the proposal is in accordance with these policies.
Noise
6.50 Policy ENV11 and Policy ENV12 (Pollution) requires proposals to ensure adequate
protection against existing and future sources of pollution, including noise from the
adjacent road. Subject to suitable conditions for noise mitigation in the proposed new
buildings, the proposal is in accordance with these policies.
7.0
7.1

COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY
The current CIL Charging Schedule does not levy CIL on retirement or age restricted
housing. An obligation in a S106 agreement is necessary to ensure that the
development remains restricted as proposed. Were the development to become
unrestricted, CIL and other S106 contributions (education for example) would become
payable.

8.0
8.1

CONCLUSION
Having regard to SOLP Policy STRAT1 (Overall Strategy), Policy STRAT 2 (Housing
Requirement), Policy H4 (Housing in Larger Villages) and Policy H13 (Specialist
Housing for Older People), these policies provide support for housing for older people
in more sustainable locations, including larger villages. Most significantly support for the
proposal is afforded by Policy H1 (Delivering New Homes) and Policy H13 (Specialist
Housing for Older People) which will meet an identified need for specialist housing for
older people. The site has good access to public transport and local facilities. In
addition, support is afforded to the proposed development in Chinnor NDP Policy CH

Page 100

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 February 2022

H5 (Retirement Housing). These policies do not identify specific locations for the
specialist housing beyond encouraging provision on strategic sites and as such support
development on sites which are not yet allocated.
8.2

However, Chinnor NDP Policy CH H7 (Settlement Boundary) seeks to resist proposals
outside the boundary as unsustainable and more likely to have an impact on the
countryside. Significantly, the examiner of the CRNP noted in his report, in paragraph
4.17: “The purpose of the policy [CH H7] is to support appropriate development that is
proposed within the boundary, whilst land outside the boundary will be considered to be
countryside where planning policies for the countryside, contained in both national
policy guidance and the adopted Local Plan, will apply.”. This flexibility in the policy
allows for appropriate forms of development to be supported where they are in
accordance with other development plan policies, namely Policy H1 specifically in this
case.

8.3

Other material planning documents, including the NPPF, refer to avoiding isolated
dwellings in the countryside which the proposed new buildings will not be. They would
be well related to the existing settlement, will provide for an identified significant need in
a location with good access to public transport and local facilities. As such, the principle
of housing for older people in this location is considered to be in accordance with the
development plan when read as a whole, including Policy H13 (Housing For Older
People), Policy CH H5 (Retirement Housing) and Policy CH H7 (Settlement Boundary).

8.4

Regardless of the changes required to the overall layout, the proposal would result in a
degree of harm to the conservation area and listed buildings, which is ‘less than
substantial’ at the low-mid range of this scale of harm, in accordance with NPPF
paragraph 202. However, there are clear public benefits to the proposal which would
outweigh the level of harm identified, including the urgent need to provide additional
housing in the district in more sustainable locations, an identified need for housing for
older people (having regard to a recent appeal decision at Little Sparrows dated 25
June 2021 APP/Q3115/W/20/3265861) and the opportunity to further support the role
of Chinnor as a sustainable settlement. There would also be economic benefits during
construction. Moreover, great weight has been afforded to the conservation of nearby
heritage assets. As such, the proposal is in accordance with Policy ENV6 (Historic
Environment), Policy ENV7 (Listed Buildings), Policy ENV8 (Conservation Areas), and
the NPPF.

8.5

Having regard to other material planning considerations, the proposal is in accordance
with a range of other policies of the development plan including Policy H11 (Space
Standards) The proposal provides a sufficient distance between buildings and impacts
on residential amenity, including existing neighbouring properties, are avoided. The
proposal is in accordance with Policy DES6 (Residential Amenity). Subject to conditions
to secure a suitable energy statement and a fabric first approach to the design, the
proposal would be in accordance with Policy DES8 (Promoting Sustainable Design),
Policy DES9 (Renewable and Low Carbon Energy) and Policy DES10 (Carbon
Reduction).

8.6

Subject to planning conditions for mitigation tree planting, a construction environment
management plan and a biodiversity enhancement plan, the proposal is in accordance
with Policy (ENV1 Landscape and Countryside) in respect of biodiversity and trees, and
Policies ENV2 and ENV3 (Biodiversity). Subject to a ‘Grampian’ condition to secure foul
water upgrades in agreement with Thames Water, and for a sustainable drainage
scheme, the proposal is in accordance with Policy EP4 (Flood Risk). Subject to
planning conditions for an Archaeological Written Scheme of Investigation and a

Page 101

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 February 2022

programme of archaeological investigation, the proposal would be in accordance with
Policy ENV6 (Historic Environment), Policy ENV9 (Archaeology) and the NPPF.
8.7
However, the proposed layout does not fully meet the requirements of the development
plan and is not in accordance with Policy DES1 (High Quality Design) and the applicant
has not demonstrated the proposal provides sufficient usable public open space in
accordance with Policy CF5 (Open Space, Sport and Recreation in New Residential
Development) and Policy EP3 (Waste Collection and Recycling). The changes required
have been considered in some further detail in the report above. Whilst the
development of the site could be found to be in accordance with the existing character
of the area, the remaining issues with the proposed layout mean the proposal is not in
accordance with Policy DES2 (Enhancing Local Character). The proposal is not in
accordance with Policy ENV1 (Landscape and Countryside).
8.8
It is necessary for the proposal to provide contributions towards transport infrastructure,
to provide a suitable footway. In the absence additional information and a suitable
Section 106 legal agreement to secure contributions, the proposal is contrary to Policy
TRANS5 (Transport). The proposal is required to deliver a suitable affordable housing
mix and ensure the development remains restricted to elderly persons accommodation.
In the absence of a suitable S106 agreement, the proposal is contrary to Policy H9
(Affordable Housing), Policy CH H2 (Affordable Housing), Policy CH H4 (Allocation of
Affordable Housing for Local People) and Policy INF1 (Infrastructure).
9.0
9.1

RECOMMENDATION
That, had the council been able to determine the application, it would have
refused for the following reasons:
Reasons
1. The proposal fails to demonstrate a design and layout of high quality that
incorporates tree planting, landscaping and drainage features and that the
development can provide adequate areas of usable open space for residents.
The proposed development will be detrimental to the landscape of the area and
would result in unsatisfactory amenity space for residents. As such, the proposal
is contrary to Policy ENV1 (Landscape and Countryside), Policy DES1 (High
Quality Development Proposals), Policy DES2 (Enhancing Local Character),
Policy DES4 (Masterplans), Policy DES5 (Outdoor Amenity Space), Policy EP3
(Waste Collection and Recycling) and Policy CF5 (Open Space, Sport and
Recreation in New Residential Development and the National Planning Policy
Framework.
2. The proposal fails to provide safe and secure access arrangements for all
vehicles and pedestrians. As such, the proposed development would be
detrimental to highway safety and contrary to Policy TRANS5 (Consideration of
Development Proposals), Policy EP3 (Waste Collection and Recycling) and the
National Planning Policy Framework.
3. The development fails to secure the provision of affordable housing to meet the
identified needs of the district. The proposal has not included sufficient evidence
to demonstrate it would secure the delivery of 40% affordable housing of a
suitable mix, type or tenure as required by the Development Plan. As, such the
proposed development is contrary to Policy H9 (Affordable Housing), Policy
DES1 (High Quality Design), Policy CH H2 (Affordable Housing), Policy CH H4
(Allocation of Affordable Housing for Local People) and the National Planning
Policy Framework.

Page 102

South Oxfordshire District Council – Planning Committee – 22 February 2022

4. In the absence of a completed Section 106 Legal Agreement, the proposal fails
to secure the necessary affordable housing to meet the needs of the district and
local area. As such, the proposal is contrary to Policy H9 (Affordable Housing),
Policy CH H2 (Affordable Housing), Policy CH H4 (Allocation of Affordable
Housing for Local People) and the National Planning Policy Framework.
5. In the absence of a completed Section 106 Legal Agreement, the proposal fails
to secure the infrastructure necessary to meet the needs of the development. As
such, the proposed development is contrary to the Development Plan, including
Policy TRANS5 (Consideration of Development Proposals) and Policy INF1
(Infrastructure Provision), Policy INF4 (Water Resources), Policy TRANS2
(Promoting Sustainable Transport and Accessibility), Policy EP3 (Waste
Collection and Recycling) and the National Planning Policy Framework.

Author:
William Sparling
Email:
Planning@southoxon.gov.uk
Contact No: 01235 422600

Page 103

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 11
NOTES:
DIMENSIONS ARE NOT TO BE SCALED FROM THIS DRAWING
ALL DIMENSIONS ARE TO BE CHECKED AGAINST ACTUAL SITE
DIMENSIONS BEFORE ANY WORK IS FABRICATED

COPYRIGHT RESERVED
THIS DRAWING IS THE PROPERTY OF BHP HARWOOD
ARCHITECTS AND MAY NOT BE COPIED, REPRODUCED LENT OR
DISCLOSED WITHOUT THEIR EXPRESS PERMISSION IN WRITING.

REVISIONS
Rev.

Date

Description

13

2

116.4m
63

1a

1

TCB

67

71

B

92

Lower Farm

09
40

1

4

New
Cottages
10

4

ge
ta
ge
C
ta
rm
ot
a
C
F
th
or
w
eb
ot

b

to

Oc

e

83

P

g
ta

t
Co
er

e

118.6m
ge

Client :

ot
W

ner

ell
C

Beechcroft

Cor

SE

Developments Ltd

FA
R

M

tage

Cot

3

CL
O

ge

Th

ta

The Poplars

ta

ot
C

Land at Crowell Road

MI

1

DD

LE

Job :

Chinnor
Bra
mb
le
AD
RO

ge

EL
L

ge

tta

Co

OW

d

CR

Drawing Title:

oo

Plu
Co m
tta
ge

yw
ne

tta

Ho

Co

Site Location Plan
Chinnor

B

40

09

1

Scale:

NORTH

1:1250 @A3
Date:

Drawn By Checked

Dec 2020

RN

Drawing No:

Revision:

3636.P.100

A

Ordnance Survey (c) Crown Copyright 2020. All rights reserved. Licence number 100022432
0m

50m

100m

PLANNING
Appendix 1

The White Barn, Manor Farm, Manor Road
Wantage, Oxfordshire, OX12 8NE

T: 01235 765322

F: 01235 765373

The Mansion House, Hartham Park, Corsham,
Wiltshire, SN13 0RP

T: 01249 700489

F: 01249 470077

info@bhpharwood.co.uk - www.bhpharwood.co.uk

Page 105

A R C H I T E

C T S

Appendix 2

Page 106

NOTES:
DIMENSIONS ARE NOT TO BE SCALED FROM THIS DRAWING
ALL DIMENSIONS ARE TO BE CHECKED AGAINST ACTUAL SITE
DIMENSIONS BEFORE ANY WORK IS FABRICATED

COPYRIGHT RESERVED
THIS DRAWING IS THE PROPERTY OF BHP HARWOOD
ARCHITECTS AND MAY NOT BE COPIED, REPRODUCED LENT OR
DISCLOSED WITHOUT THEIR EXPRESS PERMISSION IN WRITING.

REVISIONS

2

13

GY

ST

GY
LET
BOL

ST
ST

BOL

BOL

Rev.
A
B
C

Date
26.01.21
28.01.21
28.01.21

D
E
F
G
H
J
K
L
M
N
O
P

29.01.21
02.02.21
29.04.21
10.06.21
11.06.21
14.06.21
15.06.21
16.06.21
16.06.21
24.06.21
22.10.21
27.10.21

Description
Site Boundary updated
Layout updated
Potential PROW zone
added
Updated
Updated
Updated
Updated
Updated
Updated
Updated
Updated
Updated
Updated
Updated
Updated

BOL

MH
NP
LIT

ST

LP

116.4m

ST

FH

SP

SP

BT

EP
GY

ST
MH

MH

ST

63

ST

TCB

LP
LP

BT
NP

SV

1

LIT

ST

TP

LIT

ST
ST

Box
MK
MK
MK

LP

1a

MK
MK
BT

Box

SP

SP

EP
ST

LIT

LP

67

MH

GY

GY

Lower Farm

ST

MH

LP

New
Cottages

0

71

09
40

1

Open Space
0
18

ST

B

92

ST

ST

ST

4

31-33

Existing Boundary planting
to be retained and
strengthened as required

7 no. cycle
parking
spaces

LP

e

g
a
t
t

58
(DIS)

F

56

0

0
25
00

00
25

27

00
27

UA
62

0

UA

00
27

29-30

UA

0

0
25

0
00
27

52

27

00

00

UA

00

UA27

70

52
00

00

er

69

49

270

TP

2500

0

BT

3900

t

ot

GY

1800

UA

UA

2700

he

118.6m

ST

e
g
a

MH

SP

2500

2500

42

51

BT

SP

5000

270
0

50

LP
NP

b
to
c
O

00
18

Bins
UA
2700

ST
ST

83

60

18 no. cycle
parking
spaces

t
Co

Bins

46

54

Post

ta

66

68

48

ge

UA

0
25

00
27

27

43

00

0

UA

00

27

44

38-41

67

00
53
60

47

64

65

0
00
546

26-28

27

UA270

46

LP

UA

63

Affordable
Homes

45

MH

UA

0
25

23-25

61

GY

P

0

Residents Louge,
Guest Suite and EMO

60
0
25

5000

ST

o

UA

59

C

w
b
e

UA

34-37

t

ot

rth

10m Landscape Buffer

LP

4
10

55

C

m
ar

00

41

57

TP

e
g
a

o

Bins

BT

C

T

41

39

38
(DIS)

Substation

ge

40

SP

0

36
0

71

UA

UA

UA

40
98

13

20

25

U
27A
00
27

00

25
00

UA

21

27
00

25
00

9

UA

8

11-12

25
00

4

UA

UA

27
00

UA

2
1

UA

6

ST

20
00

27
00

0

30

04

ge

18

00

Plu
Co m
tta
ge

ST

LP

Job :

Land at Crowell Road

tta

CR

1-8

Developments Ltd

Co

OW
EL
LR

PR
F

(1

.2

m

10m Landscape Buffer

Co

od
wo

)

55

00

00

Beechcroft

y
ne

30

mb
le

tta

LP

30
0

00

2006)

50

Car (

Client :
ST

Ho

Large

Bra

25
00

3

7

LP

0
Existing hedge boundary
planting to Cromwell18Road
00
be retained where possible

25
00

5

tta

EP

30
20
0

22
23

38

03

9-10

21

Co
ell

00

UA

30
20

46-54

OA

UA

00

25
00

27

0

10

00

25

STAY

2700

27

11

19

00

Affordable
Homes

2500

27

12

Bins

ST ST
BT

2500

18
(DIS)

00

29

00

0
UA270

Bins

17

0

EP

15

16

0

00

24

UA

0
39

00

13 no. cycle
parking
spaces

14

85

25

1

0

27

25

UA

00

27

UA

00

84

00

2700

0
UA25

83
25

LP

AR
M

UA

25

27

00

BCP

10m Landscape Buffer

D

UA

00

2

00

82

27

00
UA27

0

0
25

0
50

27

0
UA250

00

25

29

76

00

00

28

IC

81

25

27

0
UA25

77

0

27

UA
25
0

UA250

.643

30

Ref 11

31

13-15

BCP

00

32

26

75

UA

0
UA250

33

27

79
78

74

UA

0

Bins

Existing Boundary planting
to be retained and
strengthened as required

18

73

3

UA250

Open Space

TP

UA

0

00

EP

ge

Ref 11

.643

NORTH

tage

UA270

80
(DIS)
72

UA

0
50

34

UA

35

ST

Cot

42-45
Affordable
Homes

270

37

GY

E

0

OS

250

CL

0

EF

250

0

MH

ner

270

FH

LP

W

16-19

ST

MK

MI
DD
L

20-22

SP

Existing Boundary planting
to be retained and
strengthened as required

Cor

10m Landscape Buffer

09

The Poplars

52

Chinnor

1

30
0

0

30
Existing hedge boundary
00
30
planting to Cromwell Road
50
be retained where possible

09

8 no. cycle
parking
spaces
EP

EP

Site Plan

STAY

40

7305.4688

Drawing Title:

B

EP

0m

10

20

30

40

50m

TP

ST
SV
ST
ST

Scale:

1:500

@ A1

MH

BT

Appendix 3

AV

Date:

Drawn By

Jan 21

RN/SR RN

Checked

IC

MK

Drawing No:

Revision:

3636.P.101

P

SP
SP

SP

Ordnance Survey (c) Crown Copyright 2020. All rights reserved. Licence number 100022432

PLANNING
The White Barn, Manor Farm, Manor Road
Wantage, Oxfordshire, OX12 8NE

T: 01235 765322

F: 01235 765373

The Mansion House, Hartham Park, Corsham,
Wiltshire, SN13 0RP

T: 01249 700489

F: 01249 470077

info@bhpharwood.co.uk - www.bhpharwood.co.uk

A R C H I T E C T S
Page 107

Appendix 4
Page 108

TCB

Landscape Principles

1

KEY:

The creation of an orchard area provides the opportunity for residents to be connected to nature and
experience the health and well being benefits of this within the areas of open space. The orchard fruit
tree species shall include species of local provenance. Beneath the trees, the flowering lawn provides
visual interest as well as habitat value.

Areas of Open Space

3
31-33

7 no. cycle
parking
spaces

4

56
55

UA
UA
UA
UA
UA

29-30

UA

54

UA

UA

26-28

UA

Affordable
Homes
46

38-41

67
68

UA

47

Bins

53

5

UA

69

UA

70

52

50

18 no. cycle
parking
spaces

UA

UA

39

38
(DIS)

Substation

Proposed Native Tree/Shrub Buffer Planting

Proposed Native Tree Planting

Proposed Feature and Large Tree Planting
Willow tree to be removed as per the
arboricultural recommendation

Proposed Orchard Tree Planting

Proposed Small Growing Tree Planting in Line
With Guide to Tree Planting Near Southern
Water Mains and Sewers
Proposed Specimen Shrub

1

Lighting - low level lighting ie. bollards to be included adjacent to parking and footpaths where necesary
for user safety - lighting to be confirmed at the detailed design stage by lighting engineer.

16-19

20-22

Hedgerow to be removed

The north western boundary is constrained by the Southern Water Easement, however the existing
boundary vegetation is supplementary where necessary to provide a verdant edge to the scheme. Along
the path species rich widlfower grassland provides visual interest, texture and habitat value. Planting
within the easement shall be detailed in accordance with the Southern Water Mains and Sewers
guidance.

51

UA

40

Trees to be removed in line with arboricultural /
highways officer recommendations

The drainage features within the scheme provide further habitat and visual amenity within the
multi-functional green spaces. The use of species rich grassland within the features along with the tree
planting and shrub & herbaceous mix within the basins provides further visual interest for users. The
basins size, shape and depth (approx 0.8-1m) allows the features to be integrated into the open spaces
with their gradients (approx 1:3) enabling maintenace. The headwalls and inlets shall be sympathetically
designed to enhance these elements within the scheme, and shall be detailed at the detailed design
stage.

57

23-25

Existing Trees and Hedgerows
- to be retained

The western edge of the scheme similarly provides a verdant edge along the site's boundary, and
includes planting similar to the eastern edge of the scheme. A footpath provides an informal route
around the open space for users to take a walk.

58
(DIS)

34-37

Site Boundary

The landscape buffer (10m wide) along the eastern edge of the scheme provides layers of planting,
including large tree and feature trees to provide visual interest as well as screening. A layer of smaller
trees within the buffer of native shrub planting also provides screening along with the retained existing
vegetation along the site's boundary.

2

Bins

KEY:

TCB

Open Space Plan (Scale at 1:1000)

16-19
42-45
Affordable
Homes

37
36
35
34

31-33

UA

80
(DIS)
UA

UA
UA

UA

UA

UA

UA

UA

BCP

UA

UA

UA

UA

BCP

UA

13-15

UA

UA
UA
UA

29

Bins

UA

UA

26

18
(DIS)

Proposed Native Hedgerow in Line With
Guide to Tree Planting Near Southern Water
Mains and Sewers

58
(DIS)
57

Proposed Semi-Native / Ornamental Hedgerow

56

13

UA

Proposed Ground Cover Planting in Line With
Guide to Tree Planting Near Southern Water
Mains and Sewers

7 no. cycle
parking
spaces

Hedgerow to be maintained at
approx 2-2.5m high
Hedge to be planted in
accordance with 'Guide to Tree
Planting Near Southern Water
Mains and Sewers' by Southern
Water

UA

UA

UA

Open Space
Bins

Proposed Shrub Planting in Line With Guide to
Tree Planting Near Southern Water Mains and
Sewers

12

Bins

25

55

46-54

1
1

19

LP

10

UA
UA

9-10

20

34-37

UA
UA

9

11-12

5

UA

8

6

UA

UA

UA

7

Proposed Native / Semi-Native Shrub
Planting

UA

23

UA

UA

UA

23-25

Proposed Ornamental Shrub / Herbaceous
Planting

PR
F(1

.2m

)

UA

29-30

UA

26-28

54

UA

UA

46

38-41

67

UA

Bins

68

47

Proposed Planting within Drainage Features
- Shrub and herbaceous planting to suit ground
conditions and location around the top and sides
of the basins

UA

Affordable
Homes

1-8

53

Proposed Amenity Grass

UA

69

UA

8 no. cycle
parking
spaces

70

52

Proposed Wildflower Meadow

Bins
50

18 no. cycle
parking
spaces

51

UA

Proposed Flowering Lawn

UA
UA

0

40

50m

39

38
(DIS)

Proposed Drainage Basins - to be sown with
species rich grassland suitable for seasonally
wet conditions

Substation

Proposed Hoggin Footpath

INDICATIVE PLANTING SCHEDULES

16-19

20-22

Proposed Footpaths Around Built Form &
Parking Areas

FEATURE TREE PLANTING
Species

Form

Girth

Height cm

Clear Stem

Root
Condition

Acer freemanii ‘Autumn Blaze’

EHS

16-18

Min. 450cm

Min. 200

RB

Acer platanoides ‘Deborah’

EHS

16-18

Min. 450cm

Min. 200

RB

Corylus colurna

EHS

16-18

Min. 450cm

Min. 200

RB

Prunus ‘Pandora’

EHS

16-18

Min. 450cm

Min. 200

RB

Prunus avium ‘Pleana’

EHS

16-18

Min. 450cm

Min. 200

RB

Tilia cordata ‘Winter Orange’

EHS

16-18

Min. 450cm

Min. 200

RB

UA

16-19
42-45
Affordable
Homes

37
36
35
34
UA

80
(DIS)

UA

UA

UA
UA

UA

BCP

Drainage

UA

UA

UA

Bins

UA

UA

Open Space

Southern Water Easement

UA

UA

4

2

UA

PRPOSED NATIVE TREE PLANTNG WITHIN BUFFER AREAS

900-950 cm

600-650 cm

900-950 cm

Acer campestre
Acer platanoides

HS

12-14

250-300 cm

RB

EHS

14-16

350-450 cm

Betula pendula

EHS

14-16

350-450 cm

EHS

14-16

350-450 cm

RB

Slow

420-570 cm

620-720 cm

550-650 cm

900-950 cm

Fagus sylvatica

EHS

14-16

350-450 cm

RB

Medium

Malus sylvestris

HS

12-14

250-300 cm

RB

Slow

370-450 cm

520-570 cm

Prunus avium
Sorbus aucuparia

HS

12-14

250-300 cm

RB

Medium

450-500 cm

700-750 cm

HS

12-14

250-300 cm

RB

Slow

370-450 cm

520-570 cm

Tilia cordata

EHS

14-16

350-450 cm

RB

Medium

550-650 cm

900-950 cm

RB

Slow

420-570 cm

620-720 cm

EHS

14-16

350-450 cm

Species

Height

Form

Root Condition

Growth rate

Corylus avellana
Cornus sanguinea
Crataegus monogyna
Ilex aquifolium
Ligustrum vulgare
Rosa canina
Prunus spinosa
Sambucus nigra

60-80cm
60-80cm
60-80cm
60-80cm
60-80cm
60-80cm
60-80cm
60-80cm

Branched
Branched
Branched
Branched
Branched
Branched
Branched
Branched

B
B
B
3L
B
B
B
B

Medium
Medium
Medium
Slow
Medium
Medium
Medium
Fast

Approximately
height after 5
years
260-280cm
200-250cm
260-280cm
180-200cm
260-280cm
260-280cm
260-280cm
300-330cm

Approximately
height after 10
years
500-550cm
200-250cm
500-550cm
330-350cm
350-400cm
350-400cm
350-400cm
600-650cm

Form

Girth

Height

Root Condition

Apple ‘Oxford Beauty’

HS

12-14

300-450

RB

Apple ‘Eden’

HS

12-14

300-450

RB

Apple ‘Green Pippin’

HS

12-14

300-450

RB

Cherry ‘Amber’

HS

12-14

300-450

RB

Cherry ‘Morello’

HS

12-14

300-450

RB

Pear ‘Belmont’

HS

12-14

300-450

RB

Pear Princess

HS

12-14

300-450

RB

UA

Form

60-80cm
60-80cm
60-80cm
60-80cm

PRPOSED ORNAMENTAL SHRUB/HERBACEUS PLANTING

Root Condition

Branched
Branched
Branched
Branched

B
B
B
B

PROPOSED NATIVE HEDGE PLANTING ALONG NORTH SITE BONDARY
(To be planted at 7 per linear metre at 0.3 cm offsets in triple staggered rows)
Species

Mix %

Crataegus monogyna
Corylus avellana
Ilex aquifolium
Ligustrum vulgare
Prunus spinosa

Height cm

20
20
10
20
30

60-80
60-80
60-80
60-80
60-80

Root
Condition
B
B
3L
B
B

Species

Form

Girth

Height cm

Root Condition

Growing rate

Amelanchier lamarckii

EHS

14-16

350-450

RB

Medium

Malus ‘Evereste’
Malus ‘Rudolf’

EHS

14-16

350-450

RB

Medium

550-650 cm

900-950 cm

EHS

14-16

350-450

RB

Medium

550-650 cm

900-950 cm

Species in accordance with guidelines to Tree Planting near Southern Water Mains and Sewers

LP

9-10

20

UA

UA

23

Height

46-54

1
1
10

UA

Habit
Feathered
Feathered
Branched
Feathered
Feathered

Species

Height

Form

Root Condition

Fagus sylvatica

80-100cm

Branched

B

Species

Height

Form

Root Condition

Escallonia ‘Apple Blossom
Griselinia littoralis
Ligustrum ovalifolium

60-80cm
60-80cm
60-80cm

Branched
Branched
Branched

10L
10L
10L

PRPOSED FEATURE SHRUB PLANTING
Approximately
height after 10
years
900-950 cm

12

Bins

19

To be planted at 3 per linear metre

Approximately
height after 5
years
550-650 cm

18
(DIS)

25

PRPOSED ORNAMENTAL HEDGE PLANTING

SMALL TREE PLANTING CLOSE TO THE EASEMENT

13

UA

PROPOSED NATIVE SHRUB PLANTINGWITHIN EASMENT AREA
(To be planted at 2/m2)

Species

Height

Form

Root Condition

Amelanchier lamarckii
Chaenomeles japonica
Corylus maxima ‘Purpurea’
Euonymus alatus
Hamamelis intermedia ‘Pallida’

150-175cm
80-100cm
100-125cm
80-100cm
100-125cm

Multi-Stem
Branched
Branched
Branched
Branched

15L
10L
15L
25L
15L

Page 109

Copyright Pegasus Planning Group Ltd. © Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 0100031673. Emapsite Licence number 0100031673. Promap License number 100020449.
Pegasus accepts no liability for any use of this document other than for its original purpose, or by the original client, or following Pegasus' express agreement to such use. T 01285641717 www.pegasusgroup.co.uk

Species
Abelia grandiflora
Anemone hybrida 'September Charm'
Brachyglottis 'Sunshine'
Bergenia cordifolia
Ceanothus ‘Blue Mound’
Ceanothus thyrsiflorus repens
Cistus x corbariensis
Choisya ternata
Cornus sanguinea 'Midwinter Fire'
Cornus stolonifera 'Flaviramea'
Euonymus japonicus 'Jean Hugues'
Hebe 'Great Orme'
Hebe x franciscana 'Blue Gem'
Hebe 'Marjorie'
Hebe rakaiensis
Hebe 'Red Edge'
Hypericum 'Hidcote'
Geranium macrorrhizum
Liriope muscari
Lavandula angustifolia 'Hidcote'
Lonicera pileata 'Moss Green'
Luzula nivea
Luzula sylvatica
Pachysandra ‘Green carpet’
Perovskia ‘Blue spire’
Prunus x cistena
Prunus laurocerasus ‘Otto Lucan’
Philadelphus 'Manteau d'Hermine'
Pittosporum tenuifolium ‘Golden ball’
Pittosporum golf ball
Potentilla fruticosa 'Pink Beauty'
Rosa ‘The Mayflower’
Rosa 'The Fairy'
Rosa 'Suffolk'
Ribes sanguineum 'Pulborough Scarlet'
Rosmarinus officinalis
Rudbeckia ‘Goldsturm’
Sedum spectabile brilliant
Salvia nemorosa ‘Amethyst’
Salvia icterina
Symphoricarpos x chenaultii 'Hancock'
Skimmia ‘Kew green’
Stephanandra incisa 'Crispa'
Verbena bonariensis

Height
40-60cm
40-60cm
40-60cm
30-40cm
30-40cm
40-60cm
40-60cm
40-60cm
30-40cm
40-60cm
30-40cm
30-40cm
40-60cm
30-40cm
40-60cm
30-40cm
30-40cm
40-60cm
40-60cm
40-60cm
30-40cm
40-60cm
40-60cm
30-40cm
40-60cm
40-60cm
40-60cm
40-60cm
40-60cm
30-40cm
30-40cm
30-40cm
30-40cm
-

Form
Bushy
Bushy
Bushy
Bushy
Bushy
Bushy
Bushy
Bushy
Bushy
Bushy
Bushy
Bushy
Bushy
Bushy
Bushy
Bushy
Bushy
Bushy
Bushy
Bushy
Bushy
Bushy
Bushy
Bushy
Bushy
Bushy
Bushy
Bushy
Bushy
Bushy
Bushy
Bushy
Bushy
-

Visibility Splay

Bins

UA

26

(To be planted at 5 per linear metre at 0.3 cm offsets in double staggered rows)

Species

UA
UA

PRPOSED HEDGE ALONG PUBLIC OPEN SPACE BOUNDARY

PROPOSED ORCHARD TREE PLANTING

UA

29

Cornus alba
Corylus avellana
Rosa canina
Viburnum opulus

PROPOSED NATIVE SHRUB PLANTING WITHIN BUFFER AREAS
To be planted 1/m2

UA
UA

Species

Growing rate according to Tree Guide – Arbor Day Foundation:
Slow 20-30cm per year, Medium 40-60cm per year, Fast over 60cm per year

Growing rate according to Tree Guide – Arbor Day Foundation:
Slow 20-30cm per year, Medium 40-60cm per year, Fast over 60cm per year

13-15

Root
Condition
5L
3L
5L
3L
5L
5L
5L
5L
5L
5L
5L
5L
5L
5L
5L
5L
5L
3L
3L
5L
5L
3L
3L
3L
5L
5L
5L
5L
5L
5L
5L
5L
5L
5L
5L
5L
3L
3L
3L
5L
5L
5L
5L
3L

UA

9

UA

8

11-12

UA

7
6

UA

Supplementary hedgerow planting to mitigate
vegetation removed due to visibility splay, to
be confirmed at the detail design stage.
Replacement planting to include the native
trees within hedgerow where appropriate

)

550-650 cm

Fast

Growth rate

m

Medium

RB

Root Condition

.2

RB

Height cm

(1

Approximately
height after 10
years
700-750 cm

Girth

Quercus robur

10m Landscape Buffer

BCP

UA

PR
F

Medium

Approximately
height after 5
years
450-500 cm

Form

Carpinus betulus

UA

UA

Species

Unallocated Parking Space
Pre Grown grass reinforcement system
Golpla

1-8

Approximate extent of hedgerow to be
removed to facilitate access

3
Trees to be removed as recommended by
Highways Officer

8 no. cycle
parking
spaces

Revisions:
First Issue- 01/02/2021 ARW
A- (02/02/2021 ARW) Landscape amended to suit revised layout
B- (04/02/2021 ARW) Amended to Ecological comments
C-(28/04/2021 ARW) Landscape amended to suit LPA comments
D-(05/05/2021 ARW) Landscape amended to suit revised layout
E-(22/06/2021 ARW) Landscape amended to suit revised layout and
LPA comments
F-(24/06/2021 ARW) Landscape amended to suit revised carpark
layout
G-(28/06/2021 ARW) Minor amendments to the key
H-(27/10/2021 RVF) Updated to LPA comments (schedules
expanded) landscape proposals & graphics updated
J-(08/12/2021 ARW) Amended to revised layout and LPA comments

Supplementary hedgerow planting to mitigate
vegetation removed due to visibility splay, to
be confirmed at the detail design stage.
Replacement planting to include the native
trees within hedgerow where appropriate

Appendix 5

Landscape Masterplan
Crowell Road, Chinnor
Client: Beechcroft Developments Ltd.

0

25m

DRWG No: P21-0246_01

Sheet No:-

Drawn by : ARW / RVF

Approved by: RVF

Date: 08/12/2021
Scale:

1:500@A1

REV: J

This page is intentionally left blank

